Public Document Pack

EXECUTIVE CABINET
Day:
Date:
Time:

Wednesday
25 September 2019
2.00 pm or on the rise of the Strategic Commissioning
Board, whichever is the later.
Committee Room 2, Level 2, Tameside One, Market
Square, Ashton-Under-Lyne, OL6 6BH

Place:
Item
No.
1.

AGENDA

Page
No

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive any apologies from Members of Executive Cabinet.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of Executive Cabinet.

3.

ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to be
excluded from the meeting.

4.

MINUTES

a)

EXECUTIVE CABINET

1-4

To consider the minutes of the meeting of Executive Cabinet held on 28
August 2019.
b)

STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING BOARD

5-6

To receive the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Commissioning Board
held on 28 August 2019.
c)

STRATEGIC PLANNING AND CAPITAL MONITORING

7 - 10

To consider the minutes of the Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring
meeting held on 2 September 2019 and approve the following
recommendations arising from the meeting:
10

CAPITAL MONITORING PERIOD 3 2019/20
(i) That the approval of a further £1.5 million contribution
towards this project from the Greater Manchester Combined
Authority at its Capital Programme meeting on the 26 July
2019, be accepted.

14

EDUCATION CAPITAL PROGRAMME
(i) That Executive Cabinet be recommended to approve the

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting
officer or from Michael Garraway on 0161 342 3178 michael.garraway@tameside.gov.uk, to whom
any apologies for absence should be notified.

Item
No.

AGENDA

Page
No

proposed changes to the Education Capital Programme, as
outlined in Appendix 1 (Basic Need Funding Schemes) and
Appendix 2 (School Condition Allocation Funding Schemes)
16

OPERATIONS AND NEIGHBOURHOODS CAPITAL PROGRAMME
That Executive Cabinet be recommended to approve:
(i) The additional capital grant funding of £0.200m from the
DfT’s Safer Roads Fund is added to the Council’s Capital
Programme.
(ii) The additional funding for roads of £1.029m announced by
the Chancellor in October 2018 is £0.771 for potholes
(revenue) and the remainder of £0.258m for structures and
street lighting is added to the Council’s Capital Programme.
(iii) The 2020/2021 indicative LTP grant of £2.258m is approved
for addition to Council’s Capital Programme.

17

LEISURE ASSETS CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME
That Executive Cabinet be recommended to approve:
(i) That the name of the new Wellness Centre facility be
acknowledged formally as the Tameside Wellness Centre –
Denton;
(ii) That car parking at the Tameside Wellness Centre be
regulated as Pay and Display (Zone 1) in accordance with
council off street parking regulations.

5.

CORPORATE RESOURCES ITEMS

a)

MONTH 4 REVENUE MONITORING STATEMENT

11 - 20

To consider the attached report of the Executive Member for Finance and
Economic Growth/Chair of CCG/Director of Finance.
b)

MICROSOFT LICENSING

21 - 30

To consider the attached report of the Executive Member for Finance and
Economic Growth/Assistant Director of Digital Services.
c)

ACTIVE MEDLOCK PITCH SCHEME - FULL BUSINESS CASE

31 - 38

To consider the attached report of the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods,
Community Safety and Environment/Director of Population Health.
d)

HYDE POOL EXTENSION

39 - 44

To consider the attached report of the Executive Member for Finance and
Economic Growth/Executive Member for Neighbourhoods, Community Safety
and Environment/Director of Public Health.
e)

FLEET REPLACEMENT 2019

45 - 54

To consider the attached report of the Executive Member for Neighbourhoods,
Community Safety and Environment/Assistant Director, Operations and
Neighbourhoods.

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting
officer or from Michael Garraway on 0161 342 3178 michael.garraway@tameside.gov.uk, to whom
any apologies for absence should be notified.

Item
No.

AGENDA

6.

SERVICE OPERATIONAL ITEMS

a)

APPROVAL OF REVISED DEFERRED PAYMENT POLICY

Page
No

55 - 90

To consider the attached report of the Executive Member for Adult Social Care
and Population Health/Executive Member for Finance and Economic
Growth/Assistant Director of Adults Services.
b)

CO-OPERATIVE COUNCIL UPDATE

91 - 100

To consider the attached report of the Executive Leader/Director of
Governance and Resources.
c)

DISPOSAL OF HATTERSLEY PLOTS A&B

101 - 108

To consider the attached report of the Executive Member for Housing,
Planning and Employment/Director of Growth.
d)

BREXIT PREPARATIONS

109 - 112

To consider the attached report of the Executive Leader/Chief Executive.
e)

SALE OF FORMER HARTSHEAD HIGH SCHOOL SITE, LEES ROAD,
ASHTON-UNDER-LYNE

113 - 216

To consider the attached report of the Executive Member for Finance and
Economic Growth/Director of Growth.
Members are advised that the appendices to the report are not to be
considered in public pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of
Part 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public
interest would not be served in publishing the information.
7.

URGENT ITEMS
To consider any additional items the Chair is of the opinion shall be dealt with
as a matter of urgency.

From: Democratic Services Unit – any further information may be obtained from the reporting
officer or from Michael Garraway on 0161 342 3178 michael.garraway@tameside.gov.uk, to whom
any apologies for absence should be notified.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4a
EXECUTIVE CABINET
28 August 2019
Present:

Councillors Fairfoull (Vice-Chair, in the Chair), Bray, Cooney, Feeley,
Gwynne, Ryan and Wills

In Attendance:

Steven Pleasant
Sandra Stewart
Kathy Roe
Ian Saxon
Richard Hancock
Sarah Dobson

Apologies for Absence:
25

Chief Executive
Director of Governance and
Pensions
Director of Finance
Director
of
Operations
and
Neighbourhoods
Director of Children’s Services
Assistant
Director
Policy,
Performance and Communications

Councillors Warrington and Kitchen

WITHDRAWAL OF ITEM OF BUSINESS

In accordance with Council Procedural Standing Orders the Chair of the Committee advised that
agenda item 7a) Sale of Former Hartshead High School Site, Lees Road, Ashton under Lyne; would
be withdrawn from consideration at this meeting as the necessary independent valuation had not yet
been received from a third party.
26

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.
27

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Consideration was given to the Minutes of the Meeting of Executive Cabinet held on 24 July 2019
RESOLVED
That the Minutes of the Meeting of Executive Cabinet held on 24 July 2019 be approved and
signed by the Chair as a correct record.
28

STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING BOARD

Consideration was given to the Minutes of the Meeting of Strategic Commissioning Board held on
24 July 2019
RESOLVED
That the Minutes of the Meeting of Strategic Commissioning Board held on 24 July 2019 be
approved and signed by the Chair as a correct record.
29

GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Leader and Chief Executive, which informed
Members of the issues considered at recent Greater Manchester Combined Authority meetings.

Page 1

RESOLVED
That the content of the report be noted.
30

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE UPDATE

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Leader/ CCG Governing Body Chair / Director
of Governance and Pensions which provided an update on progress towards the implementation of
the Corporate Plan Performance Monitoring Framework across Tameside and Glossop Strategic
Commission.
Members were reminded that the Corporate Plan Performance Monitoring Framework had been
developed to measure the outcomes that the Corporate Plan aimed to deliver. It was explained that
targets for each of the 50 indicators had been included for 2020, along with a stretch target for 2025
and an aspirational target for 2030. These would be reviewed by the leads of each of the five
partnerships aligning to the Corporate Plan strands to agree if they were achievable. Each of the
eight priorities had a suite of indicators that would be used to measure the outcomes of the priority.
RESOLVED
(i) That the content of the report be noted.
(ii) That performance data is reported on a quarterly basis to Executive Cabinet and the
Strategic Commissioning Board.
31

MONTH 3 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance & Economic Growth /
CCG Governing Body Chair / Director of Finance providing an overview on the financial position of
the Tameside and Glossop economy in 2019/20. For the year to 31 May 2019 the report forecast
that service expenditure would exceed the approved budget in a number of areas, due to a
combination of cost pressures and non-delivery of savings.
It was explained that for the 2019/20 financial year the Integrated Commissioning Fund was forecast
to spend of £617,896k, against a net budget of £615,694k, a forecast overspend of £2,202k. The
forecast was an improved position from the previous month but masks significant and increased
pressures in a number of areas, including Children’s Services which was forecasting expenditure to
be £4.5m in excess of budget. It was stated that significant pressures were also emerging in
Growth and Operations and Neighbourhoods.
The improved position from month 2 was due mainly to a significant favourable movement in Capital
and Financing due to an increase in the Manchester Airport Dividend payment. In addition there had
been a significant favourable movement on the CCG Targeted Efficiency Programme (TEP).
Further detailed analysis of budget performance and progress against savings was included in
Appendix 2 of the submitted report.
The report also detailed the significant financial pressures facing the Council in respect of the
Education High Needs Funding Block. There was a projected deficit on the High Needs Funding of
£5.507m. If this deficit materialised, the Council would be expected to produce a three year deficit
recovery plan and submit this to the Department for Education.
The report also provided details of the proposed changes to the financing arrangements for the
Tameside Wellness centre, which resulted in changes to the Active Tameside Management Fee.
The Council’s irrecoverable debts over £3,000 that had been written off in the period April to June
2019 were also provided.

Page 2

RESOLVED:
(i)
That the significant level of savings required during 2019/20 to deliver a balanced
recurrent economy budget together with the related risks which are contributing to the
overall adverse forecast be acknowledged.
(ii) That the significant financial pressures facing the Strategic Commission, particularly in
respect of Children’s Social Care and Operations & Neighbourhoods, and Growth be
acknowledged.
(iii) That the significant financial pressures facing the Council in respect of the Education
High Needs Funding Block be acknowledged.
(iv) That the proposed changes to the financing arrangements for the Tameside Wellness
Centre, as set out in section 4 and the related change to the Active Tameside
Management Fee be approved.
(v) That the write off of irrecoverable debts as outlined in Appendix 3 of the submitted
report be approved.
32

CAPITAL MONITORING Q1 2019/20

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic
Growth/CCG Governing Body Chair/Director of Finance which summarised the capital expenditure
monitoring position at 30 June 2019, based on information provided by project managers. The
report showed projected capital investment in 2019/20 of £58,756 by March 2020. It was explained
that it had been necessary to re-profile some schemes within Engineers and Education capital
schemes resulting in the need to transfer £2.468m from 2019/20 into 2020/21.
RESOLVED
(i) That the reprofiling of £2.468m of capital budgets as summarised in Table 2 and set out
in Appendix 3 to reflect up to date investment profiles be approved.
(ii) That the changes to the Capital Programme as set out in Appendix 1 of the submitted
report, be approved.
(iii) That the updated Prudential Indicator position set out in Appendix 5 was approved by
Council in February 2019 be approved.
(iv) That £0.150m additional budget for the Tameside Wellness Scheme as set out in
paragraph 4.17 of the submitted report be approved.
(v) That the removal of £0.136m remaining budgets of capital schemes which have come to
an end as set out in paragraph 7.1 of the submitted report be approved.
(vi) That the current capital budget monitoring position be noted.
(vii) That the resources currently available to fund the Capital Programme be noted.
(viii) That the updated capital receipts position be noted.
(ix) That the timescales for review of the Council’s three year capital programme be noted.
33

COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2020 TO 2021

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic Growth /
Assistant Director of Exchequer Services, which explained the procedural requirement in deciding if
changes were required to the Council Tax Support Scheme. Members were informed that if any
changes were required then consultation must take place for the scheme to become effective from
April 2020. It was stated that the scheme cost and claimant numbers continued to decline and
support for claimants remained in place. There appeared to be no adverse quality impact
assessment arising from the quarterly reviews that took place and further guidance, which may have
a bearing on the scheme was not expected. Members were asked to consider the following:
The purpose of this report was therefore to consider the following:
a) That the current Council Tax Support Scheme remains in place in 2020/21 or;
b) That the current Council Tax Support Scheme is revised for 2020/21

Page 3

Where a Council Tax Support Scheme was to be revised then legislation was clear on the
requirements to consult the public and precepting bodies prior to any changes to the scheme. Full
consultation had taken place prior to previous revisions to the scheme.
In considering whether there should be revisions to the current scheme, the current operation and
costs of the scheme should be considered, in addition to any guidance released by central
government or by direction of the Valuation Tribunal Service which consider appeals for local
Council Tax Support Schemes.
RESOLVED
That a RECOMMENDATION is made to Council that the Council Tax Support scheme for
2020/21 in principle remains the same scheme as that set effective from April 2019, subject
to annual benefit uprating as detailed in the scheme and any further guidance which may be
issued by MCHLG.

CHAIR

Page 4

Agenda Item 4b
STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING BOARD
28 August 2019
Present:

Dr Ashwin Ramachandra (Chair) – NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
Councillor Bill Fairfoull – Tameside MBC
Councillor Warren Bray – Tameside MBC
Councillor Leanne Feeley – Tameside MBC
Councillor Gerald Cooney – Tameside MBC
Councillor Oliver Ryan – Tameside MBC
Councillor Wills – Tameside MBC
Councillor Gwynne – Tameside MBC
Dr Asad Ali – NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
Dr Jamie Douglas – NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
Dr Vinny Khunger – NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
Dr Christine Ahmed – NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG

In Attendance:

Steven Pleasant
Sandra Stewart
Kathy Roe
Richard Hancock
Ian Saxon
Sarah Dobson

Apologies
Absence:

22

Tameside MBC Chief Executive and Accountable
Officer for NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
Director of Governance and Pensions
Director of Finance
Director of Children’s Services
Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods
Assistant Director of Policy, Performance and
Communication

for Councillor Brenda Warrington – Tameside MBC
Stephanie Butterworth – Tameside MBC
Jessica Williams – Tameside MBC
Carol Prowse – NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.
23

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING

RESOLVED
That the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Commissioning Board held on 24 July 2019
be approved as a correct record.
24

MONTH 3 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance & Economic Growth /
Director of Finance providing an overview on the financial position of the Tameside and Glossop
economy in 2019/20. For the year to 31 May 2019 the report forecast that service expenditure
would exceed the approved budget in a number of areas, due to a combination of cost pressures
and non-delivery of savings.
It was explained that for the 2019/20 financial year the Integrated Commissioning Fund was forecast
to spend of £617,896k, against a net budget of £615,694k, a forecast overspend of £2,202k. The
forecast was an improved position from the previous month but masks significant and increased
pressures in a number of areas, including Children’s Services, which was forecasting expenditure to
be £4.5m in excess of budget. It was stated that significant pressures were also emerging in
Growth and Operations and Neighbourhoods.

Page 5

The improved position from month 2 was due mainly to a significant favourable movement in Capital
and Financing due to an increase in the Manchester Airport Dividend payment. In addition there had
been a significant favourable movement on the CCG Targeted Efficiency Programme (TEP).
Further detailed analysis of budget performance and progress against savings was included in
Appendix 2 of the submitted report.
The report also detailed the significant financial pressures facing the Council in respect of the
Education High Needs Funding Block. There was a projected deficit on the High Needs Funding of
£5.507m. If this deficit materialised, the Council would be expected to produce a three year deficit
recovery plan and submit this to the Department for Education.
The report also provided details of the proposed changes to the financing arrangements for the
Tameside Wellness centre, which resulted in changes to the Active Tameside Management Fee.
RESOLVED:
(i)
That the significant level of savings required during 2019/20 to deliver a balanced
recurrent economy budget; together with the related risks which are contributing to the
overall adverse forecast; be acknowledged.
(ii) That the significant financial pressures facing the Strategic Commission, particularly in
respect of Children’s Social Care and Operations & Neighbourhoods, and Growth be
acknowledged.
(iii) That the significant financial pressures facing the Council in respect of the Education
High Needs Funding Block be acknowledged.
(iv) That the Strategic Commissioning Board support the proposed changes to the
financing arrangements for the Tameside Wellness Centre, as set out in section 4 of the
submitted report and the related change to the Active Tameside Management Fee.
25

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE UPDATE

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Leader/ CCG Governing Body Chair/Director of
Governance and Pensions which provided an update on progress towards the implementation of the
Corporate Plan Performance Monitoring Framework across Tameside and Glossop Strategic
Commission.
Members were reminded that the Corporate Plan Performance Monitoring Framework had been
developed to measure the outcomes that the Corporate Plan aimed to deliver. It was explained that
targets for each of the 50 indicators had been included for 2020, along with a stretch target for 2025
and an aspirational target for 2030. These would be reviewed by the leads of each of the five
partnerships aligning to the Corporate Plan strands to agree if they were achievable. Each of the
eight priorities had a suite of indicators that would be used to measure the outcomes of the priority.
RESOLVED
(i) That the content of the report be noted.
(ii) That performance data is reported on a quarterly basis to Strategic Commissioning
Board.

CHAIR

Page 6

Agenda Item 4c
STRATEGIC PLANNING AND CAPITAL MONITORING PANEL
2 September 2019
Present:

Councillors Warrington (Chair), Fairfoull, Feeley, McNally, Newton, Reid, Ryan
and Dickinson

In Attendance:

Steven Pleasant
Kathy Roe
Ian Saxon
Emma Varnam
Tom Wilkinson
Tim Bowman

Apologies for Absence:
11

Chief Executive
Director of Finance
Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods
Assistant Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods
Assistant Director of Finance
Assistant Director of Education

Councillor Cooney

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.
12

MINUTES

RESOLVED
That the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring Panel held
on 2019 be approved as a correct record.
13

CAPITAL MONITORING Q3 2019/20

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic
Growth/CCG Governing Body Chair/Director of Finance which summarised the capital expenditure
monitoring position at 30 June 2019, based on information provided by project managers. The
report showed projected capital investment in 2019/20 of £58,756 by March 2020. It was explained
that it had been necessary to re-profile some schemes within Engineers and Education capital
schemes resulting in the need to transfer £2.468m from 2019/20 into 2020/21.
Members were informed that the report had been considered by Executive Cabinet at the meeting
held on 28 August 2019.
RESOLVED
(i)
That the reprofiling of £2.468m of capital budgets as summarised in Table 2 and set
out in Appendix 3 to reflect up to date investment profiles be noted.
(ii)
That the changes to the Capital Programme as set out in Appendix 1 of the submitted
report, be noted.
(iii)
That the updated Prudential Indicator position set out in Appendix 5 was approved by
Council in February 2019 be noted.
(iv)
That £0.150m additional budget for the Tameside Wellness Scheme as set out
inparagraph 4.17 of the submitted report be noted.
(v)
That the removal of £0.136m remaining budgets of capital schemes which have come
to an end as set out in paragraph 7.1 of the submitted report be noted.
(vi)
That the current capital budget monitoring position be noted.
(vii) That the resources currently available to fund the Capital Programme be noted.
(viii) That the updated capital receipts position be noted.
(ix)
That the approval of a further £1.5 million contribution towards this project from the
Greater Manchester Combined Authority at its Capital Programme meeting on the 26
July 2019, be accepted.

Page 7

(x)

That the timescales for review of the Council’s three year capital programme be
noted.

14

EDUCATION CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report of the Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Children’s
Services/ Executive Member of Lifelong Learning, Equalities, Cultural and Heritage/Assistant
Director of Children’s Services which sought approval of proposed changes to the Education
Capital Programme and provided an update on delivery of the programme.
The Council had £13,995,524 of Basic Need Grant available to spend in 2019/20. This was a
balance of unspent grant from previous years.
The Council didn’t receive any allocation in
2018/19. Notification had been received of an additional allocation of £4,842,699 for 2019/20 and
nil for 2020/21.
The report identified that grants has been earmarked for schemes totalling £9,073,000 which have
previously been reported to Strategic Planning and Capital Monitoring Panel and were included on
the Council’s capital programme. The report identified proposed changes of £1,705,000 bringing
the value of earmarked schemes to £10,778,000. The period 3 capital monitoring report included
re-profiling requests totalling £773,000. There was a balance of unallocated Basic Need funding of
£3,217,524 and plans were being developed with schools to utilise these funds to provide the
additional capacity requirement from September 2019 onwards.
RESOLVED
(i) That Executive Cabinet be recommended to approve the proposed changes to the
Education Capital Programme, as outlined in Appendix 1 (Basic Need Funding
Schemes) and Appendix 2 (School Condition Allocation Funding Schemes).
(ii) That the risks highlighted in Section 5 of the report are noted.
(iii) That approval is given to work identified in the report.
15

GROWTH CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Finance and Economic
Growth/Director of Growth providing an update on the 2019/2020 Growth Capital Programme.
Members were advised that plans for the development of Ashton Town Hall were progressing
although further market testing was required to consider alternative models which could deliver
revenue benefits or reduce the revenue costs to the Council.
In relation to Section 106 funds the existing position was £1,029,000 in credit as at 30 June 2019
comprising:
 Community Services: The balance of unallocated s106 funds stands at £156,000;
 Engineering Services: The balance of unallocated s106 funds stands at £161,000; and,
 Services for Children and Young people: The balance of unallocated s106 funds stands at
£698,000. Developer Contributions (secured prior to Community Infrastructure Levy
regulations) 2.13 The current position for Developer Contributions as at 30 June 2019 was
£89,000 in credit comprising:
 For Green Space Contributions the balance of available contributions was at £0.
 Community Education Contribution The balance of available contributions was at £73,000.
 Integrated Transport Contribution The balance of available contributions was at £17,000.
Members were advised that for the Disabilities Facilities Grant there was an existing budget of
£2.000m included in the 18/19 Capital Programme for adaptations. As of 29 July 2019 there
had been expenditure incurred of £0.632m with a further £0.427m committed purchases.

Page 8

RESOLVED
That the report be noted.
16

OPERATIONS AND NEIGHBOURHOODS CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Transport and
Connectivity/Assistant Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods providing an update on the
2019/20 Operations and Neighbourhoods Capital Programme and seeking approval of additional
funding to be included within the Capital Programme.
The Assistant Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods advised Members that the Department
for Transport Highways Maintenance Grant was allocated to each highways authority is based on
the length of the local road network. For Tameside MBC the allocation was £1.029m for use in
2019/20. The Department for Transport roads element, along with the 2019/20 Transport Asset
Management Plan allocation of £5.250m was being used to deliver the highway works programme
which was on target.
Confirmation had been received by the Department for Transport that the £0.200m joint bid with
Oldham MBC into the Safer Roads Fund for the A670 corridor, Mossley Road Ashton, had been
successful.
The Assistant Director of Operations and Neighbourhoods updated Members on the Greater
Manchester Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund Programme and on the progress of the
Council’s bid into the Department for Transport’s (DfT) Safer Roads Scheme and other successful
bids. Tameside has been successful in getting eleven schemes approved at the Programme Entry
of the Greater Manchester Mayor’s Fund. The combined value of the schemes approved at
Programme Entry is £12.5m with the scheme still awaiting approval valued at £2.2m.
RESOLVED
That Executive Cabinet be recommended to approve:
(i) The additional capital grant funding of £0.200m from the DfT’s Safer Roads Fund is
added to the Council’s Capital Programme.
(ii) The additional funding for roads of £1.029m announced by the Chancellor in October
2018 is £0.771 for potholes (revenue) and the remainder of £0.258m for structures and
street lighting is added to the Council’s Capital Programme.
(iii) The 2020/2021 indicative LTP grant of £2.258m is approved for addition to Council’s
Capital Programme.
17

LEISURE ASSETS CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Member for Adult Social Care and Population
Health / Director of Population Health summarising the delivery of the Council’s capital investment
programme to improve sports and leisure facilities; and seeking approval for the naming of the new
Wellness Centre in Denton along with approval that car parking at the Tameside Wellness Centre
be regulated as Pay and Display (Zone 1) in accordance with council off street parking regulations.
Members were advised that the Tameside Wellness Centre in Denton was progressing on time and
on budget with completion scheduled for early spring 2020.
RESOLVED
That Executive Cabinet be recommended to approve:
(i) That the name of the new Wellness Centre facility be acknowledged formally as the
Tameside Wellness Centre – Denton; and
(ii) That car parking at the Tameside Wellness Centre be regulated as Pay and Display
(Zone 1) in accordance with council off street parking regulations.

Page 9

Page 10

Agenda Item 5a
Report To:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

25 September 2019

Executive Member /
Reporting Officer:

Cllr Ryan – Executive Member (Finance and Economic Growth)
Ashwin Ramachandra– Lead Clinical GP
Kathy Roe – Director of Finance

Subject:

STRATEGIC COMMISSION AND NHS TAMESIDE AND
GLOSSOP INTEGRATED CARE FOUNDATION TRUST –
CONSOLIDATED
2019/20
REVENUE
MONITORING
STATEMENT AT 31 JULY 2019 AND FORECAST TO 31
MARCH 2020

Report Summary:

With a gross budget for 2019/20 in excess of £944m, as at month
4 the Integrated Commissioning Fund has a forecast net spend of
£618,503k, against a net budget of £616,583k. The net budget
has increased from period 3 due to some changes to Education
grant budgets, and additional CCG allocations for transformation
funding and GP forward view. The forecast overspend of £1,920k
is primarily driven by Children's Services, Growth, Operations and
Neighbourhoods and CCG TEP shortfall, offset by contingency
and capital financing which includes increased dividend income
from Manchester Airport.
Further detail on the economy wide
position is included at Appendix 1.
This forecast is a slightly improved position from the previous
month but masks continuing and emerging pressures in a number
of areas, including Children’s Services which is forecasting
expenditure to be £4.5M in excess of budget. Pressures are also
emerging in Acute spend, alongside the previously reported
pressures in Growth and Operations and Neighbourhoods.

Recommendations:

Links
to
Strategy:

Members are recommended to :
1.

Acknowledge the significant level of savings required during
2019/20 to deliver a balanced recurrent economy budget
together with the related risks which are contributing to the
overall adverse forecast.

2.

Acknowledge the significant financial pressures facing the
Strategic Commission, particularly in respect of Children’s
Social Care, Acute, Operations & Neighbourhoods, and
Growth.

Community Budget is allocated in accordance with the Community Strategy

Policy Implications:

Budget is allocated in accordance with Council Policy

Financial Implications:
(Authorised by the Section
151 Officer & Chief Finance
Officer)

This report provides the 2019/20 consolidated financial position
statement at 31 July 2019 for the Strategic Commission and ICFT
partner organisations. For the year to 31 March 2020 the report
forecasts that service expenditure will exceed the approved
budget in a number of areas, due to a combination of cost
pressures, shortfalls in income and non-delivery of savings.
These pressures are being partially offset by savings and

Page 11

additional income in Capital and Financing, Corporate and
Contingency budgets which may not be available in future years.
The report emphasises that there is a clear urgency to implement
associated strategies to ensure the projected funding gap in the
current financial year is addressed and closed on a recurrent
basis across the whole economy. The Medium Term Financial
Plan for the period 2019/20 to 2023/24 identifies significant
savings requirements for future years. If budget pressures in
service areas in 2019/20 are sustained, this will inevitably lead to
an increase in the level of savings required in future years to
balance the budget.
It should be noted that the Integrated Commissioning Fund (ICF)
for the Strategic Commission is bound by the terms within the
Section 75 and associated Financial Framework agreements.
Legal Implications:
(Authorised by the Borough
Solicitor)

There is a statutory requirement for the Council to deliver a
balanced budget whilst ensuring all services deliver value for
money. Given the implications for each of the constituent
organisations this report will be required to be presented to the
decision making body of each one to ensure good governance.

Risk Management:

Associated details are specified within the presentation.
Failure to properly manage and monitor the Strategic
Commission’s budgets will lead to service failure and a loss of
public confidence. Expenditure in excess of budgeted resources
is likely to result in a call on Council reserves, which will reduce
the resources available for future investment. The use and
reliance on one off measures to balance the budget is not
sustainable and makes it more difficult in future years to recover
the budget position.

Background Papers:

Background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting :
Tom Wilkinson, Assistant Director
Metropolitan Borough Council

of

Finance, Tameside

Telephone:0161 342 5609
e-mail: tom.wilkinson@tameside.gov.uk
Tracey Simpson, Deputy Chief Finance Officer, Tameside and
Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group
Telephone:0161 342 5626
e-mail: tracey.simpson@nhs.net
David Warhurst, Associate Director Of Finance, Tameside and
Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust
Telephone:0161 922 4624
e-mail: David.Warhurst@tgh.nhs.uk

Page 12

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

This report aims to provide an overview on the financial position of the Tameside and
Glossop economy in 2019/20 at the 31 July 2019 with a forecast projection to 31 March
2020. Supporting details for the whole economy are provided in Appendix 1.

1.2

The report includes the details of the Integrated Commissioning Fund (ICF) for all Council
services and the Clinical Commissioning Group. The total gross revenue budget value of
the ICF for 2019/20 is currently £944.245 million. The net budget has increased from
period 3 due to some changes to Education grant budgets, and additional CCG allocations
for transformation funding and GP forward view

1.3

It should be noted that the report also includes details of the financial position of the
Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust. This is to ensure members
have an awareness of the overall Tameside and Glossop economy position. Reference to
Glossop solely relates to health service expenditure as Council services for Glossop are the
responsibility of Derbyshire County Council.

1.4

Please note that any reference throughout this report to the Tameside and Glossop
economy refers to the three partner organisations namely:




Tameside and Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust (ICFT)
NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG (CCG)
Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (TMBC)

2.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2.1

As at 31 July 2019 the Integrated Commissioning Fund is forecasting to spend £618.503m
against an approved net budget of £616.583m, an over spend of £1.920m. This forecast is
a slightly improved position from the previous month but masks significant and emerging
pressures in a number of areas, including Children’s Services which is forecasting
expenditure to be £4.5M in excess of budget. Pressures are also emerging in Acute
spend, driven by increasing activity in the independent sector. Further detail is included at
Appendix 1.

3.

RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1

As stated on the front cover of the report.

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Financial Position
financial monitoring statements
Period Ending 31st July 2019
Month 4

Page 15

Kathy Roe
Sam Simpson
1

Period Ending 31st July 2019
Integrated Financial Position Summary Report
Economy Wide Financial Position

Tameside and Glossop Integrated Commissioning Fund

3

4-6

Integrated Care Foundation Trust

7

Targeted/Trust Efficiency Plan

8

Page 16
This report covers all spend at Tameside & Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council
(TMBC) and Tameside & Glossop Integrated Care Foundation Trust (ICFT) . It does not capture any Local Authority spend from
Derbyshire County Council or High Peak Borough Council for the residents of Glossop.
Note
The values in this report have been presented in £’000s. All values reconcile exactly in it lowest denomination, however, on presentation
there may be some minor rounding differences in the variance calculations as a result of reporting the values at a higher level.

2

Tameside & Glossop Integrated Economy Wide Financial Position
Message from the Directors of Finance

£282k

As we enter the second quarter of the financial year, the financial position remains challenging but we have
seen a small improvement since period 3, an encouraging sign that further improvements can be made over
the coming months as we continue to focus on the delivery of savings and efficiencies. Whilst our track
record should encourage a degree of optimism, this needs to be set in the context of the significant financial
challenge and risks that continue to face the economy.
Pressures are emerging in Acute spend, driven by increasing activity in the independent sector, and an
increase in specialist activity which is being seen across the Greater Manchester economy. Whilst the
current forecast for prescribing costs is on budget, this could be at risk if a no deal Brexit results in a
significant increase in drug prices. The unprecedented demand for Children’s services remains our single
greatest financial pressure. A number of initiatives to reduce numbers and costs of looked after children are
being evaluated and are beginning to be implemented, it will take some time before these measures have a
significant impact on projected expenditure.

Page 17

Whilst maintaining our focus on in year savings, attention is now shifting to the 2020/21 budget and future
financial plans. The economy faces a funding gap of £55m by 2024/25, with a £23m gap to be closed in
2020/21. Funding for Local Government remains uncertain and is expected to continue to reduce. Although
the recently announced one year spending review should provide some certainty for next year, continuing
uncertainty around funding formulas and retained business rates, means that medium term planning remains
challenging.

Forecast Position
£000's
CCG Expenditure
TMBC Expenditure
Integrated Commissioning Fund

Expenditure
Budget
419,780
524,465
944,245

Forecast Position
Income
Net
Net
Net Budget
Budget
Forecast Variance
0
419,780
420,587
(807)
(327,662)
196,803
197,916
(1,113)
(327,662)
616,583
618,503
(1,920)

ICF Position
Improvement
The overall forecast
outturn has improved
since period 3 by
£282k, but remains
as
a
forecast
overspend
against
net budget.
Significant pressures
remain in Children’s
services,
Growth,
and Operations and
Neighbourhoods,
with new pressures
emerging in Acute.

Net Variance
Previous Movement
Month
in Month
(816)
9
(1,387)
273
(2,202)
282

3

Tameside & Glossop Integrated Commissioning Fund
With a gross budget for 2019/20 in excess of £944m, as at month 4 the Integrated Commissioning Fund has a forecast net spend of
£618,503k, against a net budget of £616,583k. The net budget has increased from period 3 due to some changes to Education grant
budgets, and additional CCG allocations for transformation funding and GP forward view. The forecast overspend of £1,920k is primarily
driven by Children's Services, Growth, Operations and Neighbourhoods and CCG TEP shortfall, offset by contingency and capital financing
which includes increased dividend income from Manchester Airport.
Forecast Position
Forecast Position
£000's

Page 18

Acute
Mental Health
Primary Care
Continuing Care
Community
Other CCG
CCG TEP Shortfall (QIPP)
CCG Running Costs
Adults
Children's Services
Education
Individual Schools Budgets
Population Health
Operations and Neighbourhoods
Growth
Governance
Finance & IT
Quality and Safeguarding
Capital and Financing
Contingency
Corporate Costs
Integrated Commissioning Fund

Expenditure
Budget

214,296
37,207
85,053
16,867
33,105
28,087
0
5,164
84,083
53,756
28,198
115,164
16,262
78,812
42,753
74,070
6,218
440
10,763
5,674
8,272
944,245

Income
Budget

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(46,750)
(5,199)
(22,194)
(115,164)
(170)
(28,185)
(33,883)
(64,876)
(1,408)
(304)
(6,647)
0
(2,881)
(327,662)

Net Budget
214,296
37,207
85,053
16,867
33,105
28,087
0
5,164
37,333
48,556
6,005
0
16,092
50,627
8,870
9,193
4,809
136
4,116
5,674
5,392
616,583

Net Variance
Net
Forecast

215,107
37,466
85,088
16,396
33,107
27,452
807
5,164
37,607
53,078
6,091
0
16,372
51,529
9,916
9,002
4,765
136
899
3,876
4,646
618,503

Net
Variance

(811)
(259)
(34)
471
(2)
636
(807)
0
(274)
(4,522)
(86)
0
(280)
(902)
(1,046)
191
44
(0)
3,217
1,798
746
(1,920)

Previous
Month

Movement in
Month

(478)
18
93
5
2
360
(816)
0
(274)
(4,552)
(61)
0
(280)
(1,113)
(1,086)
210
8
(0)
3,202
1,770
789
(2,202)

(333)
(277)
(128)
467
(4)
276
9
0
0
30
(25)
0
0
211
40
(19)
36
0
15
28
(43)
282

4

Tameside & Glossop Integrated Commissioning Fund
Forecast Position
£000's
CCG Expenditure
TMBC Expenditure
Integrated Commissioning Fund

Expenditure
Budget
419,780
524,465
944,245

A: Section 75 Services
B: Aligned Services
C: In Collaboration Services
Integrated Commissioning Fund

375,930
318,686
249,629
944,245

Forecast Position
Income
Net
Net
Net Budget
Budget
Forecast Variance
0
419,780
420,587
(807)
(327,662)
196,803
197,916
(1,113)
(327,662)
616,583
618,503
(1,920)
(46,820)
(100,496)
(180,346)
(327,662)

329,110
218,190
69,283
616,583

329,929
222,375
66,200
618,503

(819)
(4,185)
3,083
(1,920)

Net Variance
Previous Movement
Month
in Month
(816)
9
(1,387)
273
(2,202)
282
(5,493)
136
(162)
(5,519)

4,674
(4,320)
3,245
3,599

Children’s Services £4,522k

Growth £1,046k

Emerging pressure due to
significant increases in the
number of patients receiving
treatment in the Independent
Sector.

Children’s Social Care is forecast to overspend by £4,522k
mainly due to the cost of placements for looked after
children. The number of looked after children when
establishing the 2019/20 budget was 648 (December
2018), an all time high for Tameside and considered to be
the peak. However the number of looked after children
has since increased and stood at 683 on 2 August 2019.
The projection assumes the current cost of all existing
placements plus a further slight increase in of 5 additional
placements for the remainder of the year at an average
weekly cost of £ 3,000 per week (£156k per year).

Significant budget pressures
relate to a shortfall in income
relating to Estates, fee income
from planning and building
control and rents not being
realised.
Pressures also
forecast due to increased utility
costs.

Page 19

Acute £811k

Separately to this the Christie is
over spent by 20% against plan,
and similar increases being seen
elsewhere in GM.

Mental Health £259k
This pressure reflects a reclassification of spend from
continuing healthcare (where
there is a corresponding positive
variance) to reflect new guidance
on the classification of activity.

Corporate, Contingency, Capital Financing
Significant favourable variances reflect the release of
earmarked contingencies to offset specific pressures in
service areas and savings on corporate budgets. The
Capital and Financing forecast reflects additional dividend
income of £2m in excess of budget.

Operations and
Neighbourhoods £902k
Pressures remain in respect of
shortfalls in income from car
parks and markets, and from
bus lane fines. The positive
movement from period 3
reflects one off savings in
respect of vehicle costs.

5

Tameside Integrated Care Foundation Trust Financial Position
Month 3
Financial Performance Metric
Normalised Surplus / (Deficit) Before PSF
Provider Sustainability Fund (PSF)
Financial recovery Fund (FRF)
Surplus / (Deficit)
Trust Efficiency Savings
Use of Resources Metric

Plan
Actual Variance
£000
£000
£000
(2,219) (2,187)
32
237
237
0
741
741
0
-1,241
-1,209
32
721
916
195
3
3

YTD
Plan
Actual Variance
£000
£000
£000
(8,301) (8,219)
82
709
709
0
2,221
2,221
0
-5,371
-5,289
82
2,577
2,838
261
3
3

Outturn
Plan
£000s
(25,220)
4,727
14,807
-5,686
11,580
3

Page 20

• Revenue - The Trust has agreed a control with NHSI of c.£5.686m after Financial Recovery Fund (FRF) and Provider
Sustainability Funding (PSF); for the financial period to 31st July 2019, the Trust has reported a net deficit of £1.209m post FRF
and PSF, which is £32k below plan.
• Trust Efficiency Programme (TEP) - the Trust has a TEP target in 2019/20 of £11.580m including carried forward schemes
from 2018/19. During month 4 the Trust delivered £916k against a plan of £721k reporting an overachievement of c.£195k in
month. The Trust is forecasting at month 4 to deliver c.£11.267m by the end of the year, this is an improvement in month of
£291k. Schemes are being developed across the Trust to mitigate the shortfall of c.£313k (3%).
• Agency cap - The Trust has an agency cap of c.£9.454m, but a plan of £7m. During Month 4 the Trust spent £511k against a
plan of £739k, reporting an underspend of £228k and reporting below the cap.

• Capital – Capital expenditure is ahead of plan by c.£14k (A) year to date.
• Cash – The cash balance was £921k better than plan at the end of Month 4.

6

Agenda Item 5b
Report To:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date Of Report:

25 September 2019

Report Of:

Councillor Oliver Ryan - Executive Member (Finance and
Economic Growth)
Tim Rainey, Assistant Director, Digital Services.

Subject

MICROSOFT OFFICE AND SERVER LICENSING

Report Summary:

Executive Cabinet on 24 April 2019 agreed to the accelerated
replacement of all older Windows 7 operated laptops with new
higher spec’d Windows 10 devices. The urgency for this
replacement programme was because the Windows 7 operating
system ceases to be supported by Microsoft in January 2020 and
if the Council were still using these older devices thereafter it
would leave our systems and data at risk from cyber-attack.
The same report alluded to other Microsoft products including
Microsoft Office 2010 that are commonly used across the Council
and that would also need replacing due to support ceasing in the
near future. This report details the software in question and
options and costs for their replacement.
Greater Manchester Pension Fund is currently investigating
options to replace their Microsoft Office and other software that is
coming to end of life. This will be done in conjunction with the
wider Council solution to avoid any technical issues.

Recommendations:

Financial Implications:
(Authorised By Section 151
Officer)

To purchase second-user on premise perpetual licenses for
replacement Microsoft desktop Office 2016 and associated
software, server operating systems and SQL databases.
The recommended option will cost £1,362,052, this will need to
be funded from capital borrowing. This is the most cost effective
option.
This is likely to be the last time perpetual licences are available,
so the revenue implications of subscriptions will need to be built
into the medium term financial strategy in future years.

Legal Implications:
(Authorised By Borough
Solicitor)

Access To Information:

Whichever option is required there is a need for a capital
outlay. This is no different to the fleet management required for
vehicles both are necessary tools for the job. Every organisation
sets aside funding to replace its infrastructure on a cyclical basis.
We also need to consider how we fund these going forward as
most companies would budget year on year rather than leaving
as a budget demand. When procuring any option we need to
ensure STAR are involved to ensure proper process followed.
The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting Tim Rainey, Assistant Director, Digital Services by:
Telephone:0161 342 3299
e-mail: tim.rainey@tameside.gov.uk

Page 21

1

BACKGROUND

1.1

ICT is embedded in the everyday operations of services and is a crucial part of their
evolution and transformation, providing the technology to support shared services and new
delivery mechanisms. A new Digital Strategy is currently being developed which will detail
how we will use technology to drive forward this change and support new ways of working
across the Council as well as supporting economic development, skills and help to reduce
digital exclusion.

1.2

The Council’s programme of embracing agile and modern working practices, rationalising
office accommodation, eliminating unnecessary administration, and sharing information
more effectively across the organisation, and with partners, requires that technology is
effective, modern and compliant.

1.3

Every day we rely on Microsoft Office products to write reports, produce spreadsheets,
manage our diary and send emails yet the technology we use is nearly 10 years old and will
soon put our systems and data at risk if we do nothing to replace and update it.

1.4

To date the Council has followed a policy of buying “perpetual on premise” licenses from
Microsoft, which means we own them and can use them for as long as we wish – or until
Microsoft stop supporting them which is normally after around 10 years. The “on premise”
element means that we run the software using our own servers, store the data on our own
discs and perform backup and recovery ourselves.

1.5

This approach has pro’s and con’s – on one hand you can sweat the software “asset” for a
long as possible, on the other hand you can’t easily or cheaply benefit when new versions
of software are released – around every 3 years – and so you can become locked in using
to older versions. Tameside currently uses Office 2010 which is almost 10 years old and
has been superseded by Office 2013, 2016 and 2019.

1.6

It is likely that by 2025 Microsoft will stop selling perpetual licenses for many of their
products. Instead they will move to a subscription based licensing model. This means
paying annually for the licenses you use, and also benefiting from automatic upgrades to
new versions when they are released.

1.7

It’s also possible, but by no means certain, that they will also stop supplying an “on
premise” option at this time meaning all the Office software and associated documents,
spread sheets etc, exchange email and other systems such as Skype and their associated
data would be hosted by Microsoft in the “cloud”.

1.8

On the 8 May 2018 the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) considered a report detailing the
options and costs associated with replacing Microsoft Windows 7 desktop operating system
and Office 2010 licenses, both of which were coming to end of support and therefore had to
be replaced. Microsoft Licensing is notoriously complex and expensive. The report
detailed a number of options with a recommendation that the Council moved to the new
Microsoft 365 subscription licensing model because like for like it was cheaper than buying
Office 2019 perpetual licenses outright as we had done before.

1.9

Due to the complexity and expense it was decided that the 2 elements (Windows 7
replacement and Microsoft Office 2010 replacement) should be separated and treated as
two distinct projects, with the Windows 7 replacement taking the priority due to short period
of time before the product support ceased (January 2020) and the additional implications
that a move to Windows 10 would have on the Council fleet of ageing laptops.

1.10

As a result the Council has since signed a new 3 year licensing agreement with Microsoft
for their new Windows 10 operating system. The previous 3 year agreement (for Windows

Page 22

7) cost £28k per year, whilst the new agreement costs 3 times more (£73k per year). The
costs for these licenses are negotiated on a national level for UK Government.
1.11

This new agreement means all the Councils laptops can now utilise this latest version of the
software however a large number of existing devices are not capable of running this new
operating system which requires more power and memory than its predecessor.

1.12

This meant the Council also had to replace its fleet of ageing laptops with newer higher
specification devices which can then use the latest Windows 10 desktop operating system.
On top of the annual rolling laptop replacement programme a further £600k of expenditure
was approved by Executive Cabinet in April 2019 to ensure that the final 1132 devices
could be replaced before the January 2020 deadline.

2

MICROSOFT OFFICE AND SERVER LICENSING.

2.1

Working with TechAlign, an local independent specialist Microsoft Licensing company, the
business case and options for the second element of the Microsoft license replacement has
now been undertaken. The analysis has been carried out using a 5 year timeframe 2020 to
2025 and covers the upgrading or replacement of licenses for software including:
 Office 2010 that’s used across the Council for producing documents and spread sheets
(Support ends October 2020)
 Exchange 2010 for email (support ends January 2020)
 SharePoint 2010 for collaborative working, (support ends Sept 2020)
 Skype for Business 2013 for virtual meetings and telephony
 SQL 2008 Database licensing (support ends January 2020)
 Data centre licenses for the server operating systems in our main Data Centre and also
in the Councils new Disaster Recovery Data Centre. (support ends January 2020)

2.2

All of these products are very near end of life support and will need to be replaced before
Microsoft withdraws support between January 2020 and October 2020.

3

DESKTOP AND SERVER SOFTWARE

3.1

The Council’s Microsoft licensing requirements fall roughly in to 2 groups. The first is
desktop software which end users access from their laptops and desktop computers and
includes functionality including word, excel and PowerPoint. The second is the server
infrastructure which runs the back office software such as exchange, provides storage for all
our data and files and runs the databases that our 120+ back office systems rely on.

3.2

The table below details the current licenses required for server and desktop devices that we
will need to replace as part of this process. The Desktop Operating system highlighted
(Desktop OS Windows 10) has already been dealt with as per 1.9 above. Also included in
the table are the licenses required for the Council’s new Disaster Recovery site located in
the Tameside Hospital Data Centre.

3.3

The Microsoft Desktop software is typically upgraded with new versions every 3 years,
whilst server side software is less frequent upgraded and is normally based on a 4 year
renewal cycle.

Page 23

Prod
Quant

Category
Server OS
(Virtual)
Server OS
(Physical)
Server Product
Server Product
Server Product
Server Product

Product

Desktop OS
Desktop Office
Desktop Office
Desktop Office

Windows 10
MS CAL Suite
Skype for Business
MS Office 2016

DR
Quant Total

Current
Type

Windows Server (VM)

80

56

136 Perpetual

Windows Server (S/A)
SQL Server
Exchange Server
Skype for Business
SharePoint Server

18
182
4
1
2

0
182
4
1
2

18
364
8
2
4

Perpetual
Perpetual
Perpetual
Perpetual
Perpetual

1800
1800
250
1800

0
0
0
0

1800
1800
250
1800

Subs
Perpetual
Perpetual
Perpetual

4

OPTIONS

4.1

As part of the options analysis the 3 solutions listed below were considered. “Do nothing”
was not an option as this would leave the Councils systems and data at risk from cyber
security breaches and buying Office 2019 perpetual licenses was not included because it
had already been considered and discounted on costs basis in the May 2018 SLT report.
1) Microsoft 365 (Cloud) Subscription Licenses & Subscription Server Operating and SQL
Licenses.
2) 2nd-user Office 2016 , Server Operating and SQL Perpetual (On-Premise) Licenses
3) Hybrid option: Microsoft 365 (Cloud) Subscription Licenses purchase 2nd user for server
operating system and SQL databases
The conventional approach adopted by the majority of councils across GM is option 1,
whilst option 2 and 3 are a more unconventional.

4.2

4.3

Table A and B below give a comparison of the options and the financial implications with a
more detailed narrative explained in Section 5,6 and 7 of this report.

Table A – Options Comparison

Additional resource needs
(financial/personnel)
Cost (relative)
Innovation
/
transformation
capability
Management overhead
Potential change from now
Risk: License compliance
Risk: Option viability
Risk: Stagnation
Risk: Vendor / Price lock-in

365 + Cloud
Option 1
Medium

2nd User
Option 2
Low

Hybrid
Option 3
Medium

Medium/High

Low

High

High

Low

High

Low
High
(progressive)
Low
Low
Low
High

High
Low

Medium
Medium/High

Medium
Medium
Medium
Low

Low
Medium
Low
Medium

NB: The management overhead is the ongoing management of the product needed in the IT
team. Option 2 (2nd User) is reflective of current practice.

Page 24

Table B – Cost Comparisons
Inclusions
 Optimised Server 2019
DC/Std
 Win 10 Desktop OS
Cloud
 SQL Server 2019 Std
+ Subs
(Core)
(O365
 Exchange /SfB / SP
E3 +
2019
ECAL)
 O365 E3 +
ECALBridge
 EMS E3
 SfB Plus CAL
 Full DR coverage
Option  Optimised Server 2019
2
DC/Std
 Win 10 Desktop OS
Second
(Subs)
User
 SQL Server 2016 Std
(Core)
 Exchange /SfB/SP
2016
 ECAL Suite
 Office 2016 ProPlus
 Full DR Coverage
Option  Second user Server /
3
SQL
 As per Option 1 for
Hybrid
everything else
Option
1

Exclusions / to consider

1 year

5-year

 O365 backup product
/ service
 Third Party
o Message
filtering/hygene
o Journaling /DLP
 Prof Services to
design, implement
and support.

£556,076

£2,780,380

£1,362,052 £1,362,052
 SfB Plus Cal (No
pricing available at
present)
 Any SA / DR / Mobility
rights (90 days)

 As above

£1,287,815 2,835,916

1 year: This refers to the first years cost
5 year: This is the total cost of the implementation over the 5 year project
Note: The cloud based and hybrid options costs have estimate in for years 4 and 5 as the
contracts offered are 3 year contracts.
5

OPTION 1 SUBSCRIPTION AND CLOUD SOLUTION

5.1

This is the most conventional approach to the Microsoft licensing quandary and one that
Microsoft and their re-sellers recommend. Across Greater Manchester 2 authorities are
underway with implementing this solution for all staff and another 4 have implemented
within their IT services with a further 1 due to begin implementing in the near future. Of the
remaining authorities 2 are yet to decide what course they will take and 1 is not going down
the Microsoft Office route.

5.2

If we take this option we would subscribe to a 3 year agreement for all the necessary
Microsoft licences. The subscription costs are fixed for this period of time, however a new 3
year agreement would then be required and at that point prices could change.

5.3

This option will also support our ambitions in terms of collaborative working, modern, agile
working. Under the terms of this licencing the 365 products are all available in the cloud,
meaning that users would access the software even if they did not have access to their
Council issued device by using their own or another device. In addition, the software can

Page 25

also be installed on up to five computers and five mobile phones/tablets for each user
licence purchased.
5.4

The licences can be purchased as one bundled product called M365, which is the most
costs effective way of purchasing all the licences, or as individual components. Purchasing
in this way also means that a bundle of other software including the professional version of
Yammer, Workflow, One Drive (Cloud Storage) Teams (Collaboration Tool), Powerapps,
Planner (Project Management Tool) and Password reset are also included within the cost.

5.5

Moving to a 365 solution would have a significant impact on the IT service in terms of
managing the transition from on-premise to cloud base computing. There would also be a
significant end-user training requirement.

5.6

The following are some of Pro’s and Con’s for this option.
Pro’s
Con’s
Annual adjustments to the There is no physical “asset” that the Council owns.
number of licences we need so
that we are not overbuying.
Reduced cost of Operating License costs for 365 only fixed for 3 years and then
System licences after current 3 could increase. Operating system license costs
trebled in price.
year agreement expires
Significantly improved ability to Tied in Microsoft tools for collaboration and agile
transform
due
to
the working and the market offers many other packages
availability of a wide suite of which can also provide this functionality.
tools to support agile working,
improved
processes
and A move to 365 would also mean a significant training
programme would be needed for staff as in essence
communication.
the organisation would be updating its desktop
software through 3 releases in one go.
Time
spent
maintaining Supporting “on-premise” Microsoft products wouldn’t
existing
council
owned significantly reduce workloads – the council still has
hardware and software that over 120 other systems that need supporting and
support “on-premise” working moving to the cloud would present a new technical
is reduced
challenge with new skill set required.

No future server infrastructure
costs for Microsoft products.
Server
infrastructure
still
required for all back office
systems.

Implementing 365 across the organisation would also
take a significant period of time (up to 18 months)
during which time the licenses would need to paid for
but not fully used.
The infrastructure costs for the current “on-premise”
way of working is already in place and will not need
replacing until 2025 when future options for delivering
Office functionality will need to be reviewed.

The council would still need to maintain the Data
Centre/DR facility and associated server and disc
infrastructure for the other 120+ systems it operates.
Ability for users to reset Other software tools other than Microsoft are available
for this functionality and it’s likely that in the coming
password themselves.
year the government guidance on passwords will
change to recommend a single permanent complex
password as opposed to a rolling change ever 90
days.
Assuming partners have the Other collaboration and communication products are

Page 26

same Microsoft software it available and in many cases they are vendor agnostic
could improve collaboration meaning they will work whether you use Microsoft
and communication.
products or not.

6

OPTION 2 SECOND HAND PERPETUAL ON PREMISE SOLUTION

6.1

This option involves buying second-user licenses for Microsoft Office and the other related
Office products and server licenses. These ‘perpetual licences’ are a one-off purchase. The
software license is ‘owned’ by the council but unlike option 1 the software is not
automatically updated as new versions or features of the software are released other than
security updates/patches which ensure the software remain secure, this would be done by
our existing team as it currently is.

6.2

Whilst the cost of purchasing the latest perpetual versions of Microsoft Office software
(2019) is prohibitively expensive, we are able to purchase Office 2016 ‘second hand’
licences at a much reduced cost. This is possible under EU Software Directive 2009. The
ruling of the Court of Justice of the European Union (Case C-128/11 – 3rd July 2012) states
that software vendors such as Microsoft cannot prohibit any resale of used licences and
that companies are free to resell their perpetual licences within the European Economic
Area.

6.3

If we were to purchase the 2016 version of the software we would continue to receive
mainstream support until 13/10/2020 and extended support (Security updates only) until
14/10/2025. This is the same point at which support for the latest version of Office (2019)
also expires. It would also mean purchasing “second-hand” versions of other Microsoft
software that we require such as SharePoint, Skype for Business and Exchange.

6.4

The following are the pro’s and con’s of this option.
Pro’s
Fixed one off payment for perpetual
licenses which can be used for as long
as the software is supported at no
additional cost.

Con’s
There is a risk that “sweating” the asset for as
long as possible means we don’t provide staff
with the appropriate up-to-date software which
will enable them to work more collaboratively
and effectively.

In 2025 Office 2016 will be 9 years old. (as
indeed Office 2010 is now)
Second-hand licenses option is cheaper We would be buying licenses for Office 2016
(and other associated software tools) which is
the subscription based option.
not the latest version.
Simple for IT to implement and support
– same underpinning technology and
same way of working just newer
versions of software for the user.
Less training implications for end users.
Ability to look at other software solutions
outside of Microsoft range for specific
requirements such as Team Sharing,
remote meetings and collaboration.

Using all Microsoft products ensures that all
the products work seamlessly. Buying 3rd party
software products can mean compromising on
integration with other Microsoft products.

Page 27

7

OPTION 3 HYBRID SUBSCRIPTION AND SECOND HAND SERVER LICENSING
SOLUTION

7.1

This option would involve subscribing to Microsoft 365 and the associated bundle of
desktop software but buying second-user licenses for the server operating system and SQL
database licenses. This option was considered because it could provide the organisation
with the ability to use and keep up to date with the latest versions of Office software and
also use the additional software such as Team and Planner which will support our flexible
and collaborative working ambitions, whilst purchasing the server side software and
therefore “sweating these assets” which is less dynamic and more stable in terms of
updates and new releases.

7.2

Implementing this solution as with option 1 would have a significant impact on the IT Service
as most of the desktop environment would move in to the Cloud. This would also mean a
significant investment in end user training. It would however mean the server side of things
was easy to manage as per option 2.

7.3

The following are the pro’s and con’s of this option.
Pro’s
Annual adjustments to the number of
licences we need so that we are not
overbuying.
Reduced cost of Operating System
licences after current 3 year agreement
expires
Significantly improved ability to transform
due to the availability of a wide suite of
tools to support agile working, improved
processes and communication.

Con’s
For Desktop software there is no physical
“asset” that the Council owns.
License costs for 365 only fixed for 3 years
and then could increase. Operating system
license costs trebled in price.
Tied in Microsoft tools for collaboration and
agile working and the market offers many
other packages which can also provide this
functionality.

A move to 365 would also mean a significant
training programme would be needed for staff
as in essence the organisation would be
updating its desktop software through 3
releases in one go.
Time spent maintaining existing council Supporting “on-premise” Microsoft products
owned hardware and software that wouldn’t significantly reduce workloads – the
support “on-premise” working is reduced council still has over 120 other systems that
need supporting and moving to the cloud
would present a new technical challenge with
new skill set required.
Implementing 365 across the organisation
would also take a significant period of time (up
to 18 months) during which time the licenses
would need to paid for but not fully used.
No future server infrastructure costs for The infrastructure costs for the current “onMicrosoft products. Server infrastructure premise” way of working is already in place
still required for all back office systems.
and will not need replacing until 2025 when
future options for delivering Office functionality
will need to be reviewed.
The council would still need to maintain the
Data Centre/DR facility and associated server
and disc infrastructure for the other 120+

Page 28

Ability for users to reset password
themselves.

Assuming partners have the same
Microsoft software it could improve
collaboration and communication.
Fixed one off payment for perpetual
server related licenses which can be
used for as long as the software is
supported at no additional cost.

systems it operates.
Other software tools other than Microsoft are
available for this functionality and it’s likely that
in the coming year the government guidance
on passwords will change to recommend a
single permanent complex password as
opposed to a rolling change ever 90 days.
Other collaboration and communication
products are available and in many cases they
are vendor agnostic meaning they will work
whether you use Microsoft products or not.
Server infrastructure software is generally less
susceptible to significant enhancements of
functionality upgrades that desktop software
undergoes. This means the risk of being
locked in to older versions of the server
operating system and SQL databases is less
of an issue.

8

5 YEAR COST COMPARISON

8.1

There is no existing budget to fund upgrades for Office 2010, Exchange 2010 or SharePoint
2010. These products were purchased via Capital Funding in May 2009.

8.2

The 18 physical Server OS licenses and SQL licenses were paid for by individual services
and the remaining server OS and SQL were bought in 2013 as part of Data Centre License
for VM Infrastructure. (£27,000).

8.3

The table below gives the high level cost comparisons for the three options over a 5 year
window (2020 to 2025).
Option
1
2
3

Description
Subscription and cloud solution
Second hand perpetual on premise solution
Hybrid subscription & second hand server
licensing solution

Year 1 £
£ 556,076
£1,362,052
£1,287,815

5-Year £
£2,780,380
£1,362,052
£2,835,916

9

OPTION APPRAISAL

9.1

In the coming years it’s clear that Microsoft is going to significantly change the way it
operates – what’s less clear is how they will do this and what implications it will have for
organisations like ours. End-of-life support for many of its current software packages are
converging in 2025 so it’s likely that at this point these changes will come into effect.

9.2

It’s likely – but by no means certain that from that point forward Microsoft will only “sell”
licenses on a subscription basis. It’s also possible that they may only offer a “cloud” based
solutions forcing businesses to move from on-premise hosting. Whilst this move to the
Cloud is becoming more prevalent in many areas of IT many businesses prefer to hosts
their own systems and data on premise, and want to have the licensing asset on their
balance sheets.

9.3

In view of this uncertainty the Council has the opportunity to “sit on the fence” for a number
of years and watch what develops. Adopting option 2 would mean continuing to operate in
much the same way as we do now – but with newer and fully supported software. It would

Page 29

also save in the region of £1.5m over the 5 year period leading up to 2025 and would also
minimise the amount of up-skilling and re-training that IT staff and employees would need
to undertake.
9.4

In mid-2023 when Microsoft’s licensing intentions will be clearer, the council can then reassess its licensing requirements and have time to plan and implement an appropriate
solution in-time for the proposed perpetual on-premise licenses reaching end of life in 2025.

10

PROCUREMENT PROCESS

10.1

Second hand, perpetual on site licenses can be resold through an agreement with
European Electronique, who are an approved supplier on RM3733 Technology
Products. This Framework expires in October and the replacement framework is
RM3733. A mini-competition may need to be run under the framework in operation at the
time of the procurement exercise.

11

GREATER MANCHESTER PENSION FUND

11.1

Greater Manchester Pension Fund is currently investigating options to replace their desktop
office software and server infrastructure licensing. It’s likely that this will be done in
conjunction with the wider Council decision and roll-out to avoid any technical issues. The
associated license costs will be funded directly by the pension fund.

12

RECOMMENDATIONS

12.1

As set out on the front of the report.

Page 30

Agenda Item 5c
Report to:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

25 September 2019

Executive Member/Reporting
Officer:

Councillor Oliver Ryan, Executive Member (Finance and
Economic Growth
Councillor Allison Gwynne, Executive Member (Neighbourhoods,
Community Safety and Environment)
Jeanelle de Gruchy, Director of Population Health

Subject:

ACTIVE MEDLOCK PITCH SCHEME - FULL BUSINESS CASE

Report Summary:

The synthetic turf pitches at Active Medlock are 19 years old and
have reached the end of their useful life. The pitches need to be
resurfaced if they are to continue to operate beyond this winter.
The scheme has been earmarked for support in the Capital
Programme subject to full business case approval. Further
governance is required in order for the scheme to progress. This
report follows the approved business case template and seeks
approval to proceed.

Recommendations:

That the Council approves the inclusion of £0.120m in the
approved Capital Programme for the replacement of pitch
surfacing at Active Medlock ensuring full compliance with any
financial, contractual or procurement requirements of the Council
and any legal requirements.

Corporate Plan:

The Community Strategy 2012/22 outlines the priorities for
improving the Borough. The Leisure Assets Capital Investment
Programme directly links to the Tameside Sustainable
Community Strategy objective of ‘Healthy Tameside’

Policy Implications:

The Leisure Assets Capital Investment Programme supports the
Tameside Corporate Plan and specifically the ‘Longer and
Healthier Lives’ priority for reducing physical inactivity and
improving physical activity levels across Tameside.

Financial Implications:

The synthetic turf pitches at Active Medlock are 19 years old and
have reached the end of their useful life. The pitches need to be
resurfaced if they are to continue to operate.

(Authorised by the statutory
Section 151 Officer & Chief
Finance Officer)

On 27 March 2019, following a Capital prioritisation exercise,
Executive Cabinet earmarked a sum of £0.120m for the Active
Medlock Pitch scheme, subject to a full business case. Section 5
of this report sets out a breakdown of the required capital
investment of £0.120m.
The Council will not be required to upgrade the facility in the
future. The requirement for the operator to resurface the pitches
will be set out in the new facility lease which will come in to effect
from 1 April 2024. It is the intention to establish a full repairing
lease moving the current liability from the Council to the Operator.
There would be no negative VAT implications for the Council if
this scheme is approved and added to the Capital Programme.

Legal Implications:

It is important to manage the Council’s leisure offer effectively to
ensure it provides value for money and properly supports the

Page 31

(Authorised by the Borough health and wellbeing needs of the borough. The monitoring of the
Solicitor)
capital investment programme by Members plays a key role in
doing so.
Members need to consider the report holistically and have a clear
oversight in providing strategic direction when balancing
competing priorities whilst ensuring the Council’s fiduciary duties
to the public purse continue to be met.
Officers should be mindful of the ownership and control of the
Council’s estate portfolio when agreeing to carry out works on
sites which are occupied, run and maintained by third parties (in
this case Active Tameside) as there needs to be clear agreement
as to who maintains and how it is financed.
The officers undertaking this project need to ensure full compliance
with any financial, contractual or procurement requirements
otherwise there may be disciplinary/personal liability consequences.
Risk Management:

Contained within the main body of the report.

Background Information:

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting Nicola Turner, Interim Head of Development and
Investment by:
Telephone: 0161 342 2623
e-mail: Nicola.turner1@tameside.gov.uk

Page 32

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Proposed Investment
The synthetic turf pitches at Active Medlock are 19 years old and have reached the end of
their useful life. The pitches need to be resurfaced if they are to continue to operate
beyond this winter.
In July 2018 Executive Cabinet received a report setting out the capital pressures facing the
Council. The report recommended that the programme, as approved in October 2017,
would need to be reprioritised, and noted that the size of the capital programme would be
dependent on the level of capital receipts realised. Following approval of the Capital
Programme Methodology for Prioritisation at Executive Cabinet on 27 March 2019, this
scheme was agreed to be progressed to the business case stage. Further governance is
required in order for the scheme to progress. This report follows the approved business
case template.
Options for Investment
There are three options to consider; Option 1 - Do nothing, Option 2 - delay by undertaking
additional repair work and Option 3 - replace the pitch surfacing at a cost of £0.120m.
Option 3 is recommended for approval.

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

Project Delivery
Delivery of the Medlock scheme is time critical – the installation must take place at the end
of summer to prevent premature closure of the pitches due to their poor condition and end
of summer is the optimum time to install pitches such at this due to likely delays caused by
wet weather later in the year. The synthetic turf pitch replacement at Active Medlock is
considered to be low risk. The scheme is essentially replacing a carpet on a like for like
basis with only minor drainage checking. Generally an installation such as this comes with
an insurance backed 8 year defect warranty.
Financial Investment Required
That the Council approves the inclusion of £0.120m in the approved Capital Programme for
the replacement of pitch surfacing at Active Medlock as detailed in this report.
Exit Strategy and Revenue Consequences
Once the pitches have been completed they will be handed over to Active Tameside to
manage and maintain. The pitches currently generate an annual surplus of £0.042m which
contributes towards the annual budget of Active Tameside. If the pitches cease to operate
the surplus would not be realised, resulting in adverse budgetary impact. A new facility will
generate additional income due to demand in the locality. The additional income will be
used to generate a sinking fund which will be used by Active Tameside, or the incumbent
operator, to replace the pitches in approximately 10 years’ time. The Council will not be
required to upgrade the facility in the future. The requirement for the operator to resurface
the pitches will be set out in the new facility lease which will come in to effect from 1 April
2024. It is the intension to establish a full repairing lease moving the current liability from
the Council to the operator.
VAT Implications
Finance Officers have confirmed that there is no direct income generated for/by the
Council. Consequently the Council can recover the VAT on the capital expenditure and
there is no impact on the Council’s partial exemption position.
Project Management and Monitoring
The project will be managed and monitored by the Investment and Development, Capital
Projects Team. If approved, regular updates will be included in the Leisure Investment
Programme report to SPCMP.

Page 33

2.0

2.1

2.2

2.3

PROPOSED INVESTMENT
Background and Existing Arrangements
Active Medlock is one of nine sport and leisure facilities managed by Active Tameside on
behalf of the Council. The facility is leased to Active Tameside until the end of March 2024.
Under the terms of the lease Active Tameside is responsible for minor repairs and
maintenance with the landlord (the Council) being responsible for major plant replacement
and structural repair. However, the requirement for the operator to resurface the pitches in
the future will be set out in the new facility lease which will come in to effect from 1 April
2024. It is the intention is to establish a full repairing lease moving the current liability from
the Council to the Operator.
Introduction
The synthetic turf pitches at Active Medlock are 19 years old and have reached the end of
their useful life. The pitches need to be resurfaced if they are to continue to operate
beyond this winter.
In July 2018 Executive Cabinet received a report setting out the capital pressures facing the
Council. The report recommended that the programme as approved in October 2017 would
need to be reprioritised, and noted that the size of the capital programme would be
dependent on the level of capital receipts realised. Following approval of the Capital
Programme Methodology for Prioritisation at Executive Cabinet on 27 March 2019, this
scheme was agreed to be progressed to the business case stage. Further Governance is
required in order for the scheme to progress. This report follows the approved business
case template.

2.4

Why are we proposing to do this?
The Council and Active Tameside have a duty of care to the users of the leisure estate.
Consequently, if the pitches become unsafe to operate then they will be taken out of use.

2.5

There is a statutory duty on local authorities to address health inequalities.

2.6

The pitches generate an annual surplus for Active Tameside of £0.042m which contributes
towards the annual budget of Active Tameside. If the pitches cease to operate then the
surplus would resulting in adverse budgetary impact.

2.7

Investment in Sport and Physical Activity is an ‘invest to save’ opportunity, which directly
impacts upon the health and wellbeing of the local population and reduces the demand for
more costly health and social care services. The loss of the pitches will result in significant
displacement of users estimated to be an average of 550 visits per week (data supplied by
Active Tameside). The displacement will inevitably result in a reduced number of people
participating in regular physical activity.

2.8

2.9

Existing Funding Arrangements
Tameside Council currently commissions Active Tameside, a registered charity, to operate
9 sport and leisure facilities and a community physical activity and wellbeing programme.
An annual management fee is paid to Active Tameside to deliver public benefit and health
outcomes, in keeping with its charitable objectives, with all surplus revenues reinvested into
services and facilities. Active Tameside delivers a wide range of leisure facility and
community-based services that generate participation in physical activity and sport to
improve health and wellbeing, predominantly in the Tameside area but also with partners
across Greater Manchester. The current contract and funding agreement runs until 31
March 2024 and is co-terminus with the lease to operate Tameside Council’s leisure assets.
The original installation was part funded by the Football Foundation back in 2000.
Discussions have been held with the Football Foundation but they are unwilling to
financially support the resurfacing of the pitches.

Page 34

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

The Council has a revenue budget to support the delivery of landlord responsibilities in the
leisure estate. This budget current stands at £0.100m per annum. This budget has been
fully spent in previous years and will be fully spent this year on a strategic repair backlog.
Options not Considered
All options have been considered including: Do nothing, lower cost scheme and full
scheme.
Low Cost Options
As set out in section 3 of this report.
Business Needs / Council Policies, Strategies and Plans
Local authorities have a central role to play when it comes to the provision of community
sport and recreation facilities and are responsible for the health outcomes for their
populations – as specified in the Public Health Outcomes Framework. As part of the health
reforms brought in by the Health and Social Care Act 2012, local authorities have a duty to
take such steps as they consider appropriate for improving the health of the people in their
area. The steps listed in legislation include:
 Providing information and advice
 Providing services or facilities designed to promote healthy living
 Providing services or facilities for the prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness
 Providing assistance to help individuals to minimise any risks to health arising from their
accommodation or environment
 Making any other services or facilities available
This scheme supports the Tameside Corporate Plan and specifically the priority pertaining
to reducing physical inactivity. Investment in Sport and Physical Activity is an ‘invest to
save’ opportunity which directly impacts upon the health and wellbeing of the local
population and reduces the demand for more costly health and social care services.
Physical inactivity is the fourth leading cause of many of the most significant health
problems in the UK today and 1 in 6 premature deaths are directly attributable to inactivity.
A wide body of research from within the UK and internationally unequivocally identifies that
investment in encouraging and enabling participation in physical activity is a cost effective
method of increasing population health and reducing avoidable demand and expenditure.
Spending Objectives
The successful outcomes can be summarised as below:
 Maintain the subsidy provided, in the form of a Management Fee, for the operation of
the Council’s leisure facilities. For reference, the surplus generated by the pitches is
£0.042m.
 Reduce or eliminate the Council’s short and medium term liabilities associated with the
maintenance of the leisure centre estate.
 Reduce the risks associated with the sustainability of the operator.
 Further develop the Tameside physical activity ‘offer’ to deliver significant sustained
health outcomes for the borough where it is most needed.
 Continue to offer a safe, high quality and high impact sports and leisure provision
supporting up to 550 visits per week.
 Opportunity to generate further surpluses to create a sinking fund to replace the
surfacing in circa 10 years’ time.
Risks
There are a number of risks associated with not progressing with the scheme;
 Inability to maintain or reduce the management fee paid to Active Tameside.
 Lack of improvement to physical inactivity targets and achievement of associated health
outcomes

Page 35




2.17

2.18

Reputational damage to the Council – the closure of the facility will result in the
displacement of a large number of clubs – (the displacement of 550 visits per week on
average).
Ongoing financial risk to the operator – no cash reserves. Inability to realise
opportunities to generate additional income.

Scope
The pitch surfacing at Active Medlock is worn out and needs to be replaced. The existing
drainage infrastructure and existing floodlights are in a good state of repair. The fencing
requires some minor works but this will be undertaken by contractors appointed and paid
for by Active Tameside.
Constraints
The site will need to be taken out of use for a 4 week period. The loss of income
experienced during this period will be met by Active Tameside. Active Tameside will give
full and unfettered access to the site.

2.19

Dependencies
None

3.0

OPTIONS FOR INVESTMENT

3.1

Do Nothing
Summary – if the pitch surfacing isn’t replaced then the pitches will close for health and
safety reasons.

3.2

Benefits - there are no perceived benefits other than reducing the funding pressure on the
approved capital programme.

3.3

Risks – the risks associated with the do nothing option are as follows:
 Inability to maintain or reduce the management fee paid to Active Tameside.
 Lack of improvement to physical inactivity targets and achievement of associated health
outcomes.
 Ongoing financial risk to the operator – no cash reserves. Inability to realise
opportunities to generate additional income. Reputational damage to the Council – the
closure of the facility will result in the displacement of a large number of clubs (the
displacement of 550 visits per week on average).

3.4

Cost – the pitches currently generate an annual surplus of £0.042m. This will not be
realised if the pitches temporarily or permanently close.

3.5

Wider Impacts - As set out in 3.1.2

3.6

Option Two
Summary – undertake repair work to extend the life of the synthetic pitch surfacing in order
to delay its replacement.

3.7

Benefits – would reduce the initial capital spend requirement.

3.8

Risk – the pitches are well beyond their design life and ongoing repairs have become
uneconomical. Repairs would only delay the replacement by approximately 1 year.
Repeated closure for repair would lead to customer displacement and dissatisfaction.

3.9

Cost
£0.020m

Page 36

3.10

Option Three
Summary – undertake the synthetic turf replacement at a capital cost of £0.120m.

3.11

Benefits - the Council and Active Tameside has a duty of care to the users of the leisure
estate. Consequently, if the pitches become unsafe to operate then they will be taken out
of use. There is a statutory duty on local authorities to address health inequalities.
The pitches generate an annual surplus for Active Tameside of £0.042m which contributes
towards the annual budget of Active Tameside. If the pitches cease to operate the surplus
would not be realised resulting in adverse budgetary impact. Investment in Sport and
Physical Activity is an ‘invest to save’ opportunity which directly impacts upon the health
and wellbeing of the local population and reduces the demand for more costly health and
social care services. The loss of the pitches will result in significant displacement of users
estimated to be an average of 550 visits per week (Data supplied by Active Tameside).
The displacement will inevitably result in a reduced number of people participating in
regular physical activity.

3.12

Risks – there is a risk that the tender prices will come in higher than the stated budget
request. The sister facility at Active Copley was replaced 3 years ago from which the
current estimate of cost has been derived with an inflationary uplift.

3.13

Costs
The cost of this option is approximately £0.120m.

4.0

PROJECT DELIVERY

4.1

Procurement Plan and Timescales
If approved the process and timeline will be as follows:
Tender work on the Chest (4 weeks)
Appoint contractor and mobilise
Installation
Handover

September 2019
September 2019
October/November 2019
November 2019

5.0

FINANCIAL INVESTMENT REQUIRED

5.1

Financial Case
2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

£0.100m

£0.100m

£0.100m

£0.100m

Total

Recurrent budget
£0.100m
One-off investment (capital)
Pitch Installation
£0.092m
Consultant
£0.015m
Contingency
£0.015m
Fees @ 10%
£0.011m
Total
£0.120m
VAT impact

£0.092m
£0.015m
£0.015m
£0.011m
£0.120m
£0.00m

Savings
£0.00m
Income Generation
Existing Surplus
Additional Surplus
Total

£0.042m
£0.010m
£0.052m

£0.042m
£0.010m
£0.052m

Page 37

£0.042m
£0.010m
£0.052m

£0.042m
£0.010m
£0.052m

5.2

The additional surplus of £0.010m per year will be set aside by Active Tameside as a
sinking fund to replace the pitch is circa 10 years’ time.

6.0

EXIT STRATEGY AND REVENUE CONSEQUENCES

6.1

Once the pitches have been completed they will be handed over to Active Tameside to
manage and maintain. The pitches currently generate an annual surplus of £0.042m which
contributes towards the annual budget of Active Tameside. If the pitches cease to operate
the surplus would not be realised resulting in adverse budgetary impact. A new facility will
generate additional income, as set out in table 5.1, due to demand in the locality. The
additional income will be used to generate a sinking fund which will be used by Active
Tameside, or the incumbent operator, to replace the pitches in an estimated 10 years’ time.
The Council will not be required to upgrade the facility in the future. The requirement for
the operator to resurface the pitches will be set out in the new facility lease which will come
in to effect from the 1 April 2024. It is the intension to establish a full repairing lease
moving the current replacement liability from the Council to the operator.

7.0

VAT IMPLICATIONS

7.1

Finance Officers have confirmed that there is no direct income generated for / by the
Council. Consequently the Council can recover the VAT on the capital expenditure and
there is no impact on the Council’s partial exemption position.

8.0

PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND MONITORING

8.1

The project will be managed and monitored by the Investment and Development Capital
Projects Team. If approved, regular updates will be included in the Leisure Investment
Programme report to SPCMP.

Page 38

Agenda Item 5d
Report to:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

25 September 2019

Reporting Officer:

Councillor Oliver Ryan, Executive Member (Finance and Economic
Growth
Councillor Allison Gwynne, Executive Member (Neighbourhoods,
Community Safety and Environment)
Jeanelle de Gruchy, Director of Population Health

Subject:

ACTIVE HYDE POOL EXTENSION SCHEME

Report Summary:

Additional capital is required if the Active Hyde Pool Extension
scheme is to proceed as planned. This report presents the
background, cost implications and a recommendation to proceed
based on the strategic case set out in section 2 of this report.

Recommendations:

That the capital budget for the scheme be increased by £0.570m
in the approved capital programme from £3.464m to £4.034m.

Corporate Plan:

The Community Strategy 2012/22 (and the Corporate Plan Our
People Our Place Our Plan) outlines the priorities for improving the
Borough. The Leisure Assets Capital Investment Programme
directly links to the Tameside Sustainable Community Strategy
objective of ‘Healthy Tameside’

Policy Implications:

The Leisure Assets Capital Investment Programme supports the
Tameside Corporate Plan and specifically the ‘Increase Levels of
Physical Activity’ priority.

Financial Implications:
(Authorised by the
statutory Section 151
Officer & Chief Finance
Officer)

A revised budget of £3.096m for the extension of Active Hyde was
approved by Executive Cabinet in August 2017. In addition, a
further £0.088m was approved by Executive Cabinet in March
2018 and a further £0.280m by Executive Cabinet in December
2018, increasing the capital allocation for the project to a total of
£3.464m.
The report sets out the factors that have contributed to the delays
and retender of this project. Following the latest tender exercise,
the total estimated cost of the scheme is now £4.043m and
additional budget of £0.570m is required as follows:
Total approved scheme budget

£3.464m

Forecast cost of the scheme

£4.034m

Additional Budget Required

£0.570m

The additional budget is required to enable the scheme to
progress. Members will recall that a prioritisation exercise was
undertaken earlier in 2019 and a prioritised capital programme
was approved by Executive Cabinet at its meeting on 27 March
2019. Approval of this additional budget will place additional
pressures on the Council’s Capital Programme.

Page 39

Legal Implications:
(Authorised by the
Borough Solicitor)

The construction industry is in a poor state particularly with
collapse or near collapse of big players and therefore prices are
continuing to rise. Cabinet need to decide if to proceed at the
increased cost still meeting health and wellbeing priorities and if so
then proceed – there have been three properly executed
procurements and we have only ended up with one compliant bid
so if we are in agreement to proceed we must do so expediently

Risk Management:

Contained within the main body of the report.

Background Information:

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting Debbie Watson, Assistant Director of Population Health
Telephone: 0161 342 2842
e-mail: debbie.watson@tameside.gov.uk

Page 40

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

The Active Hyde Pool extension scheme is part of the Council’s sport and leisure facility
investment programme approved by Executive Cabinet on 24 March 2016. The aim of the
programme is to provide high quality sports and leisure facilities creating a platform to
reduce physical inactivity and supporting the development of a sustainable funding model
for Active Tameside.

1.2

The schemes that currently form part of the leisure facility investment programme include;
Completed
 Active Copley heating system replacement - £0.392m).
 Active Copley pitch replacement scheme - (£0.177m).
 Active Medlock roof replacement scheme - £0.130m).
 Active Dukinfield development (ITRAIN) – (£1.3m Council investment & £1m repayable
loan by Active Tameside).
 Active Longdendale Development (Total Adrenaline) – (£0.600m repayable loan by
Active Tameside).
In development
 Tameside Wellness Centre - (£16.374m)
 Active Hyde Pool extension scheme - (£3.464m)
 Medlock pitch replacement scheme - (£0.120m)
 Floodlight replacement scheme at Richmond Street, Ashton- (£0.100m)
 Active Ashton Pool condition survey.

1.3

An update on progress is routinely reported to SPCMP.

1.4

The development proposal for Active Hyde emanated from an extensive consultation
exercise including strategic partners such as Sport England and Active Tameside. An
independent consultancy report carried out in Autumn 2015, and reported to Executive
Cabinet on 15th Dec 2015, supported these proposals with the extension to Hyde Pool
increasing water space and therefore mitigating the detrimental impact upon school
swimming and swimming lessons for Tameside residents.
The development currently
comprises:
 A 25m x 6 lane swimming pool designed to Sport England specification.
 Family changing accommodation, group changing rooms for schools and a “changing
places” room for individuals with special needs.
 Spectator seating.
 The pool extension, which has full planning permission, will be serviced by the existing
Active Hyde car park, entrance and reception desk along with catering and other
ancillary facilities.

1.5

Additional capital is required if the Active Hyde Pool Extension scheme is to proceed as
planned. This report presents the background, cost implications and a recommendation to
proceed based on the strategic case set out in section 2 of this report.

2.

STRATEGIC CASE FOR THE EXTENSION OF ACTIVE HYDE

2.1

Local authorities have a central role to play when it comes to the provision of community
sport and recreation facilities and are responsible for the health outcomes for their
populations – as specified in the Public Health Outcomes Framework. As part of the
health reforms brought in by the Health and Social Care Act 2012, local authorities have a
duty to take such steps as they consider appropriate for improving the health of the people
in their area. The steps listed in legislation include:

Page 41







Providing information and advice.
Providing services or facilities designed to promote healthy living.
Providing services or facilities for the prevention, diagnosis or treatment of illness.
Providing assistance to help individuals to minimise any risks to health arising from their
accommodation or environment.
Making any other services or facilities available

2.2

The review of the Tameside leisure estate is one component part of a much larger piece of
work aimed at reducing physical inactivity in Tameside and enhancing the role that physical
activity can play in improving the health of the local population, reducing avoidable demand
for health and social care services, and contributing to economic growth and prosperity in
the Borough. Investment in Sports and Physical Activity is an ‘invest to save’ opportunity
which directly impacts upon the health and wellbeing of the local population and reduces
the demand for more costly health and social care services.

2.3

There is an overall deficit of swimming pool water provision across Tameside. The Sport
England Facilities Planning Model illustrates that there is a deficit of water space across
Tameside of 520m². This will be addressed in part by the development of the new
Tameside Wellness Centre in Denton and the planned new swimming pool for Hyde which
will significantly reduce the current deficit.

2.4

Facilities for swimming are important to the residents of Tameside. Public consultation has
shown that the community was concerned about the potential loss of swimming provision
and how this would impact upon people’s health. This is further evidenced by the reliance
on the swimming pools from schools, clubs and the significant amount of swimming lessons
being delivered. The public consultation undertaken with local groups and residents on the
designs for the new facility in Denton supported the need for swimming pools generally.
The respondents to the public consultation stated that the swimming pools are the facility
that they were most likely to use.

2.5

Progressing with the Hyde Pool extension scheme as planned will deliver the following
strategic benefit:
 Support the health outcomes envisaged in the wider leisure asset development
programme.
 Will continue to support Active Tameside to provide school swimming lesson
programme for primary schools in Dukinfield and Hyde.
 Significantly reduce the subsidy provided, in the form of a Management Fee, for the
operation of the Council’s leisure facilities. Estimated to be £6,000 per month.
 Provide a broader range of services available at Active Hyde to one of Tameside’s most
deprived communities.
 Improved “learn to swim” programme in a conventional pool tank. The existing pool at
Active Hyde isn’t designed to facilitate a high quality swim programme.
 Improved facilities for competitive swim clubs. The existing pool cannot be used for
competitive swimming.
 Avoid reputational damage to the Council by not progressing with the scheme – The
remodelling of Active Dukinfield (now ITRAIN) was predicated on the development
proposal at Active Hyde. Clubs have been displaced to other facilities on the
understanding that they would relocate to Hyde once completed.
 Schools displaced by the redevelopment of Active Dukinfield will be able to relocate to
Active Hyde minimising travel costs and time out of the classroom due to extended
journey times.

3

PROCUREMENT & COST

3.1

The Hyde Pool extension scheme is being procured and managed by the LEP on behalf of
the council. The scheme comes with a significant degree of risk and complexity as the

Page 42

project involves extending a existing “leisure pool” facility that is 35 years old. The
complexity and risk associated with the project has resulted in two contractors withdrawing
at the last minute, the first for unspecified reasons and the second due to concerns about
the general local construction market and a change in approach to risk within the company.
This has resulted in the need to retender the project again and has caused further delays.
The most recent tender exercise has been concluded by the LEP. The outcome has
resulted in a significant cost increase.
3.2

The LEP has worked hard to keep costs under control. However, the cost increases
experienced in the latest tender exercise have been attributed by the contractors due to
general construction inflation and the volatility of sub-contractor pricing, particularly from
mechanical and electrical contractors who appear to be increasing their prices and the
increasing cost of steel. In addition, main contractors are reviewing their approach to risk
when pricing projects, which is also generally increasing construction costs.

3.3

A revised budget of £3.096m for the extension of Active Hyde was approved by Executive
Cabinet on 31 August 2017. In addition, a further £88,280 was approved by Executive
Cabinet on 21 March 2018 to increase the capital allocation to £3.184m in the 2018-2019
Capital Programme. It was envisaged that the additional capital would enable work to start
on site in May 2018 subject to contract. The budget for the Active Hyde pool scheme,
approved by Executive Cabinet on 12 December 2018, was increased by £280,000 to
£3.464m. This increase was due to the need to revisit the tenders after the withdrawal of
the preferred contractor just before the signing of contracts.

3.4

The projected cost of the sub contract following the latest tender exercise is £3.667m.
The cost and budget summary is as follows:
Cost Element

Cost

Latest tender price

£3.667m

Project management and
other associated fees

£0.182m

Spend to date

£0.185m

Forecast Total Cost

£4.034m

Total approved Budget

£3.464m

Budget Shortfall

£0.570m

Comments

Design Development

4

CONCLUSION

4.1

The strategic benefit of the Active Hyde Pool Extension scheme, as part of the Leisure
Investment Programme, is significant. The development is a key component in improving
health outcomes in what is one of Tameside’s most deprived communities. As the
construction market is volatile, time is of the essence and an urgent decision is needed to
ensure the project can be delivered.

5.

RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1

As set out on the front of the report.

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5e
Report To:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

25 September 2019

Executive
Member/Reporting Officer:

Councillor Allison Gwynne – Neighbourhoods, Community Safety
and Environment
Emma Varnam
Neighbourhoods

–

Assistant

Director,

Operations

and

Subject:

COUNCIL FLEET REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME 2019/20

Report Summary:

The Council currently operates a fleet of 164 vehicles of varying
types from vans, gritting lorries, to refuse vehicles, providing
numerous services to the residents of the Borough.
Reports for the replacement of the Fleet 2012, 2015, 2016, 2017
and 2018 have been approved by Executive Cabinet. There are
now 21 vehicles that require replacing under the Fleet
Replacement Programme.
It is now essential to the continued operation of services that the
21 vehicles are replaced in 2019/2020.
This report sets out the business case for the replacement of
these vehicles and identifies the requirement for the Council to
have in place a Strategic Fleet Replacement Strategy to ensure
that the Council can continue to deliver operational services
directly.

Recommendations:

To support and recommend Option 2, as detailed below:
1
The authorisation for Transport Services to procure 21
vehicles identified in the report via a competitive tendering
process, the process to be undertaken by the Councils
procurement partner STAR, and recharge service areas
an annual rental to cover purchase, borrowing and
maintenance costs covering the periods of 5 and 8 years.
The vehicle due replacement are:
 9 x Refuse Collection Vehicles.
 7 x Compact Road Sweepers
 1 x 26T Hooklift Gritter
 1 x JCB Telehandler
 3 x Ride on Lawn Mowers
2
Based upon the results of the financial appraisal it is
recommended that approval is granted for the purchase of
the 21 vehicles detailed in the main body of the report to
be procured via borrowing.
3
That the additional costs of all electric bin lifts for the 9
refuse vehicles be approved.
4
That all procurement costs are paid back via the vehicles
rentals by services revenue budgets.

Links to Community
Strategy:

The purchase of the vehicles will enable the Council to continue
to provide its services to the Citizens of the Borough

Policy Implications:

The purchase of the vehicles is an essential requirement for the
Council to provide services to the community in a safe manner in
line with its obligations as an operator of large goods vehicles and
the proposed procurement option supports the Council’s green
agenda.

Page 45

Financial Implications:
(Authorised By Section 151
Officer)

The preferred option of this business case is Option 2, the
procurement of 21 vehicles at a cost of £2.406m funded by
borrowing.
Financial Options Appraisal of the proposed procurement of
the 21 Vehicles
Set out in Table 3 of this report is a financial options appraisal of
the estimated present values of the 21 vehicles, comparing
operating lease, finance lease and borrowing. The use of
borrowing represents the best value option for all the new
vehicles, apart from the 3 Ride on Mowers. An operating lease
would appear to be the best value option for the Mowers;
however, ownership gives the Council’s Transport service
flexibility. Taking into consideration flexibility and the very small
cost difference it is recommended that the 21 vehicles be
financed by borrowing, and repaid through the service revenue
budgets
Cost to the Service
Set out in Appendix 1 is the cost of the existing 21 vehicles by,
service area, compared to the cost of the proposed replacements
vehicles. This shows an increase in costs compared to current
charges.
There is an increase in annual charges to Waste Services of £15k
per annum which will be offset by an annual saving in fuel costs
as set out in section 2.18 of this report.
There is revenue budget provision within Operations and
Greenspace for the increase in annual costs of £140k which is
currently not being spent because existing vehicles were fully
paid for in previous years.
The increase in cost of £43k for Engineering Operations will be
recovered through the trading account activity in that area.

Legal Implications:
(Authorised By The Borough
Solicitor)

The Council needs to develop a Fleet Replacement Strategy to
ensure we address our service delivery needs whilst effectively
planning the budget needs to replace the vehicles on a cyclical
basis.

Risk Management:

Set out in the report in Tables 1 & 2.

Access to Information:

The background papers can be obtained from the authors of the
report:
Alan Jackson, Head of Highways and Transport
Telephone: 0161 342 2818
e-mail: alan.jackson@tameside.gov.uk
Mark Ellison, Transport Services – Group Engineering Manager
Telephone: 0161 342 2758
e-mail: mark.ellison@tameside.gov.uk

Page 46

1.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1

Proposed Investment
The procurement by Transport Services of 21 vehicles identified in the report via a
competitive tendering process.

1.2

The process to be undertaken by the Council’s procurement partner STAR, and to recharge
service areas an annual rental to cover purchase, borrowing/lease and maintenance costs
covering the periods of 5 and 8 years.

1.3

The vehicles due replacement are:






9 x Refuse Collection Vehicles.
7 x Compact Road Sweepers
1 x 26T Hooklift Gritter
1 x JCB Telehandler
3 x Ride on Lawn Mowers

1.4

Options for Investment
Two options including a “do nothing” option (Option 1) have been explored. Option 2 is the
preferred option and is supported by a separate financial appraisal in Table 3.

1.5

Option 1 will result in the Council being unable to deliver essential services.

1.6

Project Delivery
The delivery of the project will be managed through the Council’s arrangements with STAR
and Transport Services.

1.7

Financial Investment Requirement
Option 2 is the preferred option and will require an initial capital investment of £2.406M plus
financing costs.

1.8

Project Management and Monitoring
The project management will be undertaken by the Council’s Transport Services and STAR
and is a procurement based exercise.

1.9

Conclusion
Option 2 is the preferred option with procurement taking place via borrowing arrangements.
The replacement costs will be £2.406M plus financing costs.

2.

PROPOSED INVESTMENT

2.1

Background and Existing Arrangements
Council Fleet
The Council operates a large and varied fleet of vehicles and equipment to enable it to
provide core services to the citizens of the Borough. Since 2011 the Transport Fleet has
reduced by 25.4% from 220 vehicles to 164. The Fleet is made up of vehicles of mixed
ages and types, on an agreed programme of annual replacements.

2.2

Reports for the replacement of the Fleet 2012, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 have previously
been approved.

2.3

Of the 164 vehicles, 21 are in urgent need of replacement due to them coming to the end of
their effective operational life.

Page 47

2.4

This report details the business case for the replacement of the 21 Fleet vehicles to support
the delivery of Council services and in the future these will be included in the strategic
overview identified below.

2.5

It is not practical or advisable to extend the period of ownership of these vehicles further
due to increased maintenance, a decrease in reliability that would result in increased
operational downtime, increased costs and safety issues.

2.6

Council Service Provision – Strategic Fleet Replacement Strategy
In the identification of the Council’s Fleet requirements consideration must be given to
many factors. Fleet vehicles support the provision of both direct operational services to the
public (for example, refuse collection vehicles) and also support services (for example, vans
for IT support to out-stations).

2.7

Transport Services discuss and challenge operational services managers to identify Fleet
savings. All of the vehicles listed for replacement in this report have been identified by the
managers of the service areas as essential for the operation of these services and, equally
as important, within funding envelopes to pay back any borrowing or Capital expenditure.

2.8

Moving forward it is essential that the Council has a strategic framework for its continued
Fleet Replacement Programme.

2.9

A Strategic Fleet Replacement Strategy is currently being prepared for approval to ensure
that continued delivery of Council Services is supported.

2.10

Council Fleet and Air Quality Considerations
In light of the government’s statement to ban the sale of diesel cars from 2040 and the
current failings of UK cities to meet its air quality targets, it is prudent for the Council to
consider this in its future Fleet Replacement Programme.

2.11

Furthermore, the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) together with the GM
Mayor have produced an Air Quality Action Plan as part of the GM Strategy in order to meet
Air Quality targets.

2.12

The current Fleet has an average age of almost 8 years and operates on Euro 3, 4 and 5
type engines. Whilst there is currently no provision in the market place for Ultra Low
Emission Vehicles (ULEV) for the municipal sector; all vehicles procured will be of the latest
EU standard for emissions (Euro 6).

2.13

The 9 Refuse Collection Vehicles will be fitted with full all electric bin lifting equipment that
will reduce fuel consumption by approximately 9%, therefore reducing emissions, and also
provide benefits of reduced noise pollution.

2.14

A refuse vehicle achieves on average an annual fuel usage of 12,000 litres per year at an
average cost of 0.96 pence per litre.

2.15

This equates to a saving of 1,080 litres per annum which = £1,036.80 per annum.

2.16

The additional costs of the electric lifts over base hydraulic lifts are circa £6,500 per vehicle.

2.17

Over the vehicles 8 year life a fuel cost saving of £8,294.40 can be anticipated.

2.18

Fuel Savings over 8 years = £8294.40, minus the additional purchase costs of £6,500,
giving an estimated saving of £1,794.40 per vehicle.

Page 48

2.19

Carbon savings
Fuel savings over 8 years = 8,640 litres = carbon reduction of 25.06 tonnes x 9 vehicles
equating to a potential carbon reduction 225.504 tonnes over the 8 year life.

2.20

Following a successful trial demonstration, the Head of Waste Services has agreed that the
use of the all-electric bin-lifting equipment is the correct option going forward.

3.

OPTIONS FOR INVESTMENT

3.1

3.2

3.3

Option 1: Do Nothing
Summary
The Council would continue with the existing fleet but these vehicles would face increasing
breakdowns, down-time and reduced service delivery at increased cost.
Benefits
There are no additional capital costs with this option, but this would result in additional
breakdowns, loss of service delivery, additional hire costs and increased maintenance costs.
There will also be the impact of the workforce being stood down and the subsequent
reputational damage.
Risks
Any extensions to the Fleet age profile would put additional burden on maintenance
provision; this would still result in increased vehicle down time.

3.4

As vehicles age harmful emissions increase with engine wear, further increasing air quality
risks.

3.5

Additional financial provision for short term replacement would be required.

3.6

As vehicle lives are extended and worked harder, there will be an increase in breakdowns
and additional off-road time for maintenance.

3.7

Vehicle down-time results in loss of productivity and efficiency of the workforce.

3.8

The increased vehicle downtime would inevitably lead to an increase in the use of short
term rental vehicles to supplement the increased vehicle downtime. This would come at a
significant financial cost.

3.9

Risks associated with this option are listed in Table 1 below, together with mitigating
actions.

Page 49

Table 1: Option 1 Risk Summary

Risk
Impact on Service
Delivery
Impact on Air Quality
All vehicles require
replacement next year
Compliance with
Procurement Standing
orders

Increased costs:
Servicing / Repairs
Downtime
Replacement hires
Staff time

3.10
3.11

Not Replacing Fleet – “Do Nothing”
Impact
Mitigating
Actions
Downtime /
Replace Fleet
inefficiencies
Increase in harmful
Replace engines/
emissions
or Fleet item
Cost/safety
Replace Fleet
Increased use of
Short term hire
vehicles to support
vehicle downtime
due to mechanical
failure or routine
maintenance
Increased costs:
Servicing
/
Repairs
Downtime
Replacement
hires
Staff time

Outcome
New Fleet
New Fleet
New Fleet

Support fleet
under short term
hire framework
contract

Temporary
solution only
short term hire
can be used
from 1 day to 1
year.

Replace Fleet

New Fleet

Option 2: Replacement of the Fleet
Summary
The Council replaces the 21 vehicles as per its replacement programme
Benefits
The Council will continue to be in a position to deliver its essential services without being
reliant on inefficient fleet arrangements and the Council will also be in a stronger position to
meet its clean air obligations.

3.12

Costs
The investment required to replace the fleet is estimated at £2.406M. The financial
implications and the preferred procurement methods are detailed below in Section 4.

3.13

Risks
Risks associated with this option are listed in Table 2 below, together with mitigating
actions.

Page 50

Table 2: Option 2 Risk Summary

Risk

Impact

Replacing Fleet
Mitigating Actions

Outcome

Price
increases

Additional Costs

Procurement processes

Subject to market
forces

Reduction in
Services
Stopping of
Services
Service
Provided by
third party
Residual
values

Possible Fleet surplus

New Fleet – higher
residual value
New Fleet – higher
residual value
Include in arrangements
with provider to utilise
Council Fleet
Subject to market forces

Risk minimised

Delivery
Times

Service delivery /
safety

Possible Fleet surplus
Possible Fleet surplus

Cost shortfall

Early decision

Risk minimised
Risk minimised

Still provides
Council with cost
effective option for
fleet replacement
Urgent action
required

4

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

4.1

Historical Perspective
Consideration in the past for the makeup of the Council’s Fleet has been based on the
requirements of service areas.

4.2

The Council recently moved away from the more expensive option of lease hire to direct
purchase via borrowing, resulting in significant savings to the Council.

4.3

However, consideration must also be given to lease arrangements and this task was
undertaken as part of the financial modelling exercise.

4.4

Estimated Replacement Costs for Identified Vehicles
To replace the vehicles identified in Appendix 1, it is expected to cost the authority as per
the breakdown below:




Purchase costs 21 vehicles
Plus borrowing costs
Total Costs

= £2,406,000
= £238,322
= £2,644,322

4.5

The purchase costs are taken from the previous procurement in 2016/17 and manufacturer
quotations outside of a competitive tendering exercise.

4.6

It is anticipated that a reduction on these prices could be achieved through the tender
process. However, the opposite must also be considered as manufacturing costs increase.

4.7

It is anticipated based on the prices above (as best as can be determined outside of a
formal tender) that the actual cost to the Council will be as per Table 3.

4.8

The vehicles will have an operational life of 8 years, with the exception of the Compact
Road Sweepers and Ride on Mowers, which have an anticipated life of 5 years, and costing
information has been applied to these vehicles on this basis. The borrowing / lease periods
are designed to match operational lives of the vehicles and equipment.

Page 51

Procurement Options
An exercise needs to be completed with the Council’s Treasury Management Team and
financial advisors, LINK Asset Services, to identify the most advantageous financial options
for the procurement of the 21 Fleet items. Three different methods were explored as
options available to the Council; the options were as follows:

4.9



Operating Lease – Under an operating lease the Council would pay regular rental
payments to the supplier, and at the end of the lease agreement the Vehicles would return
to the supplier. The Council would not have ownership of the vehicles at any point under an
operating lease.



Finance Lease – Under a Finance Lease the Council would make regular payments to the
supplier, the payments would be made up of a Principal repayment element and an interest
element. At the end of the lease term the ownership of the vehicles would be with the
Council.



Borrowing – The Council would acquire outright ownership of the vehicles at the outset
and would make a one-off payment to the supplier. The Council would then be required to
repay the borrowing over the operation life of the vehicles. Estimates at the time of writing
this report indicate that interest rates of 1.24% and 1.39% will be applicable (subject to
market fluctuations) over 5 and 8 years respectively.

4.10

Table 3, below, shows a comparison of the financial options appraisal
Table 3: Financial Options

Vehicle Type

Dennis Olympus
26 Ton Refuse
Collection vehicle
Schmidt 4.5 Ton
Compact Road /
Pavement
Sweeper
Daf CF 75 26 Ton
Hooklift Tipper
Gritter
JCB Telehandler /
Loader
Ransome HR300
Ride on Mower
Total
Procurement
Costs

Number
Optimum
Required Operational
Life

Estimated
Procurement
Costs

Estimated Present Value of all
Cash Flows*
Operating Finance Borrowing
Lease
Lease

9

Years
8

£’000
1,575

£’000
1,516

£’000
1,531

£’000
1,450

7

5

525

499

492

473

1

8

185

178

171

162

1

8

52

46

48

45

3

5

69

57

61

59

2,406

2,296

2,303

2,189

*Present Value is the total value of all associated cash flows with future years
discounted in line with the HM Treasury Green Book. It includes consideration for
resale value for the finance lease and borrowing options.
4.11

The use of borrowing represents the best value option for all the new vehicles, apart from
the three Ride on Mowers.

Page 52

4.12

With a £2,000 lower cost, an operating lease would appear to be the best value option for
the Mowers. However ownership gives the Council’s Transport Service flexibility. Taking
into consideration flexibility and cost difference, borrowing needs to be considered as an
alternative option.

4.13

Based on the results of the financial appraisal and taking into consideration the flexibility of
ownership, it is recommended that the 21 vehicles be financed by borrowing.

4.14

Cost to Services
The 21 vehicles listed in this report support the operations as shown in Appendix 1.

4.15

The estimated annual cost to Services is based on purchase costs, plus maintenance
charges and borrowing costs. The details are included in Appendix 1.

4.16

There is budget provision within Waste Services and Operations and Greenspace for the
increase in annual costs. The increase in cost for Engineering Operations will be managed
through the trading account in that area.

5.

PROJECT DETAILS

5.1

This project is a procurement lead specification and delivery procurement exercise, with a
Project Plan included below in Table 4.
Table 4 – Timescales & Milestones
Preparation of documents including
specification
Invitation to suppliers to submit bid
Removal of seal
Evaluation exercise
Award and voluntary standstill period
Meet with successful suppliers
Delivery of vehicles

30 days
30 days
2 days
14 days
10 days
7 days +
Various per
vehicle

August 2019
November 2019
January 2020
January 2020
January 2020
February 2020
Subject to build times

5.2

The project management and project delivery will be undertaken by the Council’s Transport
Services and STAR and is a procurement based exercise

6.

CONCLUSION

6.1

Option 2 is the preferred option with procurement of the 21 fleet items taking place via
borrowing and lease arrangements, with the capital investment costs estimated at £2.406M.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

As set out at the front of the report.

Page 53

APPENDIX 1: COST TO SERVICES

Vehicle
Type

Optimum
Number Operational
Life

Council
Service

Years

Page 54

Dennis
Olympus
26 Ton
Refuse
Collection
vehicle
Schmidt 4.5
Ton
Compact
Road /
Pavement
Sweeper
Daf CF 75
26 Ton
Hooklift
Tipper
Gritter
JCB
Telehandler
/ Loader
Ransome
HR300
Ride on
Mower

Estimated
Purchase
Cost

Borrowing
Cost
8 years
@1.39%
5 years
@1.24%

Current
Vehicle Increased
Annual
/
Core
(Reduced)
Hire
Charge
Fee

Total Estimated
Cost

New Vehicle
Annual Core
Hire Fee

£

£

£

£

1,575,000

175,140

1,750,140

432,396 417,391

£

£

8

Waste
Services

7

5

*Operations
and
Greenspace
/ Street
Cleansing

525,000

32,550

557,550

200,879

73,228

127,651

1

8

Engineering
Operations

185,000

20,572

205,572

43,581

12,029

31,552

1

8

Engineering
Operations

52,000

5,782

57,782

16,624

5,254

11,370

5

Operations
and
Greenspace.
Grounds
Maintenance

69,000

4,278

73,278

24,024

11,135

12,889

2,406,000

238,322

2,644,322

717,504 519,037

198,467

9

3

Total

* Operations and Greenspace / Street Cleansing – Currently maintenance only – no replacement cost charges

15,005

Agenda Item 6a
Report to:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

25 September 2019

Executive Member/Reporting
Officer:

Councillor Eleanor Wills – Executive Member Adult Social Care
and Population Health
Councillor Oliver Ryan – Executive Member Finance and
Economic Growth
Sandra Whitehead – Assistant Director, Adults

Subject:

APPROVAL OF REVISED DEFERRED PAYMENT POLICY

Report Summary:

In April 2019 Executive Cabinet approved amendments to the
Council’s Deferred Payment Policy that gave clarification on how
the Council will meet its duties and to enter into deferred payment
agreements with people who are eligible and permission was
given to consult on a number of powers the Council has under
Care Act 2014 with regards to deferred payments.
This report provides details of the powers that were covered by
the consultation and describes the Council’s preferred application
of these powers.
A copy of the revised policy is appended.

Recommendations:

That Executive Cabinet be recommended to approve the
following:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
(v)

That an administrative fee of £750.00 is introduced from 1
October 2019. This will be reviewed annually and it is
proposed that any uplift in the fee is included in the annual
Fees and Charges Report in future years to ensure the review
and uplift is applied.
That interest is charged at 0.15% above the market gilt rate
set bi-annually by the Office of Budget Responsibility. This
will be reviewed twice per year and any variation will be
communicated to the proprietor.
That the Council will offer two options to pay from income:
 To pay a contribution that has been determined through
the financial assessment process as the maximum amount
a service user can afford allowing for a minimum income
guarantee;
 To allow for additional agreed ad hoc payments to be
made against deferred amounts.
That if necessary the Council will arrange insurance to ensure
that the property is insured and maintained by the proprietor.
Should the proprietor not ensure that the property is
maintained the Council has the right to put this place and recharge the individual the full cost of the repairs and/or
maintenance. The Council will retain its discretion to carry out
maintenance and repairs on properties to be rented out and
such decisions will be considered on an individual basis.

Corporate Plan:

Aligned with the Corporate Plan

Policy Implications:

The Adult Social Care Deferred Payments Policy had been in
place from August 2015, with some changes being approved at
Executive Cabinet in April 2019. Following a consultation exercise
it is appropriate to seek permission for further amendments to
ensure that
it continues
Page
55 to reflect the duties and responsibilities

placed on local councils under the Care Act 2014.
Financial Implications:
(Authorised by the statutory
Section 151 Officer & Chief
Finance Officer)

Section 5 of the report details the proposed additions and
amendments to the current Deferred Payment Policy.
Members should note that the proposed administration fee of £
750 for introduction from 1 October 2019 will be reviewed annually
and in advance of the start of each financial year. The proposed
future annual charge will be included within the fees and charges
schedule of the Council budget report. Administration fees levied
will be allocated to the Exchequer Services directorate budget of
the Council.
Any interest charge levied on the deferred payment debt balance
as detailed in section 5.1 will be allocated to the Finance
directorate budget. Interest will be charged at the national
maximum interest rate in accordance with the Regulations. This is
currently 0.15% above the market gilts rate specified in the most
recently published report by the Office of Budget Responsibility.
This is currently published in the Economic and Fiscal Outlook,
which is usually published twice-yearly alongside the Budget and
Autumn Statement. Market gilt rates have remained reasonably
stable over recent years. However, at this stage it is unknown
whether this will remain the case once the outcome of the
proposed exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union is
concluded.
The proprietor will be wholly liable for any costs arranged by the
Council that relate to property insurance to safeguard that the
related property is appropriately maintained and / or the carrying
out of any actual property repairs and maintenance should these
be necessary.

Legal Implications:
(Authorised by the Borough
Solicitor)

The revised policy has been developed in consultation with Legal
Services and is considered fit for purpose as attached at
Appendix 1. Executive Cabinet are required to approve policy, to
ensure the Council has workable policies and procedures which
are fair and robust, and stand up to judicial and ombudsman
scrutiny if challenged.

Risk Management:

The risks are outlined in Section 7 of this report.

Access to Information:

Information on this report can be obtained from Sandra
Whitehead, Assistant Director Adults

Background Information:

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting Sandra Whitehead:
Telephone: 0161 342 3414
e-mail : sandra.whitehead@tameside.gov.uk

Page 56

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Services that are assessed by the Council’s Adult Services as being needed have been
subject to charging policies for a number of years.in accordance with legislation contained
in the Care Act 2014 and subsequent regulations. The Care Act allowed local councils
some discretion over what and how they charge for their services and prior to this charging
was subject to an entirely statutory regime.

1.2

There are three key sets of regulations, made pursuant to powers contained in the Care Act
2014, regarding charging for care and support provided under the Act, setting out statutory
requirements and the discretionary elements that are open to local interpretation and
decisions.

1.3

The key regulations are:




The Care and Support (Charging and Assessment of Resources) Regulations 2014;
The Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014.
The Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Amendment Regulations 2017

These regulations are subject to amendments.
1.4

The Regulations require councils to offer a Deferred Payment scheme so that service users
(usually those living in residential care) can make a decision to postpone paying for their
care if they have sufficient resources until such time that is suitable for them. In most cases
this relates to people who own their own property and who need to sell it before being able
to realise the capital to pay for their care. In these cases a charge is put against the value
of the property and any outstanding money is recouped either on the death of the service
user, or at such time that the user sells their property or has an ability to pay for their care

1.5

The Care and Support (Deferred Payments) Regulations 2014 as amended byThe Care
and Support (Deferred Payment) Amendment Regulations 2017 set out the eligibility criteria
for a deferred payment agreement.
The person's needs for care and support are:










being met under section 18 (duty to meet needs) or section 19 (power to meet needs)
of the Care Act 2014 and the care and support plan for the person specifies that the
Local Authority is going to meet the adult's needs by providing accommodation in a
care home;
not being met by the Local Authority under section 18 or section 19 of the Care Act
2014 and the Local Authority considers that if it had been asked to meet the person's
needs it would have done so by providing the person with accommodation in a care
home; or
not being or going to be met by the Local Authority under section 18 of the Care Act
2014 and are needs that the Local Authority considers it would be required to meet
under that section by providing accommodation in a care home, but for the fact that
the adult's financial resources exceed the financial limit (which means the upper
capital limit) of £23,250 in assets excluding the person's main or only home, in other
words the person is a self-funder
The Local Authority is satisfied that the adult has a legal or beneficial interest in a
property that is the person's main or only home, and where a financial assessment
pursuant to the Care Act 2014 has been carried out in respect of the person:
The value of that interest has not been disregarded in the financial assessment for
the purposes of calculating the amount of the person's capital (in other words, no
spouse, partner or dependants are living in the property); and
The capital that they own, less the value of that interest, does not exceed £23,250.
Alternatively, where a financial assessment has not been carried out in respect of the
person, this condition would stillPage
be satisfied
57 if such an assessment were carried out.

1.6

Following approval at Executive Cabinet in April 2019 to amend the Deferred Payment
Policy that had been in place since August 2015, consultation on a number of specific
matters has been conducted.

1.7

A consultation exercise has been undertaken, via the Big Conversation, from 7 May 2019 to
18 June 2019, to determine views on the proposed inclusions in the DP Policy. This report
seeks approval for the powers identified following consultation to be incorporated into the
revised policy attached at Appendix 1.

2.

BACKGROUND

2.1

For many years councils have carried out a financial assessment of someone receiving
social care support. To do this councils have been required to undertake the following:



Make decisions to set the level of charges based on local agreed rates;
Assess service user’s ability to pay for those services, taking into account their
income, assets, various welfare benefits and expenses incurred due to the nature of
any disability or ill health in accordance with national policy guidance.

2.2

These decisions were set out in the Council’s Charging Policy under the direction of Adults
Services. Exchequer Services currently carry out the financial assessments based on
information provided by social workers and service users to determine a service users’
ability to pay for services based on the policy.

2.3

Deferred Payments are a key element within the Care Act allowing people to make a choice
as to when and how they wish to pay their care costs. If a person has capital and assets
that they do not want to use immediately when they move into residential care, they can
postpone making the payment to such a time as they feel able or on their death, when their
estate will be used to pay off any outstanding debt the person may have accrued. The
Council’s interests are protected by way of a registered charge against the service user’s
property.

2.4

A cross-service review of the current Direct Payment Policy, Contract and process has
been undertaken to ensure that the Council is fulfilling its statutory duties. This has
included Audit, Exchequer Services, Legal and Finance.

3.

POWERS THE COUNCIL IS CONSULTING WITH THE PUBLIC

3.1

A consultation exercise was undertaken using the Council’s Big Conversation platform.
The consultation was seeking views on the five powers that the Council can use if they wish
to apply the following:

3.2

To charge reasonable administrative costs – The Council has the power to charge
reasonable administrative costs to set up and manage the Deferred Payment. Following
consultation and consideration of local conditions in March 2015, the Council determined
that it would charge a one-off fee of £600. The service user can choose to pay the
administration fee upfront or choose to defer the payment which will accrue interest.
The level of administrative costs and the methodology for calculating the annual uplift of the
administrative costs needs to be kept under continual review to ensure the charge is
reflective of increases in resource costs, including systems, staffing and valuation fees. The
administrative charge must be clearly stated in the revised policy.
It is proposed that the administrative costs are set at £750.00 from 1 October 2019, (see
table below) with an annual review of the costs to be undertaken. It is proposed that any
uplift in the administrative fee is included in the annual Fees and Charges Report in future
years to ensure the review and uplift
is applied.
Page
58

Proposed Administration Fee from October 2019
Land Registration Fee

£190.00

Valuations of the property (Beginning/End)

£400.00

Resources and overheads

£157.00

Communications
Total

£3.00
£750.00

Should there be a change in the methodology to calculate the fee going forwards this will
require approval in the future review of the Policy.
3.3

To determine if interest is to be charged, and if so the rate of interest to be charged – The
Council does currently charge interest on the DP debt balance. The current arrangement is
to charge interest at a maximum rate of 2.5% on its Deferred Payment Scheme. The law
sets a maximum rate that can be charged, which is 0.15% above the market gilt rate set biannually by the Office of Budget Responsibility. It follows, therefore, that the rate actually
charged must be regularly reviewed to ensure compliance. The interest rate is to cover the
costs associated with lending as well as the risk to the Council which is associated with the
lending (i.e. risk of default) as set out in the Care Act Regulations. In arriving at this rate the
Council can also demonstrate cost neutrality.
It is proposed that the interest rate be set within the statutory limit which is 0.15% above the
market gilt rate as defined by the Deferred Payment Regulations. The interest rate will be
reviewed 6 monthly to ensure it is reflective of the gilt rate. This will be included in the DP
Policy.

3.4

Requirement to pay from income – The current Policy and DPA do not describe the 4
options available to an individual by law sufficiently clearly. The options an individual has
when they decide to enter into a DP are:





To defer the whole assessed weekly care home cost;
To pay a contribution that has been determined through the financial assessment
process as the maximum amount a service user can afford from their income allowing
for a minimum income guarantee and defer the remaining cost;
To pay a level of contribution, as defined by the individual, with the remainder being
deferred;
To allow for ad hoc payments to made against deferred amounts.

The Council is proposing that it offers 2 options:



To pay a contribution that has been determined through the financial assessment
process as the maximum amount a service user can afford from their income allowing
for a minimum income guarantee and defer the remaining cost;
To allow for additional agreed ad hoc payments to made against deferred amounts.

3.5

The Council to provide insurance if necessary and re-charge proprietor – It is proposed that
this power is included in the DP Policy to ensure that the property is insured and
maintained by the proprietor to protect the Council’s security.

3.6

Maintenance and repairs to be carried out by the Council and re-charge proprietor – It is
appropriate that the proprietor arranges annual insurance and regular maintenance of the
property. Should this not be in place the Council has the right to put this place and rePage
charge the individual the full cost of this.
The59
Council will retain its discretion to carry out

maintenance and repairs on properties to be rented out and such decisions will be
considered on an individual basis in order to protect the Council’s interest in the property.
This has been discussed with Estates.

4.

RESULTS FROM CONSULTATION

4.1

The consultation was open to all members of the public via the Big Conversation web-site –
this went live on 7 May 2019. Service Users with Deferred Payment Agreements were
advised of the consultation by letter

4.2

Overall 11 respondents took part in the consultation exercise, none of whom are current
service users who have a Deferred Payment Agreement.

4.3

Full details of the feedback received is available at Appendix 2.

4.4

There is little detailed and objective comment in the feedback that can be used to inform
the decision regarding the application of the powers. One respondent has commented that
‘… this seems a sensible policy to manage council finances at the same time as meeting
need’.

4.5

One respondent is unhappy about government policy to financially assess and charge
individuals to determine their ability to pay towards their care. This is something that is
outside of the control of the Council. A concern was also raised that those with access to
advice about their wills and how to deflect payments would be at an advantage but, again,
this is not something that the Council has control over.

5.

PROPOSED INCLUSIONS IN THE DEFERRED PAYMENT POLICY

5.1

Having received no significant objections to the proposed inclusions in the DP Policy, it is
proposed that the following are included in the revised Policy:








That an administrative fee of £750.00 is introduced from 1 October 2019. This will be
reviewed annually and it is proposed that any uplift in the fee is included in the annual
Fees and Charges Report in future years to ensure the review and uplift is applied.
The current fee of £615.00 has not been re-assessed since it was originally set in
2015. The actual cost of delivering this service has been calculated to reflect the
Council resource that is employed to administer the Deferred Payment.
That interest is charged at 0.15% above the market gilt rate set bi-annually by the
Office of Budget Responsibility. This will be reviewed twice per year and any variation
will be communicated to the proprietor.
That the Council will offer two options to pay from income:
(a) To pay a contribution that has been determined through the financial
assessment process as the maximum amount a service user can afford from
their income allowing for a minimum income guarantee and defer the remainder
of the cost;
(b) To allow for additional agreed ad hoc payments to made against deferred
amounts.
That, if necessary, the Council will arrange insurance to ensure that the property is
insured and maintained by the proprietor.
Should the proprietor not ensure that the property is maintained the Council has the
right to put this place and re-charge the individual the full cost of the repairs and/or
maintenance. The Council will retain its discretion to carry out maintenance and
repairs on properties to be rented out and such decisions will be considered on an
individual basis.

Page 60

6.

EQUALITIES

6.1

The Equality Act 2010 makes certain types of discrimination unlawful on the grounds of:









6.2

Section 149, of the Equality Act 2010, the public sector equality duty (PSED) requires that a
public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:




6.3

Age;
Gender;
Race;
Gender reassignment;
Disability;
Maternity;
Sexual orientation;
Religion or belief.

Eliminate unlawful discrimination;
Promote equal opportunities between members of different equality groups;
Foster good relations between members of different equality groups including by
tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.

Having due regard to these involves:






Eliminating harassment on the grounds of membership of an equality group;
Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by members of a particular equality
group;
Taking steps to meet needs of people who are members of a particular equality group;
Encouraging people who are members of an equality group to participate in public life;
and
Taking steps to take account of disabled persons’ disabilities

6.4

The Act therefore imposes a duty on the Council which is separate from the general duty
not to discriminate. When a public authority carries out any of its functions it must have due
regard to the matters within the section of the Act outlined above. The Courts have made it
clear that a public authority is expected to rigorously exercise that duty.

6.5

A new Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been considered but it is not anticipated
that the clarity that will be offered in the reviewed Deferred Payment Policy and the
inclusion of the Council’s proposed position with regards to its powers as described in the
Care Act will impact negatively on any of the groups with protected characteristics.

6.6

An EIA was undertaken in 2016 on the Charging and Deferred Payment policies and no
material changes have been made to the Deferred Payment Policy to require an updated
EIA. The original EIA is available at Appendix 3. The intention of the policy is to create
additional options for those facing care whilst achieving an appropriate balance for the
taxpayers.

7.

RISK MANAGEMENT

7.1

The risk with any deferred payment is that the Council must fund the care service provided
for an unknown number of years until the debt is paid upon sale of the property, which is
usually upon the death of the service user. The deferred amount is in effect a ‘loan’ for
care fees.

7.2

The number of Deferred Payments in the future has the potential for a significant financial
impact; there is an increasing demographic resulting in more people living longer, not
necessarily in good health, requiring Page
care and61
support. In 2017 older people (+65s) made

up 17.7% of the local population (18% of England); by 2030 this is estimated to be 22% of
the Tameside population (20% England) according to Projecting Older People Population
Information (POPPI).
7.3

8.

In terms of amending the Policy, more service users may wish to defer their care service
fees and increase the ‘loan’ value to service users. However the Policy must reflect the
intentions of the Care Act and be transparent in its offer to residents.
CONCLUSION

8.1

The Care Act states that local councils have a duty to offer a Deferred Payment to anyone
who meets the criteria and the person has less than £23,250 in other assets.

8.2

The Council also has powers to offer a range of other services. It is proposed that the
powers, as detailed in section 5, and the Council’s application of these, are stated clearly in
the Deferred Payment Policy and applied consistently in the process to ensure
transparency.

8.3

The updated Policy and process will be published on the Council’s website and will be
shared with relevant staff and teams to ensure all apply the Policy consistently to ensure
transparency.

9.

RECOMMENDATIONS

9.1

As set out at the front of the report.

Page 62

APPENDIX 1
TAMESIDE COUNCIL’S DRAFT DEFERRED PAYMENT SCHEME POLICY

Deferred Payments Agreement Guidance
Contents
1.
Introduction
2.
Eligibility criteria
3.
Permission to refuse a deferred payment agreement
4.
Information and advice
5.
Arranging a deferred payment agreement
6.
How much can be deferred
7.
Interest rate and admin charge
8.
Circumstances in which the Council may stop deferring care costs
9.
Obtaining security
10.
Drawing up the deferred payment agreement
11.
Responsibilities of the Council whilst the deferred payment agreement is in place
12.
Your responsibilities whilst the deferred payment agreement is in place
13.
Monitoring the deferred payment agreement & Reviewing the DP Account
14.
Terminating the deferred payment agreement

Page 63

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

The Care Act 2014 requires local authorities to set up a ‘Universal Deferred Payment
Scheme’. This means that people should not be forced to sell their home in their lifetime to
pay for the care and support that they require in a residential care setting. By entering into a
Deferred Payment Agreement (‘DPA’) with the Council, this means that the person who
requires care can delay the selling of their home, or ‘defer’ paying the costs of their care
and support until a later date. This will help to provide peace of mind for people during a
particularly challenging time or crisis point in their lives, and will help them and their loved
ones during the transition into care.

1.2

A DPA provides flexibility for when and how someone pays for their care and support.
Payment for care and support is deferred and not ‘written off’ – the costs of provision of
care and support will have to be repaid by the individual (or a third party on their behalf) at a
later date.

1.3

Deferred payments are not new – local authorities were given discretionary powers to start
deferred payment schemes in the Health and Social Care Act 2001. Since April 2015 the
scheme has been universally available throughout England and local authorities have been
required to offer deferred payment agreements to people who meet certain criteria
governing eligibility for the scheme.

1.4

The Council will undertake a financial assessment of each person who approaches them
and will determine what their assessed contribution from their income should be, having
regard to the national Disposable Income Allowance. Each person will be invoiced for this
amount and any shortfall of the cost of care from this contribution may be deferred.

1.5

This policy sets out Tameside Council’s Deferred Payment Scheme which is in accordance
with the Care and Support (Deferred Payment) Regulations 2014 as amended by The Care
and Support (Deferred Payment) Amendment Regulations 2017

2.

ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA

2.1

A Local Authority is required to enter in to a Deferred Payment Agreement with an adult if
three criteria are met:

2.2

(a)

A person has care needs that require the provision of accommodation in a
care home, whether arranged by the Council or not;

(b)

A service user must have less than (or equal to) £23,250 in assets excluding
the value of their home (i.e. in savings and other non-housing assets); and

(c)

A service user’s home is not disregarded for the purposes of a financial
assessment.

The Council will use its discretion to offer a Deferred Payment Agreement to people who do
not meet the above criteria. Considerations that will be taken into account include (but are
not limited to):
(a)

(b)
(c)

Whether meeting care costs would leave someone with very few accessible
assets (this might include assets which cannot quickly/easily be liquidated or
converted to cash);
If someone would like to use wealth tied up in their home to fund more than
just their core care costs and purchase affordable top ups;
Whether somebody has any other accessible means to help them meet the
cost of their care and support and/or

Page 64

(d)

If a person is narrowly not entitled to a DPA given the criteria above, for
example, because they have slightly more than the £23,250 asset threshold.
This should include people who are likely to meet the criteria in the near
future.

2.3

The Council may also, at its discretion, enter into DPA with people whose care and support
is to be provided in supported living accommodation. However, DPAs cannot be entered
into to finance mortgage payments on supported living accommodation.

3.

PERMISSION TO REFUSE A DEFERRED PAYMENT AGREEMENT

3.1

Where the Council has a duty offer to a Deferred Payment or has chosen to make an offer
according to its discretionary powers as set out above, the person will need to consent to
the agreement terms and allow the Council to secure the debt by obtaining a Land Registry
charge on their property. The law requires that the Council must be able to secure a first
charge on the property, which may mean seeking permission from an existing lender. If this
is not possible the Council may not be able to proceed with an offer of a Deferred Payment.

3.2

The Council will also decline to offer a DPA if a person does not agree to the terms and
conditions of the Agreement, for example a requirement to insure and maintain the
property, despite someone meeting the eligibility criteria.

4.

INFORMATION AND ADVICE

4.1

The Council recognises that information and advice is fundamental to enabling people,
carers and families to take control of, and make well-informed choices about, their care and
support and how they fund it. The Council will provide clear information and advice about
the Deferred Payment scheme it offers.

4.2

Easy read formats will be made available upon request, other languages, and format
accessible to sensory impaired and people with learning disabilities about how the scheme
works

4.3

Where relevant, the Council will endeavour to provide access to information and advice on
DPAs at the earliest appropriate opportunity during the period of the 12-week property
disregard. As per the Charging Policy, the Council will disregard the value of a person’s
main or only home when the value of their non-housing assets is below the upper capital
limit for 12 weeks in the following circumstances:
(a) when they first enter a care home as a permanent resident; or
(b) when a property disregard other than the 12-week property disregard unexpectedly
ends because the qualifying relative has died or moved into a care home.
In addition, the Council has discretion to choose to apply the disregard when there is a
sudden and unexpected change in the person’s financial circumstances. In deciding
whether to do so the Council will consider the individual circumstances of the case.

4.4

The Council will aim to ensure that people are able to make a smooth transition from the
12-week disregard to the DPA if they opt to enter into an agreement. This means ensuring,
as far as possible, that a DPA is available by the first day of week 13.

4.5

Where a person may lack capacity to request a Deferred Payment, the Council will
complete a formal capacity assessment and a Deputy or Attorney (a person with a relevant

Page 65

Enduring Power of Attorney or Lasting Power of Attorney) may request a Deferred Payment
on their behalf if it is deemed to be in the person’s best interest.
4.6

If a family member requests a Deferred Payment and they do not have the legal power to
act on behalf of the person, then the family member would be advised by the Council to
seek legal advice about applying for a Lasting Power of Attorney or Deputyship Order.

4.7

The Council will not enter into a DPA with someone acting on behalf of a person lacking
mental capacity unless the appropriate arrangements are in place.

4.8

The Council will provide the person with information and advice on options for Deputyship,
Lasting Power of Attorney and advocacy.

4.9

The Council will also be able to provide some advice about renting your property out and
getting insurance arranged, etc.

5.

ARRANGING A DEFERRED PAYMENT AGREEMENT

5.1

Where a person decides that they would like to utilise the scheme, the Council will
financially assess them and calculate their assessed weekly contribution to be paid out of
their income. It will then discuss with the person what different options for meeting the
remaining cost of their care are available in their individual circumstances and provide
information on the amounts it is possible to defer. Each person then has a choice as to how
they would prefer to meet these costs.

5.2

Where a DPA is chosen as a method of meeting these costs, the Council will also discuss
with the person that they will need to consider how they plan to use, maintain and insure
their property if they take out a DPA, for example if they wish to rent, to prepare for sale, or
to leave their property vacant for a period.

5.3

The Council will place conditions for maintaining and insuring the property while the DPA is
in place which are detailed in the terms and conditions of the Council’s DPA.

5.4

It is also possible for a person to make payments to their DPA account, for example, where
they wish to make regular contributions from income, or where they have savings they wish
to use to make payments against the deferred payment account. This should be agreed
with the person as far as possible at the outset.

6.

HOW MUCH CAN BE DEFERRED?

6.1

A person may meet the costs of their care and support from a combination of any four
primary sources:
-

Income, including pension income;
Savings or other assets they might have access to; this might include any
contributions from a third party;
A financial product designed to pay for long-term care; or
A DPA

The share of care costs that a person defers will depend on the amount they will be paying
from the other sources listed above. The Council must have due regard to the ‘disposable
income allowance’. The disposable income allowance is a fixed amount, currently £144 per
week, of a person’s income which the Council must allow the person to retain, if the person
wants to retain it.

Page 66

A person may choose to keep less of their income than the disposable income allowance.
This might be advantageous to the person as they would be contributing more to the costs
of their care from their income and consequently reducing the amount they are deferring.
This must be entirely at the individual’s discretion and the Council must not compel
someone to retain less than the disposable income allowance if the person wants to retain
the full amount.
If a person decides to rent out their property during the course of their DPA, the Council will
allow the person to retain 25% of any rental income they possess in addition to the
disposable income allowance. The decision as to whether or not to rent a property must be
the person’s and theirs alone.
A person may also contribute to their care costs from payments by a third party, for
example any contributions available from a financial product or from their savings.
Contributing to care costs from another source would reduce the amount being deferred.
The Council must not compel a person to contribute to their fees from these sources.
6.2

If the Council is satisfied with the security for the DPA a person will be able to defer part of
their care costs up to an agreed limit, to be known as the “Equity Limit ”, which is up to 90%
of the value of the asset, minus any charges secured against the property and minus the
lower capital limit. This will be discussed with the person in advance and be incorporated
into the Agreement.

6.3

As these factors may change over time as property values increase/decrease, any secured
charges being paid off or the lower capital limit changing, the deferred payment account will
be reviewed on a regular basis and the person will be kept informed.

6.4

If a person is considering a top up, the Council will consider whether this would be
sustainable given the equity available from the chosen form of security and taking into
consideration the Equity Limit described above. To ensure sustainability of the DPA, the
Council has discretion over the amount people are permitted to top-up using this scheme.
The Council will consider any request for top-ups, but will retain discretion over whether or
not to agree to a given top-up. The Council will accept any top-up deemed to be reasonable
given considerations of affordability, sustainability and available equity. The Council will be
mindful of the duties set out in relation to top-ups and additional costs in the Care and
Support and Aftercare (Choice of Accommodation) regulations 2014.

6.5

The Council will take into consideration the following to ensure that the top-up is sufficiently
sustainable:
- The period the person would want a DPA for (if they intend to use it as a
short term solution);
- The equity available;
- The sustainability of a person’s contributions from their savings (if
applicable);
- The flexibility to meet future care needs. and;
- The period of time a person would be able to defer their care costs.

7.

INTEREST RATE AND ADMINISTRATION CHARGE

7.1

The Council will recoup the administrative costs associated with DPAs, including legal and
ongoing running costs by means of an administration charge.

7.2

The Council will charge interest on any amount deferred, including any administration
charge deferred. This is to cover the cost of lending and the risks to local authorities
associated with lending, for example the risk of default.

Page 67

7.3

The Council will charge interest at the national maximum interest rate in accordance with
the Regulations. This is currently 0.15% above the market gilts rate specified in the most
recently published report by the Office of Budget Responsibility. This is currently published
in the Economic and Fiscal Outlook, which is usually published twice-yearly alongside the
Budget and Autumn Statement.

7.4

The national maximum interest rate will change every six months on 1 January and 1 June
to track the market gilts rate specified in the most recently published report by the Office of
Budget Responsibility. The Council will review this to ensure the interest rate set by the
Council does not exceed the national maximum interest rate.

7.5

The Council will review the interest rate twice a year and will provide details of payments
made for each period.

7.6

The same interest rate will be charged on all Deferred Payments within the Council.

7.7

The Council will inform people before they make the agreement that interest will be
charged, what interest rates are currently set at, and when interest rates are likely to
change.

7.8

The interest charged and added to the deferred amount will be compounded monthly using
an annual rate. The Council will ensure when making the agreement that individuals
understand that interest will accrue on a compound basis.

7.9

Interest will continue to accrue on the amount deferred even once someone has reached
the ‘Equity Limit ’ and no further care charges are being deferred. It will also accrue after
someone has died up until the point at which the deferred amount is repaid to the local
authority. If the debt is not paid on time and the Council seeks to pursue recovery through
the County Court system, the Council will charge the higher County Court rate of interest.

7.10

The Council’s administration charge will be set each year with other Council charges and
will be an amount equal to the actual costs incurred in provision of the Deferred Payment
scheme, as provided for in the Regulations. The Council will maintain a publicly-available
list of administration charges that a person will be liable to pay. The current charges are set
out in the table below and will be provided when discussing whether a DPA is appropriate
or not.

7.11

Administration charges and interest can be added on to the total amount deferred as they
are accrued, although a person may request to pay these separately if they choose.

7.12

When agreement has been reached between a person and the Council as to how much will
be deferred, the Council will ensure this is clearly set out in the DPA. See Appendix A for
draft Deferred Payment Agreement.

7.13

The DPA will make clear that all fees deferred, alongside any interest and administrative
charges incurred, must be repaid by the person in full. The Council will also notify the
individual in writing whenever they are liable for an administration charge.

8.

CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH THE COUNCIL MAY STOP DEFERRING CARE COSTS

8.1

Circumstances in which the Council may refuse to defer any more charges include:
(a)
When a person’s total assets fall below the level of the means-test, and the person
becomes eligible for the Council to support in paying for their care;
(b)
Where a person no longer has eligible needs under the Care Act 2014
(c)
If a person breaches certain terms of their contract; or

Page 68

(d)
If, under the Charging Regulations, the property becomes disregarded for any
reason and the person consequently qualifies for the Council’s support in paying for their
care, including but not limited to:


where a spouse or dependent relative (as defined in Charging Regulations) has
moved into the property after the agreement has been made, where this means
the person is eligible for the Council’s support in paying for care and no longer
requires a DPA; and



where a relative who was living in the property at the time of the agreement
subsequently becomes a dependent relative (as defined in Charging
Regulations). The Council may choose to cease further deferrals at this point.

8.2

The Council should not exercise these discretionary powers if a person would, as a result,
be unable to pay any tariff income due to the Council from their non-housing assets.

8.3

The Council must cease deferring further amounts when a person has reached the ‘Equity
Limit’ or when a person is no longer receiving care and support in either a care home
setting or in supported living accommodation. This also applies when the value of the
security has dropped and so the equity limit has been reached earlier than expected.

8.4

In any of these cases, interest will continue to accrue on the amount deferred until the
agreement is terminated (either by sale of the property, the person’s death or by the
Council being repaid separately).

8.5

If a decision is made to stop deferring care costs, the Council cannot demand repayment in
these circumstances, and repayment is still subject to the usual terms of termination.

8.6

The Council will provide a minimum of 30 days advance notice that further deferrals will
cease and will give the person an indication of how their care costs will need to be met in
future. Depending on their circumstances, the person may either receive support from the
Council in meeting the costs of their care, or may be required to meet their costs from their
income and assets.

9.

OBTAINING SECURITY

9.1

The Council must have adequate security in place when entering into a DPA. The Council
has discretion to consider whether another type of security could be provided if a person
cannot secure their deferred payment agreement with a charge on a property.

9.2

If a person intends to secure their DPA with a property, the Council will obtain a valuation of
the property. A person may request an independent assessment of the property’s value (in
addition to the Council’s valuation). If an independent assessment finds a substantially
differing value to the Council’s valuation, the Council and the person will aim to discuss and
agree on an appropriate valuation prior to proceeding with the DPA.

9.3

In cases where an agreement is to be secured with a jointly-owned property, the Council
requires both owners’ consent (and agreement) to a charge being placed on the property.
Both owners must be signatories to the charge agreement, and the co-owner must agree
not to object to the sale of the property for the purpose of repaying the debt due to the
Council. The Council must obtain similar consent to a charge being created against the
property from any other person who has a beneficial interest in the property.

9.4

Under the discretionary scheme, the Council has discretion to decide what else may
constitute ‘adequate security’ for a DPA, in cases where a first charge cannot be secured.

Page 69

9.5

The Council will consider the merits of each case individually. Other forms of security the
Council may choose to consider include (but are not limited to):





a third-party guarantor – subject to the guarantor having / offering an appropriate
form of security;
a solicitor’s undertaking letter;
a valuable object such as a painting or other piece of art; or
an agreement to repay the amount deferred from the proceeds of a life assurance
policy.

9.6

The Council has full discretion in individual cases to refuse a DPA if it is not satisfied that
adequate security is in place.

10.

DRAWING UP A DEFERRED PAYMENT AGREEMENT

10.1

Where someone chooses to enter into a DPA, the Council will aim to have the agreement
finalised and in place by the end of the 12-week disregard period, or within 12 weeks of the
person approaching the Council regarding DPAs in other circumstances.

10.2

Decisions on a person’s care and support package, the amount they intend to defer, the
security they intend to use and the terms of the agreement should only be taken following
discussion between the Council and the individual. Once agreement in principle has been
reached between the Council and the person, it is the Council’s responsibility to transpose
the details agreed into a DPA, taking the legal form of a contract between the Council and
the person.

10.3

The Council will provide a hard copy of the DPA to the person, and the person will be
provided with reasonable time to read and consider the DPA, including time for the person
to query any clauses and discuss the DPA further with the Council.

10.4

The DPA will clearly set out all terms, conditions and information necessary to enable the
person to ascertain his or her rights and obligations under the DPA.

10.5

The Council will aim to ensure at a minimum that people sign or clearly and verifiably affirm
they have received adequate information on options for paying for their care, that they
understand how the DPA works and understand the agreement they are entering into; and
that they have had the opportunity to ask questions about the contract.

10.6

All DPA’s will be subject to the Unfair Terms in Consumer Contracts Regulations 1999, so
the terms will be written in plain, intelligible English and will not be binding if they are unfair
to the borrowers. The Council will also have to ensure that they we do not contravene the
Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008.

10.7

The Council will not adopt a blanket policy and will consider each case on its own merits.

11.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
AGREEMENT IS IN PLACE

11.1

The Council will provide people with six-monthly written updates of the amount of fees
deferred, of interest and administrative charges accrued to date, and of the total amount
due and an estimate of the equity remaining in the home taking into account those figures.

11.2

The update will also set out the amount deferred during the previous period, alongside the
total amount deferred to date, and will also include a projection of how quickly someone

COUNCIL

Page 70

WHILST

THE

DEFFERED

PAYMENT

would deplete all equity remaining in the agreed form of security up to their equity limit. This
will be for illustrative purposes only
11.3

The Council will also provide the person with a statement on request within 28 days.

11.4

The Council will reassess the value of the agreed form of security once the amount
deferred exceeds 50% of the security (and periodically thereafter), and adjust the equity
limit and review the amount deferred if the value has changed.

11.5

The Council must accept reasonable alternative maintenance and insurance services.

12.

YOUR RESPONSIBILITIES WHILST THE DEFERRED PAYMENT IS IN PLACE

12.1

You will need to ensure that the property or asset upon which the DPA is secured is
adequately insured.

12.2

You will also need to make arrangements to ensure the property s adequately maintained
and repairs are carried out.

12.3

In some circumstances the Council may be able to assist you with making these
arrangements but is under no obligation to do so.

12.4

The Council also has a discretionary power to arrange insurance and arrange for repairs
and maintenance work, however, this will only be considered in individual cases and in
exceptional circumstances and the Council will recharge the person or their estate for any
costs incurred in doing this.

12.5

You will need to keep the council informed of any changes to either your care
arrangements or financial circumstances.

12.6

You will need to pay the invoices based on your assessed contribution from your income o
time.

13.

MONITORING THE DEFERRED PAYMENT & REVIEWING THE DP ACCOUNT

13.1

The Council will review the amount being deferred every 6 months to ensure the deferred
amount does not exceed the Equity Limit . The Council will have particular regard to the
amount deferred as it approaches this limit.

13.2

The security will also be revalued when the amount deferred equals or exceeds 50% of the
value of the security to assess any potential change in the value that may affect the lending
limit. The Council will also re-value the security periodically to monitor any potential further
changes in value. If in either case there has been any substantial change the Council will
review the agreement.

13.3

When the Council is reviewing the deferred payment account particular attention will be
given to:
(a)

The amount of equity a person has available as security to ensure that the amount
deferred does not rise above this limit. As set out at 6.1 above, the Equity Limit
means that there will be some equity remaining in the security used for the DPA to
act as a buffer in case of unexpected market fluctuations and to cover any
subsequent interest which continues to accrue as well as to allow for any fees
involved in the sale of the asset. In the majority of cases a property will be used as

Page 71

security so the Equity Limit will provide for the payment of estate agents and legal
fees involved with the conveyance.
When reviewing each deferred payment account and considering the equity
remaining before the Equity Limit is reached, the Council must also include any
interest and fees to be deferred.
When a person is approaching or reaching the point at which they have deferred an
amount equal to 70% of the property equity, the Council will aim to review the cost
of their care with the person, discuss when the person might be eligible for any
means tested support, discuss the implications for any top-up they might currently
have, and consider jointly whether a DPA continues to be the best way for someone
to meet these costs.
Once a person has deferred payments up to the Equity Limit the Council must
refuse to defer any further charges. However, interest can still accrue beyond this
point and administration charges can still be deferred.
(b)

The amount the person is contributing to their care costs from other sources,
including income and (where the person chooses to) any contribution from savings,
a financial product or a third-party as an ‘ad hoc’ payment.

(c)

The total care costs a person will face, including any top-ups.

14.

TERMINATING THE DEFERRED PAYMENT AGREEEMENT

14.1

The DPA can be ended at any time: it can be ended by the individual themselves or by
someone acting on their behalf in a legitimate capacity, for example family or solicitor.
There are 2 ways in which this can be done:
(a) By the person or their representative repaying the full amount owed, for example,
from a when the property has sold and the Council can be repaid
(b) When the person has passed away and the full amount owed is repaid to the
Council from their estate.

14.2

When the DPA is ended the full amount due will include: care costs, any interest accrued
and any administrative or legal fees that are charged. The full amount must be paid to the
Council at the point of sale of the property or within 90 days.

14.3

If a person decides to sell their home, they must notify the Council during the sale process.
They will be required to pay the amount due to the Council from the proceeds of the sale,
and the Council will be required to relinquish the charge on their property.

14.4

The individual may decide to repay the amount due to the Council from another source, or it
may be paid by a third party, and if this is the case, the Council will require 90 days’ notice
in writing of the intention to terminate the agreement. Once the full amount owed has been
received by the Council, then the Council must relinquish the charge that has been placed
on the property and the agreement comes to an end.

14.5

If the DPA ends due to the person’s death, the calculated amount owed to the Council must
be paid out of the estate or paid by a third party. A person’s family or a third party may wish
to settle the debt to the Council by other means of payment. The Council must accept
alternative means of payment in these circumstances, provided that the payment covers
the full amount owed to the Council.

Page 72

14.6

If there is an Executor of the Will or Administrator of the Estate, they can decide how the
amount due to the Council will be paid. This may be from the person’s estate (usually the
sale of the house) or potentially from a life insurance policy, or from a third party source.
The Council will wait at least two weeks following notification of the person’s death before
approaching the Executor with a full breakdown of the total amount deferred, however, a
family member or the Executor can approach the Council to resolve the outstanding
amount due prior to this point.

14.7

Responsibility for arranging for repayment of the amount due (in the case of payment from
the estate) falls to the Executor of the Will. Interest will continue to accrue on the amount
owed to the Council after the individual’s death and until the amount due to the Council is
repaid in full. In the case that a DPA is agreed on the basis of a form of security other than
property, the Council will need to make provision in the DPA for conclusion of the DPA in
the event that the given security is disposed of/comes to fruition.

14.8

If the DPA ends due to the person’s death, the amount owed to the Council falls due for full
payment 90 days after the person has died. After this 90 day period, if the Council feels
active steps have not been taken to resolve the situation and pay the debt or if the Council
feels that the Executor is wilfully obstructing the sale of the property, the Council may enter
into legal proceedings to reclaim the amount due to them. In such cases the Council will
have regard to its debt recovery policy.

14.9

In whichever circumstances the DPA is ended, the full amount due to the Council must be
repaid and will cover all the costs that have accrued under the DPA. The Council must
provide a full break down of how the amount due has been calculated and this should be
sent to the person (and/or third party where appropriate). When the full amount owed has
been received by the Council, the Council will provide the individual with confirmation that
the DPA has been concluded and confirm (where appropriate) that the charge against the
property has been removed.

Page 73

APPENDIX 2
DEFERRED PAYMENT AGREEMENT CONSULTATION OUTCOME
The responses to the consultation are detailed in the table below:
Question 1 - Please indicate which of the following best describes your main interest
in this issue
Interest

Number

Percentage

I currently hold a deferred payment agreement with
Tameside Council
I am relative or a friend of someone who currently holds a
DPA with the Council
I don’t currently hold a DPA but may do so in the future
I represent a community or voluntary group
I represent a partner organisation
I represent a business/private organisation
I am a Tameside Council or Tameside CCG employee
Other

5
1

45.45
9.09

1
4

9.09
36.36

Total

11

In terms of ‘Other’ respondents please see below comments
Comments
1
2
3
4

There is a charge on a property belonging to my deceased mother in law.
I am a resident of Tameside and have an interest as a council tax payer and
citizen.
Just because I own my own house I and my family are being persecuted.
Tameside resident.

Question 2 - The Council is proposing that it offers two payment options. To pay a
contribution that has been determined through the financial assessment process as
the maximum amount a service user can afford allowing for a minimum income
guarantee; and to allow for additional agreed ad hoc payments to be made against
deferred amounts. How would these options impact you if you currently hold or may
hold in future a deferred payment agreement?
Comments
1
2
3
4

It currently would not impact me directly but this seems a sensible policy to
manage council finances at the same time as meeting need.
Not known.
Why should I and my family be persecuted for owning my home?
Means tested on ability to percentage or ratio of total income.

Question 3 - How would the other changes to the policy outlined impact you if you
currently hold or may hold in future a deferred payment agreement?
Comments
1

Not known.

Page 74

2

Do we have to state the obvious here! This question is very broad to answer.

Question 4 – Do you have any other comments you wish to make about the deferred
payment policy?
Comments
1

2
3

4
5

The policy seems reasonable as an approach that both ensure that people with
resources are treated fairly but also that they are not treated favourably in
comparison to those without.
No comments.
I do not agree that the Council should insure and repair ‘the property’ just
because they have a financial charge against it. This is for the LPA holder or
property owner to do. It seems very much over stepping the mark from state
intervention/interference.
Robbery.
Those who have a Will advisers or solicitors can deflect payment with president
legislation, and unfortunately they can avoid any contribution.

Consultation Analysis
Please find below table which summarises the comments made:
Question 2
Comment

Number

Generally positive
Generally negative
No opinion
Other

1
1
1
1

Question 3
Comment

Number

Generally positive
Generally negative
No opinion
Other

0
1
1
0

Question 4
Comment

Number

Generally positive
Generally negative
No opinion
Other

1
3
1
1

Participant Demographic Information
Question 5 – What is your sex?
Female
Male
Prefer not to say

1
4
0

Page 75

Prefer to self-describe

0

Question 6 – Is your gender identity the same as the sex
you were assigned at birth?
Yes
No
Prefer not to say

5
0
0

Question 7 – What is your age?
51 to 60 years old
61 to 70 years old
71 to 80 years old

2
1
2

Question 8 – What is your postcode?
M34
OL6
SK14

1
2
2

Question 9 – What is your ethnic group?
White:
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern
Irish/British

5

Question 10 – What is your religion or belief?
No religion
Christian

3
2

Question 11 – What is your sexual orientation?
Heterosexual/Straight

5

Question 12 – Are your day to day activities limited
because of a health problem or disability which has
lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? Include
problems related to old age.
Yes, limited a lot
Yes, limited a little
No

2
1
2

Question 13 – Do you look after, or give any help or
support to family members, friends, neighbours or others
because of either long term physical or mental illhealth/disability or problems related to old age?
No
Yes, 1-19 hours a week
Yes, 20-49 hours a week
Yes, 50 or more a week

3
1
0
1

Page 76

Question 14 – Are you a member or ex-member of the
armed forces?
Yes
No

1
4

Question 15 – What is your marital status?
Single
Married
Civil Partnership
Divorced
Widowed

0
3
0
1
1

Question 16 – Are you pregnant, on maternity leave or
returning from maternity leave?
Yes
No

0
5

Page 77

APPENDIX 3
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Subject

The Care Act 2014 Charging Policy & Deferred Payments Policy

Service / Business Unit

Service Area

Directorate

Adult Assessment

Adult Services

People

EIA Start Date (Actual)

EIA Completion Date (Expected)

Completion Date (Actual)

August 2015

August 2015

August 2015

Lead Contact / Officer
Responsible

Paul Dulson
Head of Adult Assessment & Care Management

Service Unit Manager
Responsible

Sandra Whitehead
Interim Executive Director Adult Service

EIA Group (lead contact
first)

Job title

Service

Paul Dulson

Head of Adult Assessment

Adult Services

Michelle Bowler

Service Unit Manager

Exchequer

Sarah Quayle

Operations Manager

Exchequer

Jobada Rahman

Assistant Team Manager

Adult Services

Steve Jamieson

Principal Resource Manager

Adult Services Finance

SUMMARY BOX
Section 149, of the Equality Act 2010, the public sector equality duty (PSED) requires that a public
authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:




Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
Advance equality of opportunity
Foster good relations

Having due regard to these involves:






Removing or minimising disadvantage suffered by persons
Taking steps to meet the needs of persons with different characteristics
Encouraging people to participate in public life
Tackling prejudice and promote understanding.
Taking steps to take account of disabled persons’ disabilities

This EIA focusses on the Council’s proposals on the new financial charging policy for Adult Social
Care as a result of the Care Act 2014 2014 and also the specific details of the Deferred Payment
Policy which is an element of the wider Charging Policy.
A consultation exercise in respect of the proposals on the new financial charging policy took place
between 17 November 2014 and 09 January 2015 and a further consultation took place between

Page 78

29th May 2015 to 6th July 2015.
The consultation approach included an online questionnaire by means of the Council’s Big
Conversation as it was appropriate to engage directly with service users and residents. In addition
eight focus groups were held across the borough amongst a range of social groups to ensure as
many people as possible were engaged. A further 2500 current service users were written to to
ascertain their views.
Despite potential barriers to engagement due to the online questionnaire and the fact that many
service users do not use the internet, as well as the depth and complexity of the information
presented, significant efforts were made to ensure that barriers were removed or alleviated where
possible. Considerable exposure through the publicising of the consultation in the local press and
on a local radio station, a mailshot to all current service users with the option to request a printed
copy of the questionnaire or to call the department for more information (whereby a telephone
consultation would also be offered).
Where equality groups were potentially most disadvantaged, such as through disability or age
(access to the internet, ability to get to publicly accessible internet provision), or ethnicity
(language), these concerns were addressed by specific solutions where need arose. For example it
was established that support workers and carers were the best placed people to relay the complex
information and proposals within the consultation to any disabled people requiring this extra
support that they work with and this was therefore encouraged. Bilingual colleagues within the
Adults Finance Service and Welfare Rights were also called upon to support in telephone
consultations with people who did not speak English.

Section 1 - Background
BACKGROUND
The Council currently charge for care in residential accommodation and care provided in other
settings such as at home. A financial assessment takes place in order to determine how much a
service user must contribute towards the costs of their care. The Council consider the service
users’ income, savings and any assets they own; this might include any investments or property,
and then calculate how much the service user can afford to pay towards the cost of their care.
The Council currently charge service users for care and support in residential accommodation and
conduct financial assessments for contributions towards that care in accordance with the ‘Charging
and Residential Guide’ and for care in non-residential settings in accordance with the ‘Fairer
Charging Policies for Home Care and other non-residential Social Services’.
The Care Act 2014 was passed before Parliament on 23 October 2014 which changed the rules
governing how local authorities will provide care services in future.
The Act clearly describes a series of new duties and responsibilities on local authorities about care
and support for adults and also gives local authorities the powers to decide on a new financial
charging policy.
As home to a diverse population – some 220,600 people – Tameside Council seeks to ensure that
it provides its services in a fair, accessible, and equitable manner whilst satisfying the requirements
of the Equality Act 2010 and the public sector equality duty (section 149) contained therein.
Consultation
The consultation exercise completed pertained specifically to the changes in the new financial
charging policy for Adult Social Care services which were implemented from 01 April 2015 in
accordance with the statutory Care Act 2014 guidance as released by the Government. Although
the guidance is statutory, it did enact a series of discretionary elements which formed the content of

Page 79

the consultation, these being;












Charging for temporary or short term care up to the first 8 weeks as if the person was
living in permanent residential care.
Income that is disregarded from a financial assessment
Upper and Lower Capital Limits
Charging for care and support outside of a care home setting
Disability related expenses - standard disregard
Maximum percentage of disposable income
Personal Independence Payments
Severe Disability Premium
Deferring Third Party Top-ups
Extending Deferred Payments to Supported Living Schemes
Renting out a property that is subject to a Deferred Payments Agreement

This EIA concentrates on the process of developing an appropriate framework for the execution of
the Care Act 2014 and the impact of these proposals. Consultation was undertaken in order to
ensure that all protected characteristic groups were considered in terms of both the accessibility of
the consultation process and the overall impact the changes to the new financial charging policy for
Adult Social Care services will have upon those groups.
Hosting the consultation online allowed it to be much more accessible as people do not have to
physically attend a consultation, and consultees could access the exercise in their own time and at
their own leisure.
The option was given, for those who do not have access to the internet, to request a printed copy
of the questionnaire or to call the department for more information (whereby a telephone
consultation would also be offered). Considerations were also given to ethnicity and a potential
language barrier as a result of the online and printed questionnaires being in English language,
therefore the option was given to request printed copies of the question in other languages if
required.
Links to an online easy read version of the Care Act 2014 as produced by the Government and a
short video outlining the principles of the Care Act 2014 produced by The Social Care Institute for
Excellence (SCIE) were included in the Big Conversation.
The consultation was publicised amongst all current and prospective service users

Response Method
Big Conversation online questionnaire Nov 14 – Jan 15
Big Conversation online questionnaire May 15 – July 15
Telephone consultation
Paper questionnaire

Starts
142
49
20
35 issued

Completions
81
49
20
3

Section 2 – Issues to consider
ISSUES TO CONSIDER
The below table details the demographic profile of the overall population of the borough in
comparison to the current client base of those in receipt of chargeable adult social care services
and that of respondents to the Big Conversation;

Page 80

Demographic Group
Gender
Male
Female
Age
Under 30
30 – 44
45 – 59
60 – 79
80+
Ethnicity
White
BME
Disability
Yes
No

Tameside
Population (%)

Client Base (%)

Respondents to Big
Conversation (%)

49.2
50.8

38.1
61.9

46.3
53.7

37.1
19.6
20.8
18.4
4.1

6.0
7.8
12.1
28.4
45.7

4.2
8.5
31.6
43.1
12.6

90.9
9.1

96.2
3.8

95.6
4.4

20.9
79.1

33.7
66.3

53.8
46.2

Eleven discretionary elements were consulted upon, and following the consultation exercise the
Key Decision recommends the implementation of the following outcomes:












Continue charging for temporary or short term care up to the first 8 weeks as if the
person was living in permanent residential care.
Continue to disregard the value of Income Support/Guaranteed Credit element of
Pension Credit plus the buffer of 25%.
Maintain the lower capital limit and introduce an upper capital limit.
Introduce a new maximum charge for care and support outside of a care home
setting in line with residential care.
Continue to maintain the disability related expenses - standard disregard
Continue to set the maximum percentage of disposable income taken into
consideration for assessment at 100%.
To treat Personal Independence Payments as Disabled Living Allowance currently is
when carrying out a financial assessment.
To take the full amount of Severe Disability Premium into account when carrying out
a financial assessment.
Decisions to defer payments including top ups for residential care will be taken on a
case by case basis
The Deferred Payments Scheme will be extended to people living in supported
accommodation
25% of any rental income from a property subject to a deferred payments agreement
will be allowed to be retained by the service user.

In light of the above, in addition to considering the effects on the protected characteristic groups it
is important to also consider the following groups who the changes pertain to predominantly;
Property Owners
As of 1 April 2015, the Council must offer a Deferred Payment Agreement to all service users in
receipt of chargeable residential services, who own a property and whom meet the qualifying
criteria.

Page 81

The Ageing Population
Tameside’s population is currently estimated at 220,600 residents. There has been a growth
particularly in the number of people over 65 years by 13% since 2013 and this is projected to
continue to increase to 33% by 2025. Older people often have an increasing need for health and
social care as they grow older.
It is estimated that in 2008 there were 2,384 people over the age of 65 with dementia in Tameside.
By the year 2025 this total is expected to rise by 40.6% to reach 3,351 people.
Prospective Service Users
It is important that those who, although may not currently be in receipt of adult social care services,
may be in receipt in the near future and will, therefore, be affected by the changes as outlined in
this consultation. In rolling out a comprehensive programme of engagement to ensure maximum
rates of participation, the council is therefore mindful of the requirement to satisfy its obligations
under the PSED of the Equality Act 2010, and ensure that all groups are able to participate should
they wish.
The conclusions drawn from the evidence and analysis of the effects on equality on the protected
characteristic groups are detailed in the below table:
Protected
Characteristic
Age

Demographic Analysis
Pensioners: Tameside has a caseload of 2998 adults in receipt of
social care services who have been financially assessed. There are
2033 service users (68% of the total) who are of pensionable age.
There is a greater proportion of older people in receipt of care services
than compared to the Tameside population overall in which those of
pensionable age form 21% of the population. Census data reveals an
increase in an ageing population.
Within the last five years 84 people owned property at the time they
were placed by the Council into chargeable residential care. All 84 of
these service users were of pensionable age.
Working age / non-pensioners: 965 service users (32% of the total)
are non-pensioners (i.e. have not reached pension credit age) and are
therefore of working age.

Disability

The disability profile of the client base of those in receipt of chargeable
care services shows that 982 service users (33 % of the total) are
disabled. There is a greater proportion of disabled people who are
service users compared to the Tameside population overall (21%).
Of the 84 people who have been placed into chargeable residential
care, who owned property, seven of these (8%) were classified as
disabled. The remaining 77 were of the older people category and are
likely to have been placed into chargeable residential care due to an
age-related deterioration in their ability to manage key day to day
tasks or due to dementia.

Gender

39% of the client base are male and 61% female. The gender profile
of the client base shows a greater proportion of females compared to
the Tameside population overall. The total pensioner client base is
69% female and 31% male. The disabled client base is 48% female
and 52% male.

Page 82

Of the 84 people who have been placed into chargeable residential
care and owned a property 59 (70%) of these were female and 25
(30%) were male.
Race

90% of the client base of those in receipt of chargeable social care
services for adults are white and 10% BME. This is largely in line with
the ethnicity profile of Tameside overall (91% white and 9% BME).
Of the 84 people who have been placed into chargeable residential
care whilst owning a property 66 of these were white (79%) and 7
(8%) people were BME. Race details are not held for the remaining 11
(13%) people.

Religion and Belief /
Sexual Orientation /
Gender ReAssignment /
Pregnancy and
Maternity / Marriage
and Civil Partnership

Specific data is not available on these protected characteristics for
those in receipt of chargeable social care services for adults. However
no evidence of any disproportionate impact was discovered.

LIST OF EVIDENCE SOURCES
Big Conversation analytics
Mid-year Population Estimates 2013 (ONS) – age and gender data
Census 2011 (ONS) – ethnicity and disability data
Abacus system reports

Section 3 – Impact
IMPACT
The table below details the proposals addressed within the Care Act 2014 financial charging policy
key decision and their impact. For the purposes of this analysis Deferred Payment Agreement
administrative fees and interest rates will be considered collectively as both charges will be applied
in all instances where the eligibility criteria is met.
PROPOSAL
Continue charging for temporary or short term care up to the first 8 weeks as if the
person was living in permanent residential care.
IMPACT
The current Council policy is to charge someone as if they were in residential care if they move

Page 83

into a residential care home for a temporary period. If the Council was to change this policy to
charge as if the person was remaining at home and only paying a homecare charge then then
financial impact on the Council would not be significant however given the current financial
climate and the need to ensure that people are paying what they can afford recognising the
actual cost of the care they are receiving it is proposed to continue with the current policy.
This will only impact on those people who move into residential care for a temporary period upto
8 weeks. Those currently affected will not be further impacted upon.
PROPOSAL
Continue to disregard the value of Income Support/Guaranteed Credit element of Pension
Credit plus the buffer of 25%.
IMPACT
This proposal is a continuation of the current policy in that it recognises that the Government has
set a baseline that it deems sufficient to live on. The additional 25% buffer that the Council
operates ensures that people have that extra income available before any charges are levied on
the remaining income beyond the minimum rate plus 25%.
Those people receiving social care services on basic benefits will not be impacted upon however
if they have other income (either earned or welfare benefits) then they will be expected to pay
towards their care and support costs.
There are currently around 2,500 people in receipt of care who are required to pay something
towards their care costs and this will continue as now.
PROPOSAL
Maintain the lower capital limit and introduce an upper capital limit.
IMPACT
This proposal maintains the current lower capital limit but introduces an upper capital limit of
£23,250 above which people will be expected to pay the full cost of their care. This will impact on
approximately 51 people to varying degrees with only 4 people being expected to pay the new
maximum amount for non-residential care of £419.00 per week. This is in line with the minimum
amount someone would be expected to pay in residential care and attempts to rebalance an
anomaly that has existed for many years in that people living at home irrespective of what
savings they had were only required to pay a maximum of £214.50.
PROPOSAL
Introduce a new maximum charge for care and support outside of a care home setting in
line with residential care.
IMPACT
This proposal is being made to rebalance an inequality in the Council’s current charging policy.
People receiving a non-residential package of care currently only pay a maximum of £214.50 per
week towards their care. There are people with larger incomes or large amounts of savings who
can afford to pay more as they would be expected to do if they were receiving their care in a
residential care home. This anomaly currently means that someone may be receiving a care
package at home in excess of £2000 per week but still be required to pay only £214.50 despite
having the ability to pay more. The proposal is to increase the maximum charge to £419.00
which is in line with the lowest cost of residential care in an off framework home so that people
with the ability to pay are not disadvantaged whether living in one environment or the other.
There are currently 13 people who would see their current charges increase by over 50% but all
have significant savings or income and are therefore in a position to afford the increases.
PROPOSAL
Continue to maintain the disability related expenses - standard disregard
IMPACT
The proposal is to continue the current policy practice of disregarding £13.24 per week (2015/16

Page 84

amount) of any income in recognition that people with disabilities and life limiting conditions often
have additional expenditure that is directly related to those conditions.
To withdraw this disregard would result in people having to pay a higher charge for the services
they receive and would reduce the amount of disposable income they have.
PROPOSAL
Continue to set the maximum percentage of disposable income taken into consideration
for assessment at 100%.
IMPACT
This is a continuation of current Council policy and therefore no new people will be adversely
affected. Once the minimum income guarantee plus 25% and any disregards are taken into
consideration the remaining income that someone has is regarded as disposable and therefore
open to be taken into account when calculating a persons charges.
The charge takes into account the persons ability to pay and the actual cost of the care being
provided. People who are in receipt of social care services are required to pay something
towards the cost of their care. The more disposable income someone has the more they should
be expected to pay towards the actual cost. The people who this proposal most affects are those
with a large amount of disposable income.
PROPOSAL
To treat Personal Independence Payments as Disabled Living Allowance currently is
when carrying out a financial assessment
IMPACT
The Personal Independence Payment (PIP) is a new benefit replacing Disabled Living Allowance
(DLA) and will be gradually phased in over the next few years. Currently DLA is split into daytime
and night time care and a higher and lower amount is payable depending upon what care needs
a person has. The current policy is to only take the night time rate of DLA into account if the
person has night time needs that are being met by services. if they don’t have such needs then
the night time rate is disregarded when calculating a person’s charges. This proposal extends
the current policy to people in receipt of PIP so that a proportion equivalent to the night time
needs rate of DLA is disregarded.
This affects all new recipients of PIP and all existing DLA recipients as their benefits transfer to
PIP over the next few years.
PROPOSAL
To take the full amount of Severe Disability Premium into account when carrying out a
financial assessment.
IMPACT
Severe Disability Premium (SDP) is another benefit paid to people with a disability (cognitive or
physical) and currently the Council disregards the first £10.00 per week when calculating the
charges that someone is able to pay. SDP is specifically provided so that the person can
continue to lead as independent life as possible but recognises that they may need additional
help and support to do this. It is acknowledged that the payment should be used to pay towards
the actual cost of social care that the person is receiving.
The proposal is to cease disregarding £10.00 of SDP and instead to take the full amount into
consideration when calculating a person’s ability to pay for their care. This will mean that all
recipients of SDP (currently around 500 people) will have all of their SDP taken into account
when carrying out their annual financial assessment.
PROPOSAL
Decisions to defer payments including top ups for residential care will be taken on a case
by case basis
IMPACT
If a person chooses a residential or nursing home that operates a top up then this
increases the weekly amount that the person is expected to pay for their care. If the
payment is deferred then this increase impacts on the Council as it is required to pay the

Page 85

cost of care until such time as the deferred payment is realised.
Deferred Payments are required to be offered by the Care Act 2014 but take up is
relatively small in the borough. Early indications since the implementation of the Act
suggest that this number will not increase significantly. Most homes in Tameside do not
charge top-ups and therefore the impact is further reduced.
PROPOSAL
The Deferred Payments Scheme will be extended to people living in supported
accommodation
IMPACT
The current arrangement is only available to people living in residential or nursing care homes.
This proposal extends the opportunity of a deferred payment arrangement to people who move
out of their home and move into supported accommodation such as extra care housing.
There are very few people who this proposal will affect as most people who move into extra care
housing are either not home owners or still have a spouse or relevant family members still living
at home. Also the low take up of deferred payments already within the residential care sector will
also mitigate against a significant uptake of this option.
PROPOSAL
25% of any rental income from a property subject to a deferred payments agreement will
be allowed to be retained by the service user.
IMPACT
Few people currently request deferred payments and fewer still would be likely to rent out their
property once they have moved into residential care. That said if they do wish to rent out their
property and continue to defer payments then it is felt that retaining 25% of the rental income
would be a fair amount. This will ensure that there is an incentive for renting the property whilst
at the same time ensuring the majority of the income is taken into account as an income.
Section 4 – Proposals & Mitigation
PROPOSALS & MITIGATION

PROPOSAL
Continue charging for temporary or short term care up to the first 8 weeks as if the
person was living in permanent residential care.
MITIGATION
The current policy will remain the same and people currently in temporary residential care will
not be affected any further than they currently are.
A full financial assessment will be carried out on an at least yearly basis and this will calculate a
person’s ability to pay for the care that they are receiving.
PROPOSAL
Continue to disregard the value of Income Support/Guaranteed Credit element of Pension
Credit plus the buffer of 25%.
MITIGATION
This proposal is a continuation of the current policy in that it recognises that the Government has
set a baseline that it deems sufficient to live on. The additional 25% buffer that the Council
operates ensures that people have that extra income available before any charges are levied on
the remaining income beyond the minimum rate plus 25%.
A full financial assessment is carried out prior to calculating a person’s ability to pay towards
their care costs. The baseline income plus 25% would be taken off before any further calculation
is made on the rest of a person’s income and savings.

Page 86

People who are living on only the basic state minimum guaranteed income will not be required to
pay anything however most people in receipt of adult social care services will also have other
forms of income such as disability benefits and these will be taken into account in the financial
assessment and charge calculation.
PROPOSAL
Maintain the lower capital limit and introduce an upper capital limit.
MITIGATION
In introducing an upper capital limit, people whether they live at home or in residential care will
be treated equally and the charges will be based on the principle of an ability to pay for the
actual cost of the care that they are receiving.
Those people who are most adversely affected will be financially assessed and arrangements
will be made for either a gradual increase over a few months or an agreed set date for the new
charge to start so as to reduce the immediate financial burden being taken at once.
The Council will carry out financial assessments phased over the next few months until the end
of March 2016. As new financial assessments are completed the new arrangements will be
implemented. Advance notice of the changes being made to the financial assessment will be
given following the Key Decision and subsequently prior to the assessment to ensure that people
are made aware of the changes. The key principle of people being able to pay towards the
actual cost of their care will be maintained and therefore people will not be left with a weekly
amount equivalent to the Governments minimum income guarantee plus a 25% buffer.
PROPOSAL
Introduce a new maximum charge for care and support outside of a care home setting in
line with residential care.
MITIGATION
In introducing a new maximum charge, people whether they live at home or in residential care
will be treated equally and the charges will be based on the principle of an ability to pay for the
actual cost of the care that they are receiving.
Those people who are most adversely affected will be financially assessed and arrangements
will be made for either a gradual increase over a few months or an agreed set date for the new
charge to start so as to reduce the immediate financial burden being taken at once.
The Council will carry out financial assessments phased over the next few months until the end
of March 2016. As new financial assessments are completed the new arrangements will be
implemented. Advance notice of the changes being made to the financial assessment will be
given following the Key Decision and subsequently prior to the assessment to ensure that people
are made aware of the changes. The key principle of people being able to pay towards the
actual cost of their care will be maintained and therefore people will not be left with a weekly
amount equivalent to the Governments minimum income guarantee plus a 25% buffer.
PROPOSAL
Continue to maintain the disability related expenses - standard disregard
MITIGATION
The proposal is to continue the current policy practice of disregarding £13.24 per week (2015/16
amount) of any income in recognition that people with disabilities and life limiting conditions often
have additional expenditure that is directly related to those conditions.
Everyone receiving social care services has a financial assessment and the standard disregard
will be taken off their total income prior to calculating any charges. The standard disregard
benefits everyone in receipt of services.
PROPOSAL
Continue to set the maximum percentage of disposable income taken into consideration
for assessment at 100%.
MITIGATION

Page 87

This is a continuation of current Council policy and therefore no new people will be adversely
affected. Once the minimum income guarantee plus 25% and any disregards are taken into
consideration the remaining income that someone has is regarded as disposable and therefore
open to be taken into account when calculating a person’s charges.
This proposal is based on a person’s ability to pay for their care and support and those people
with a high disposable income will be expected to pay more towards the cost of their care than
those with lower amounts of disposable income. Everyone will receive at least an annual
financial assessment which will take into account any disregards or minimum income guarantees
and only take actual disposable income into account when calculating charges.
PROPOSAL
To treat Personal Independence Payments as Disabled Living Allowance currently is
when carrying out a financial assessment
MITIGATION
The proposal is to bring in line the disregard for both PIP and DLA recipients so that they are
equally treated. Although PIP does not have a specific amount identified as night time rate the
total payment is the same as DLA and therefore the rate for night time care needs identified for
DLA will be used for PIP.
The financial assessment will be able to determine the rate of PIP that someone is in receipt of
and if no night time needs are identified then an appropriate amount of the PIP will be
disregarded. This will ensure that people are equally treated if they have the same level of need.
PROPOSAL
To take the full amount of Severe Disability Premium into account when carrying out a
financial assessment.
MITIGATION
There are currently 500 people in receipt of Severe Disability Premium receiving social care
services in Tameside. They currently have £10.00 per week of their SDP disregarded and this
proposal means that this will stop.
The Council will carry out financial assessments phased over the next few months until the end
of March 2016. As new financial assessments are completed the new arrangements will be
implemented. Advance notice of the changes being made to the financial assessment will be
given following the Key Decision and subsequently prior to the assessment to ensure that people
are made aware of the changes. The key principle of people being able to pay towards the
actual cost of their care will be maintained and therefore people will not be left with a weekly
amount equivalent to the Governments minimum income guarantee plus a 25% buffer.
PROPOSAL
Decisions to defer payments including top ups for residential care will be taken on a case
by case basis
MITIGATION
Numbers are relatively low and when carrying out a financial assessment and application for a
deferred payment the value of the property is taken into account ahead of making decisions
whether to allow a deferred payment agreement or a timeframe for such an agreement to take
place within. If a top up also exists then this will be taken into consideration at the time of the
considerations and if it is felt that there is insufficient value in the property or any other mitigating
factor then the Council may refuse the application.
Close scrutiny of the application together with a full financial assessment will be maintained to
ensure that any arrangement remains viable and with limited risk to the Council.
PROPOSAL
The Deferred Payments Scheme will be extended to people living in supported
accommodation
MITIGATION

Page 88

There are very few people who this proposal will affect as most people who move into extra care
housing are either not home owners or still have a spouse or relevant family members still living
at home. Also the low take up of deferred payments already within the residential care sector will
also mitigate against a significant uptake of this option.
This policy will be regularly reviewed to ensure continued financial viability for the Council.
PROPOSAL
25% of any rental income from a property subject to a deferred payments agreement will
be allowed to be retained by the service user.
MITIGATION
This policy is new and will be open to regular review to ensure that both the service user and the
Council are not disadvantaged as a result of the proportion currently being proposed. It is
unlikely that take up of the deferred payment scheme and possible rental of properties will be on
a significant scale.
Section 5 – Monitoring
MONITORING PROGRESS
n/a
Issue / Action

Lead officer

Timescale

n/a

n/a

n/a

Sign off
Signature of Service Unit Manager

Date

Paul Dulson

06/082015

Signature of Assistant Executive Director / Assistant Chief
Executive

Date

Sandra Whitehead
Stephanie Butterworth

06/08/2015
06/08/2015

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6b
Report to :

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date :

25 September 2019

Executive Member/
Reporting Officers:

Cllr Brenda Warrington – Executive Leader

Subject :

CO-OPERATIVE COUNCILS UPDATE

Report Summary :

The report provides an update on the work to become a Cooperative Council and to achieve membership of the Co-operative
Councils Innovation Network (CCIN).

Recommendations :

That Executive Cabinet be recommended to:

Sarah Dobson – Assistant Director Policy, Performance and
Communications

(i)

Endorse the co-operative values developed by the
International Co-operative Alliance and the values and
principles of a Co-operative Council as outlined by the Cooperative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) – attached at
Appendix 1.
(ii) Note the clear link between the Co-operative Council values
and principles, the public service reform (PSR) ways of
working outlined in the Corporate Plan and the STRIVE
workforce values of the Council.
(iii) Note the elements of the STAR procurement approach (e.g.
social value) that the council is already signed up to which
evidence the Council has adopted co-operative values in its
approach to procurement and commissioning. Further
supported by the Social Value Guidance agreed by the
Strategic Commissioning Board in November 2018.
(iv) Support the next steps in the process of becoming a Cooperative Council and a member of the Co-operative Council
Innovation Network (CCIN).
Links to Corporate Plan:

The Co-operative Councils model proposes ways of working
which have an impact on the delivery of services in the borough.
As a result the paper has links to all of the priorities within the
Corporate Plan. There is a direct read across between the value
and principles of a co-operative council and the public service
reform (PSR) ways of working outlined in the Corporate Plan.

Policy Implications :

The Co-operative Councils initiative proposes a shift in the way in
which public services are delivered. Adoption of the Co-operative
Councils model of service delivery will have an impact on policy
development across the borough. In parallel with the Greater
Manchester public service reform (PSR) principles, the Tameside
PACT and Tameside Council’s ongoing work incorporating social
value (e.g. through STAR procurement), this will increase public
engagement in the design and delivery of our services across the
borough.

Financial Implications :

The cost of joining the network is £7,900, which will need to be
funded from existing budgets.

(Authorised by the statutory
Section 151 Officer & Chief
Finance Officer)

There may be future budget considerations dependant on the
new proposed ways for working in line with the Co-operative

Page 91

Councils Model.
Legal Implications :
(Authorised by the Borough
Solicitor)

In order to ensure legal compliance there should be no conflict
with current Council standing orders, policies and procedures,
which may need to be reviewed in the light of the same.
Compliance with public procurement rules and the duty to ensure
best value and protection of the public purse are also amongst
key components of delivery of services, ensuring at all times they
are in accordance with equality obligations and the duty to act
reasonably, providing a clear rationale for such action at all times.
This approach should enhance rather than detract from our
approach to service delivery.

Risk Management :

No direct risk implications as a result of this report or the objective
of becoming a Co-operative Council and joining the Co-operative
Councils Innovation Network (CCIN).

Access to Information :

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting Simon Brunet.
Telephone:0161 342 3542
e-mail: simon.brunet@tameside.gov.uk

Page 92

1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

The report provides the Executive Cabinet with an update on the work to become a Cooperative Council and to achieve membership of the Co-operative Councils Innovation
Network (CCIN).

1.2

At the meeting of Full Council on 21 May 2019 the Executive Leader outlined an ambition
for Tameside Council to become a Co-operative Council and join the Co-operative Councils
Innovation Network (CCIN) in the 2019/20 municipal year. A report was then presented to
Executive Cabinet on 26 June 2019 for agreement to commence the process of becoming
a Co-operative Council.

1.3

It is important to note that the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) is nonparty political and by its nature encourages consensus across all parties represented on the
council to work towards co-operative values and principles. It should also be noted that
becoming a Co-operative Council is not about enforcing the conversion of all services into
co-operatives or any other type ownership transfers. Nor is it about replacing skilled
professionals with volunteers. Being a Co-operative Councils is to follow a set of principles
in the way services are developed and delivered in partnership with service users and the
community.

1.4

By joining the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) Tameside Council will
become part of a growing and influential network of councils committed to developing a
new relationship with citizens. There is a growing interest in how to share power and
responsibility with citizens, support the development of community and civic life and find
more cost effective ways to create successful and resilient communities. By becoming part
of the network Tameside Council will:










access the latest ideas and thinking about putting co-operative values and principles
into practice
be part of regional and national networks positioning Tameside Council as a national
innovator helping to influence policy thinking at the national level
share examples of projects and initiatives and learn from others about what works
co-produce tools and techniques to support the development of co-operative
approaches
be invited to Co-operative Conferences around the country to meet and work with
peers
join an officer network who are leading the development of new approaches
have access to a cadre of public sector and local government leaders who are trying to
bring change to their communities
access a growing body of resources on the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network
(CCIN) website
profile Tameside Council’s best practice and achievements nationally.

2.0

CO-OPERATIVE COUNCILS INNOVATION NETWORK (CCIN)

2.1

To become a member of the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) a number of
tasks need to be completed, or have a clear intent to do so. In summary, an application to
join the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) needs to show Tameside
Council has:




Discussed the cooperative council approach with other parties
Taken an Executive Cabinet decision to endorse cooperative values
Endorsed the values and principles of the Co-operative Councils Innovation
Network (CCIN)

Page 93








Engaged with strategic partners, community partners and residents to discuss the
co-operative approach
Carried out internal corporate communication and public campaigns that
demonstrate co-operative values and principles
Adopted co-operative values in the approach to commissioning and procurement
Discussed the co-operative council approach at Full Council
Changed or have plans to change the council constitution to reflect co-operative
values
Evidenced examples of co-operative values and principles currently in use in
service delivery

The following sections of this report show the work done to date, and the next steps, to
discharge the tasks listed above.
2.2

The process of becoming a member of the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network
(CCIN) is not a strictly linear or consecutive route. Rather it is an iterative process where
elements are developed concurrently or in parallel. Similarly not all elements need to have
been completed in full at the point an application is submitted, as long as it is clear there
are plans in place for them to be developed and implemented over a reasonable period of
time.

2.3

The fee for membership of the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) is £7,900
per annum.

2.4

Tameside Council’s application for membership of the Co-operative Councils Innovation
Network (CCIN) was submitted earlier in September 2019. The application will be reviewed,
and decided upon, by the Executive Oversight Committee of the Co-operative Councils
Innovation Network (CCIN) on 2 October 2019 at their Annual Conference “Developing Cooperative Councils – Building Co-operative Places” being held in Rochdale.

3.0

VALUES AND PRINCIPLES OF A CO-OPERATIVE COUNCIL

3.1

To become a member of the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) it is
necessary for Tameside Council to endorse co-operative values generally, and the values
and principles of the Co-operative Council Innovation Network (CCIN) specifically. Attached
at Appendix 1 are the co-operative values developed by the International Co-operative
Alliance, and the values and principles of the Co-operative Council Innovation Network
(CCIN). The latter were developed out of the former to provide a set of values and
principles fit for purpose in the context of local government and councils (which in
themselves are not, and cannot be, co-operatives).

3.2

The Executive Cabinet are recommended to endorse corporately the International Cooperative Alliance’s co-operative values and the associated values and principles of the Cooperative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) as outlined at Appendix 1.

3.3

The table below shows there is an effective read across between the Co-operative Councils
Innovation Network (CCIN) values and principles, the public service reform (PSR) ways of
working that underpin the Corporate Plan (‘Our People, Our Place, Our Plan’), and the
STRIVE workforce values.
CCIN values and
principles
Social partnership

Corporate Plan /
PSR ways of working
New relationship with
citizens & communities

Page 94

STRIVE workforce
values
Support

Democratic
engagement

Asset based approach

Trust

Co-production

Behaviour change

Respect

Enterprise and social
economy

Place based approach

Integrity

Maximising social value

Wellbeing, prevention
and early intervention

Value difference

Community leadership

Evidence led

Engage

New models of meeting
priority needs

New investment and
resourcing models

Innovation
Learning
Walking the talk
3.4

Tameside has a long standing tradition of working in partnership with the community in a
way that fits well with co-operative values and principles. Below are some examples of
services, projects and initiatives that meet at least one, if not many more, of the cooperative values and principles.


















Together Centre (Loxley House)
Grafton Centre
Cash Box Credit Union
Our Kids Eyes (OKE)
Tameside PACT
Tameside & Glossop Partnership Engagement Network (PEN)
Living Life Well (Mental Health) Collaborative
Maternity Voices Partnership (MVP)
Tameside Digital Infrastructure Co-operative (TDIC)
Social Prescribing
Carers Centre
Tameside Armed Forces Community (TASC)
Homestart
Youth Council
SSNAP (Safer Social Networking Activity Pack)
Stalybridge Town Centre Challenge (STCC)
Ashton Old Baths (AOB)

4.0

CO-OPERATIVE VALUES IN PROCUREMENT AND COMMISSIONING

4.1

Members of the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) should adopt
cooperative values in their approach to commissioning. Tameside Council can show it has
done this through both its membership of STAR Procurement and the adoption of Social
Value Guidance in Commissioning.

4.2

Tameside Council joined STAR Procurement in September 2018. STAR Procurement is an
award winning shared procurement service for Rochdale, Stockport, Tameside and Trafford
Councils – providing a high quality procurement service that promotes best practice,
informs investment decisions and champions social value. STAR Procurement is committed

Page 95

to adopting ethical values in the way it sources and manages suppliers on behalf of the four
councils with staff trained in ethical procurement. STAR is committed to accountability,
transparent reporting and self-governance, and has been awarded the Chartered Institute
of Procurement and Supply’s (CIPS) Corporate Ethics Mark.
4.3

Key elements of STAR Procurement’s approach relevant to co-operative values and
principles include:
 Responsible Procurement Strategy – a new Responsible Procurement Strategy has
been put in place. This ensures that all procurement takes account of ethical and
sustainable considerations, including: economic, social, labour, and environmental
factors, whilst always aiming to procure and act in a way that is morally right, open, fair,
and transparent.
 Social Value – a Social Value element is included in all procurement activity over £25k
with a weighting of between 15-20%. This is captured and delivered through the Social
Value Portal and outcomes are reported via the nationally agreed TOM’s (Themes
Outcomes Measures). Social Value is proactively secured through ‘Social Value is
Everyone’s Business Campaign’ including training for commissioners and suppliers.
 Local Investment – STAR Procurement has a Market Engagement Protocol and is
committed to engaging with local businesses, SME’s and co-operatives to increase our
partner’s local spend and within Greater Manchester. STAR Procurement also works
with commissioners to identify and deliver local opportunities.

4.4

In addition to the above, in November 2018 the Tameside and Glossop Strategic
Commissioning Board (SCB) adopted new Social Value Guidance. The guidance –
developed in partnership with STAR Procurement – builds on the Greater Manchester
Combined Authority Social Value Policy and the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.

5.0

ENGAGEMENT & COMMUNICATION WITH THE COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDERS

5.1

Engagement and co-production with communities is a key component of co-operative
values. Given that, it is appropriate to engage with stakeholders and residents on the
intention to become a Co-operative Council. Then to continue that work on an ongoing
basis, checking-in with stakeholders and the community on work to embed those values in
the work of the council and other public service partners.

5.2

An elected member development session was undertaken on 5 September 2019 to
facilitate understanding of the Co-operative Council work amongst all councillors, and to
build a cross-party consensus.

5.3

A verbal update was given to the Trades Unions at the Employee Consultation Group
(ECG) meeting on 16 July 2019, which was followed up by a report to the same forum on
17 September 2019.

5.4

Other elements of the engagement work include:







Integrated Care and Wellbeing and Place and External Relations Scrutiny Panels
in September 2019
Tameside Youth Council in September 2019
Strategic Neighbourhood Forums (North, South, East and West) in October 2019
Tameside & Glossop Partnership Engagement Network (PEN) conference in
October 2019
Tameside Co-operative Summit – 3 October 2019
Staff workshops

Page 96



Other events to be identified including (but not limited to): Age UK, Diversity
Matters North West, Action Together, Grafton Centre, Cranberries, Tameside
College, Ashton 6th Form College, Together Centre.

6.0

NEXT STEPS

6.1

The next steps in the work to become a Co-operative Council and a member of the Cooperative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) are outlined below:


2 October 2019 – Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN) Annual
Conference “Developing Co-operative Councils – Building Co-operative Places” in
Rochdale. Tameside Council’s application for full membership to be reviewed by
Executive Oversight Committee. Executive Leader (Cllr Brenda Warrington) and Cllr
Dolores Lewis (Assistant Executive Member for Co-operatives) to attend to represent
Tameside Council. Cllr Warrington to address the conference.



3 October 2019 – Tameside Co-operative Summit. Cllr Sharon Taylor (key note
speaker) and Nicola Huckerby to attend from the Co-operative Councils Innovation
Network (CCIN).



23 October (or 27 November 2019) – report to Executive Cabinet providing an update
and to agree a report is presented to Full Council.



3 December 2019 (or 25 February 2020) – report to Full Council outlining the intention
to amend the constitution to reflect co-operative values and principles at the annual
meeting in May 2020.



May 2020 – Annual Meeting of Full Council – amendment to the constitution to reflect
co-operative values and principles.

6.2

The above key milestones will be supported by ongoing communication and engagement
work with partners, stakeholders and residents.

7.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

As outlined on the front of the report.

Page 97

APPENDIX 1
VALUES AND PRINCIPLES OF A CO-OPERATIVE COUNCIL

Below are the values and principles of the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network (CCIN)

Our Values are what we believe in:
The Co-operative Councils’ Innovation Network has adopted the Co-operative Values developed
by the International Co-operative Alliance:
Co-operatives are based on the values of self-help, self-responsibility, democracy, equality,
equity and solidarity. In the tradition of their founders, co-operative members believe in the
ethical values of honesty, openness, social responsibility and caring for others.
Our Principles guide the way we and our members put our values into action:
The Co-operative Councils’ Innovation Network endorses the principles of the International Cooperative Alliance:








voluntary and open membership;
democratic member control;
member economic participation;
autonomy and independence;
education, training and information;
co-operation among co-operatives; and
concern for community.

In acknowledging that Councils are not in themselves registered co-operatives, we and our
members have developed principles that have grown from those of the International Co-operative
Alliance and are relevant within the context of local government.
1. Social partnership: We will strengthen the co-operative partnership between citizens,
communities, enterprises and Councils, based on a shared sense of responsibility for
wellbeing and mutual benefit
2. Democratic engagement: We will support the active engagement of the full range of
residents in decision making and priority setting
3. Co-production: We will develop systems that enable citizens to be equal partners in
designing and commissioning public services and in determining the use of public
resources
4. Enterprise and social economy: We will promote community-based approaches to
economic development that focus on supporting the creation of jobs, social enterprises
and other businesses and providing an environment for co-operative and mutual
enterprises to thrive
5. Maximising social value: We will support the development of a framework and criteria
for social value, giving substance to the concept and supporting Councils with the tools to
ensure better local social and economic outcomes

Page 98

6. Community leadership and a new role for councillors: We will explore ways for
councils to act as a platform for helping the community to contribute to local outcomes,
and to re-think the role of councillors as community connectors, brokers and leaders
7. New models of meeting priority needs: In exploring new ways of meeting the priority
needs of our communities we will encourage models, such as co-operatives and mutuals,
which give greater influence and voice to staff and users
8. Innovation: We will embrace innovation in how we work with local communities to drive
positive change
9. Learning: We will capture and ‘expand’ the experience and learning from individual
projects and approaches in order to encourage broader application of co-operative
principles within individual member Councils and across the Network
10. Walking the talk: As a membership organisation we will make this statement of our
principles operational by:








Co-operation among members: Our members work together to help each other
implement our values, sharing experiences and learning
Openness of membership: Full, Associate and Affiliate Membership is open to
any qualifying Council, organisation or individual who shares our values and is
committed to putting them into action
Co-production of the Network’s work: Members help shape the Network’s
work programme and the content of events and written products
Action-focused: The network is a vehicle for helping councils translate cooperative values and principles into policy and practice
Membership-based: The network is majority funded by modest membership
subscriptions from its member Councils, Associates and Affiliates
Non-party-political: Members share the belief that working co-operatively within
and across communities holds the key to tackling today’s challenges

(Note: point 10 is specific to the work of the Co-operative Council’s Innovation Network itself. It has
been included for completeness, and because some of the elements are relevant to the members
of the Network as well as the Network itself)

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6c
Report to:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

25 September 2019

Executive Member / Reporting
Officer:

Councillor Cooney Executive Member (Housing, Planning and
Employment)
Jayne Traverse – Director of Growth Jayne Traverse

Subject:

Plots A & B Hattersley Industrial Estate, Stockport Road,
Hattersley

Report Summary:

On the 26 June 2019, the Council approved the terms and
conditions for selling Plots A & B Hattersley Industrial Estate,
Stockport Road, Hattersley to the RSK Group.
It was originally proposed that the purchaser would be the RSK
Group whose Head Office is based in Chester, and which is the
largest privately owned integrated environmental engineering and
technical business for consulting, testing and inspection of land.
The company was set up in 1989 and employ 3,500 staff across
UK/Europe/Africa & Middle East.
The Council has subsequently been requested to sell the land to
Alan Ryder Investments Limited which was not communicated at
the time of progressing a previous report to 26 June 2019 Cabinet.
Alan Ryder founded RSK Group Limited when he left university 31
years ago. He has always been the principal shareholder in RSK
Group and has always occupied the position of Managing Director
/ Chief Executive.
Alan Ryder is the sole owner of Alan Ryder Investments Limited,
which is a small business that owns various commercial properties
which are occupied by RSK Group under arms-length tenancy
arrangements.
The intention would be for Alan Ryder Investments Limited to own
the land at Hattersley which will be developed to form the
Hattersley Science and Technology Park. RSK Group will be the
primary tenant on the site under a long leasehold arrangement.
The Estates Business Manager is confident that this will not impact
on the proposal or delivery of the Hattersley Science and
Technology Park

Recommendations:

To approve the change of name of the purchaser from the decision
approved on the 26 June 2019 from RSK Group to Alan Ryder
Investment Ltd.

Policy Implications:

None. Land is classed as Employment Land and the purchasers
proposals create new and protect existing employment.

Financial Implications:
(Authorised by the statutory
Section 151 Officer & Chief
Finance Officer)

This income generated of £400k from this disposal will be used
towards the capital programme which is currently under
prioritisation. The Council will incur a cost of £6.5k (net of VAT)
which will consist of legal and surveyors’ fees estimated to be
£1.5k and agent fees of approximately £5k as stated in section
2.1. This will be funded from existing revenue budgets. The
change in buyer doesn’t affect the financial position.

Page 101

Legal Implications:
(Authorised by the Borough
Solicitor)

This report follows on from a decision of Executive Cabinet on 26
June 2019 in relation to sale of this land, the decision of which is
updated in this report, due to the original purchaser, RSK Group,
subsequently nominating a different group company Alan Ryder
Investments Limited to complete the purchase.

Risk Management:

Not selling the land will impact on the Capital programme.

Background Information:

Appendix A: report to Cabinet dated 26.06.19
The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting Mathew Chetwynd – Estates Business Manager
Telephone:0161 342 5500
e-mail: mathew.chetwynd@nhs.net

Page 102

Report to:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

26 June 2019

Executive Member/
Reporting Officer:

Councillor Cooney Executive Member (Housing, Planning and
Employment)
Jayne Traverse – Director of Growth

Subject:

PLOTS A & B HATTERSLEY
STOCKPORT ROAD, HATTERSLEY

Report Summary:

To approve terms agreed to sell the freehold interest in the land.

Recommendations:

That the Head of Legal Services be authorised to complete the
sale of the land to RSK Group for the sum of £400,000.

Policy Implications:

None. Land is classed as Employment Land and the purchasers
proposals create new and protect existing employment.

Financial Implications:

A capital receipt of £400,000 will enable the Council to progress
with its approved capital programme.

(Authorised by the
statutory Section 151
Officer & Chief Finance
Officer)

INDUSTRIAL

ESTATE,

Any costs incurred by the council as a result of the sale will be
charged against the capital receipt as long as it doesn’t exceed
4%. If costs exceed 4% these will be charged against the Estate
Service budget.
As a result of the sale it is anticipated that this will result in the
development of industrial units which will bring in additional
Business rates to the Council.

Legal Implications:
(Authorised by the
Borough Solicitor)

A Key Decision is required because in the absence of an approved
Council Estates and Land Disposal Policy authority is needed for
any sale of parcel of land - although it should be noted there is an
approved Disposal Policy for the disposal of any approved sale
which complies with the Local Government Act 1972.
The Council’s duty under s 123 (s 123) of the Local Government
Act 1972 is to achieve best consideration, reasonably obtainable.
This is confined to transaction elements which are of commercial
or monetary value, so irrelevant factors should not be taken into
account, such as job creation, when assessing whether it is
obtaining the best consideration reasonably available.
Section 123 is essentially a statutory embodiment of the fiduciary
duty affecting local authorities and other public bodies to deal
prudently with public assets in the manner of a trustee.
Terms were agreed to sell the land which is the subject of this
report for the sum of £400,000 in March 2017 subject to the grant
of planning after marketing with Manchester Agents WT Gunson
and on the basis that this was not just the only offer received to
purchase the land, but also a very good offer. The land had been
placed on the open market for sale in January 2016.
Accordingly the Council has complied with its duty under s 123 in
achieving best consideration. Whilst the intention of the developer
is to develop the land as employment land creation of jobs perse
was not a consideration when deciding to dispose of land under s
123, and so should not be taken into account when making this

Page 103

decision.
However, in this case, the land has been designated as
employment land in the UDP.and so it was perfectly proper to
market the land on this basis.
Also In line with s 123 regarding open space, the intention of the
Council to sell the site was advertised in the Tameside Reporter
for two consecutive weeks on 24 and 31 January 2019 with a
deadline for objections to be received by no later than 22 February
2019 (non received).
The case of R (Faraday Developments Ltd) v West Berkshire
Council 2016 helpfully sets out some principles on the application
of s 123.
Where a Council is challenged on its decision, the court may not
substitute its own ‘facts and merits’ view for that of the local
authority. They may only interfere if there was no material upon
which the authority’s decision could have been reached, or, if in
reaching that decision, the authority disregarded matters it ought
to have taken into consideration, or took into account matters
which were irrelevant, or if its decision was irrational.
The court is likely to find a breach of section 123(2) only if the local
authority: (a) failed to take proper advice, or (b) failed to follow
proper advice for reasons which cannot be justified, or (c) although
following advice, this was so plainly erroneous that in accepting it
the authority must or ought to have known that it was acting
unreasonably.
Section 123(2) does not mandate the authority to have regard to
any particular factors, nor is there any absolute requirement to
market the land being disposed of or to obtain an independent
valuation. The Council must however also follow its own Disposal
Policy, which takes into account the s 123 duty, which it has done.
Risk Management:

Set out in report.

Access to Information:

APPENDIX 1 – location plan.
The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting Ian Coulson, Senior Estates Manager, Estates Team:
Telephone: 0161 342 3419
e-mail: ian.coulson@tameside.gov.uk

Page 104

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

This site comprises 2 separate plots of land extending to 1.14 and 1.95 acres respectively
and can be seen on the location plan set out at Appendix 1. It was originally acquired from
Manchester City Council forming part of Hattersley Industrial Estate on 29 March 1978 for
the sum of £111,500.

1.2

It was subsequently sold on 6 October 1980 to Greater Manchester Economic
Development Corporation (GMEDC) for £125,000 and immediately leased back to the
Council under the terms of a lease for a term of 125 years’ subject to payment of an annual
rent of £28,690. The Council subsequently purchased the freehold from GMEDC for
£287,000 on 25 March 1983. The land was acquired by the Council using powers conferred
upon it by The Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes of Industrial development.

1.3

Terms were agreed to sell the land for the sum of £400,000 in March 2017 subject to the
grant of planning after marketing with Manchester Agents WT Gunson and on the basis
that this was a very good albeit the only offer received to purchase the land. The land was
placed on the open market for sale in January 2016.

1.4

As the land could be classified as open space the intention of the Council to sell the site
was advertised in the Tameside Reporter for two consecutive weeks on 24 and 31 January
2019 with a deadline for objections to be received by no later than 22 February 2019. No
objections have been received to the disposal.

1.5

A planning application for the erection of B1, B2 and B8 units including geosciences
laboratory with a total floor area 4,703sqm is currently being progressed through planning
with a decision due on 29 May 2019 this year.

1.6

The purchasers are relocating from their premises at Sand Pitts Industrial Estate and the
intention is to bring another RSK company to this location. The investment is estimated to be
£10 million and should safeguard 80 jobs and create 220 new jobs over 5 years.

1.7

The purchaser is the RSK Group whose Head Office is based in Chester and which is the
largest privately owned integrated environmental engineering and technical business for
consulting, testing and inspection of land. The company were set up in 1989 and employ
2,300 staff across UK/Europe/Africa & Middle East.

2.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

2.1

Each party will pay its own costs, which for the Council will be legal and surveyors fees
estimated to be £1,500.

2.2

All other costs to be paid by purchaser.

2.3

Completed development will bring in additional Business Rates income when development
completed.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

To proceed to complete a sale of the site unconditionally.

4.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Page 105

4.1
5.

Remarket the site which is not a sensible option as the Council are highly unlikely to receive
a higher offer.
RISK

5.1

That the purchaser does not proceed with the development of the land which is considered
highly unlikely given the investment already made with regard to the payment of fees in
carrying out site investigation test and preparation and submission of planning application.

6.

CONCLUSION

6.1

To proceed with an unconditional sale of the land, subject to Planning, to the RSK Group.

6.2

The Council had regard to both its duty to achieve best consideration reasonably
obtainable under s 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, and its own Disposal Policy,
which takes into account s 123.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

As set out at the front of the report.

Page 106

±

Hattersley Industrial Estate
ld

s

9
Farm

60

Fie

W al k

1

Issues

Playing Fields
th
Pa

Nu rs ery

(u
)

El
Sub Sta

y

RS

LE

Y

RO

AD

EA

TCB

ST

14

8

5

188

HA
T

RS

Bd

y
AD

WE

227

L Col

L Col

15

33
35

ST

11

202

31

W alk

5

216

10
N

CL

O

AN

RO

AD

21

19

9

24

26

n

Plot A

W
k
al

40

1

48
9

SA ND Y

12
7

8
10

38
5

SE
SAN DS CLO

C LO SE

O

17

to

1

HA VEN

ST

25
27

55
ls
He

BA NK AV
EN UE

L
HE

CH
AP
M

SE

36

El
Sub Sta

53

16

61

El
Sub Sta

50

52

228
43

15

3
2

11

33

1

9

5

15

1

10

SA ND Y

8

ton

29

He ls

Ha
v en

Wa

10
2

18

12
Bd

lk

El
Sub Sta

Plot B

Hattersley

Industrial Estate

5

dy

6

9
San

1

Wa
rd

2

2

4

1

W alk

6

San ds

SP

A
RO

Depo t

1

RO

All weather pitches

225

37
39

Y

D

23

L Col

LE

17

RN

L Col

7

Wa
rd

TE

235

BU

20

9

5

W

20

20

A

20
1
20
3

217

6

9

2

19

21

L Col

L Col

191

12

21

1 to 12
e
Ho us
Be ck

Bd

TE

24

m

rd
Wa

The Ken Ward Sports Centre

T
HA

y

22

Pa
th
Dr
a

Depot
24

in

Su

28

bS
ta
30

El

40

43

60

42

47

A5

54

Court
Ho

1:2,500

0

50

100

SJ9794SE

200 Meters

© Crown
copyright and database rights 2014
Page
107
Ordnance Survey 100022697

66

161.6m

Hattersley
Viaduct

Plan prepared by Bill Boaden 26/2/2015

Estates & Asset Management Unit
Council Offices
Wellington Road
Ashton-under-Lyne
OL6 6DL

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6d
Report to:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

25 September 2019

Executive Member/ Reporting Cllr Brenda Warrington Executive Leader
Officer:
Steven Pleasant Chief Executive
Subject:

EXITING THE EUROPEAN UNION

Report Summary:

Tameside Council to date has received £209,668 to prepare for
Exiting the European Union. This report recommends that
authority for spending on preparations be delegated to the Chief
Executive as Lead Brexit Officer for Tameside Council. The
deadline for exiting the European Union is currently 31 October
2019.

Recommendations:

It is recommended that Executive Cabinet that authority be
delegated to the Chief Executive as Lead Brexit Officer for
Tameside Council to administer, prioritise and spend the defined
budget devolved from Government in preparing for Leaving the
European Union.

Corporate Plan:

Exiting the European Union will cover all areas of delivering the
Corporate Plan.

Financial
Implications:
(Authorised by the statutory
Section 151 Officer & Chief
Finance Officer)

Funding of £210k has been made available and has been
received by the Council. There is an indication that further
funding will also be forthcoming from the government. If the risks
highlighted materialise there is likely to be a large ongoing impact
on revenue and capital budgets if staffing and supply shortages
result in increases to prices, or tariffs on imports from the EU in
particular are passed on to consumers. Any impact of recession
will impact on Business Rate income and the level of Council Tax
support that will need to be paid. It is impossible though at this
stage to fully understand the financial impact on the Council of
these events given the uncertainty around the eventual exit
terms.

Legal Implications:

Whilst delegation determines who will make the decision it does
not obviate the necessary legal requirements for dealing with
(Authorised by the Borough
transparency and openness of decision making set out in the
Solicitor)
2014 regulations made under the Local Government Act 2000.
Accordingly there will need to be executive decisions for any
spend over £100K or aggregate of the same. Any spend in
excess of the allocated budget will need a key decision and an
amendment to the budget by Council.
Risk Management:

Background Information:

Exiting the European Union requires the Council to plan and
understand risks effectively and work with partners to mitigate the
potential impact of those risks.
The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting the report writer, David Berry, Head of Employment
and Skills
Telephone: 0161 342 2246
e-mail: david.berry@tameside.gov.uk

Page 109

1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

In September 2019 all Local Authorities were asked to appoint a Brexit Lead Officer. This
role will be fulfilled by the Chief Executive for Tameside Council (TMBC). In January 2019
Tameside Council received confirmed funding of £209,668 to prepare for Exiting the
European Union. This funding was equally split over the financial years 2018-19 and 201920. This report recommends that Executive Cabinet delegate, to the Chief Executive, the
administration, prioritisation and spending of defined budget available to Tameside Council
for Exiting the European Union.

2.0

PREPARATIONS

2.1

TMBC is working with partners at a local, regional and national level to prepare for the
United Kingdom Exiting the European Union on the 31 October 2019. The funding
available to support preparations will be aligned to business planning, business continuity
planning and risk assessments to mitigate any potential impacts. With delegated authority
on spending the Lead Brexit Officer will be enabled to support preparations in line with
wider developments.

2.2

TMBC has utilised the Local Government Brexit Preparedness technical notices to
supplement our local and regional preparation work with partners including Greater
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA). Agencies from across Greater Manchester
continue to meet monthly, to consider possible impacts arising from Brexit and to ensure
appropriate preparatory actions are being taken.

2.3

At the GMCA level preparations are underway or being considered in the following areas:


BORDERS – Manchester Airport is liaising directly with Government, as a point of
entry to the UK. Assurances have been received regarding ongoing airport
operations for both passengers and freight. Port Salford and City Airport are not
considered points of entry to the UK.



TRANSPORT & INFRASTRUCTURE - Assessments are ongoing to ensure
transport and infrastructure projects continue.



HEALTH & SOCIAL CARE – Preparations for the health sector will be led nationally
by NHS England and Department for Health. There has been no requirement for
local NHS to stockpile any medicines or medical supplies. The most significant risk
area identified is the reliance on EU workers in the health & social care sector, and
how this will be impacted going forward. Work has been undertaken to support
health and care workers to complete the EU settlement scheme. As preparations
ramp up towards October, local agencies will again engage and align with the
national model.



FOOD, WATER & ENERGY - Activity will be led by the Local Resilience Forum,
liaising with national government as required, ensuring continuation of supplies and
services.



BUSINESS & ECONOMY - Ongoing activity to support GM businesses and raise
awareness of the need to ensure preparations are underway for the changes
resulting from Brexit. Concern has been raised regarding the preparedness of the
SME sector specifically. Growth Company activities to support businesses in their
preparations for Brexit have been increased, and ensuring use of the online Brexit
toolkit. A multi-agency Economic Resilience Taskforce has been established,
bringing together key GM bodies to try to ensure a coherent and comprehensive
package of support as possible is provided to businesses and individuals facing any

Page 110

threat of redundancy should we exit under a no deal scenario or an economic
downturn occurs.


ENGAGEMENT WITH GOVERNMENT - Regular reporting requirements to
Government have reduced since the Brexit extension, information is however being
provided on request. Engagement across working groups, analysis of impact data
released, and direct departmental requests for information and local Brexit planning
information have been undertaken. The Mayor and Deputy Mayor have also written
to BEIS Secretary of State outlining Greater Manchester’s proposed integrated
response package in the event of an economic downturn.



CIVIL CONTINGENCIES - Work has been undertaken to understand possible
impacts on current and future risk scenarios, in both the short and medium terms.
Also, work has been delivered to ensure agencies have in place up to date and
robust business continuity plans. Scenario based planning exercises have taken
place, and the Local Resilience Forum continues to consider possible impacts
arising.



HIGHER EDUCATION SECTOR - Work has been undertaken to understand the
possible impacts on the numbers of EU students and lecturers. Early testing of the
EU settlement scheme was used in the sector and support continues to be provided
to ensure EU citizens apply for settled status. Assurances continue to be sought
from Government for future EU research funding.



ORGANISATIONAL READINESS & IMPACTS – Public sector organisations have
been considering the possible impacts on their own operations arising from Brexit,
including workforce and legal implications. As Brexit day nears, organisations have
expressed concerns regarding potential capacity issues to meet the necessary
reporting requirements and take the appropriate actions required. All districts and
GMCA now have signposting information on their websites to support EU citizens
resident in their area.



DATA - Under a no-deal scenario, the flow and transfer of personal data may be
impacted. Information has been shared with public sector agencies to ensure all are
undertaking the necessary preparations and advice is being passed onto
businesses to ensure they can put in place any necessary mitigating actions

3.0

CONCLUSION

3.1

Preparing for the UK exiting the EU is a challenging process due to the size, scale and
importance of the task within a very short and urgent timescale.

4.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1

See recommendations at the front of this report.

Page 111

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6e
Report to:

EXECUTIVE CABINET

Date:

25 September 2019

Executive Member/Reporting
Officer:

Councillor Oliver Ryan, Executive Member (Finance & Economic
Growth)
Jayne Traverse – Director of Growth

Subject:

SALE OF FORMER HARTSHEAD HIGH SCHOOL SITE, LEES
ROAD, ASHTON UNDER LYNE

Report Summary:

To approve terms agreed to sell the freehold interest in the land.

Recommendations:

That Executive Cabinet be recommended to:
1.

Approve the sale of the land at the former Hartshead High
School, Lees Road, to Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd for the sum of
£9,450,000.

2.

Acknowledge that an additional £174,997.26 is payable as a
s106 receipt.

Policy Implications:

The site has outline planning permission for housing, a further full
detailed application will be required. There is a policy requirement
to provide 15% affordable homes on the site. The Council had
regard to both its duty to achieve best consideration reasonably
obtainable under s123 of the Local Government Act 1972, and its
own Disposal Policy which takes into account s123.

Financial Implications:
(Authorised by the statutory
Section 151 Officer & Chief
Finance Officer)

The receipt from the sale of the former Hartshead School site has
been budgeted and earmarked to be spent on contributing to the
Council’s approved capital programme, and forms a significant
part of the £37m required in total from capital receipts to fund that
programme. Failure to deliver on the sale of this site will result in
either the programme having to be reviewed and schemes of a
low priority being removed, or different assets will have to be
identified to be sold in its place.
The uncertainty around the housing market and outlook for the
economy, alongside the length of time it takes to identify, market
and dispose of sites mean that there would be risks to the
financing of the capital programme if this site were not to be
disposed of.
The receipt of the full consideration on completion of the sale
provides additional comfort to the Council on its ability to finance
its capital programme.
Costs incurred to date are approximately £186k which will need to
be offset against the capital receipt. This will be in addition to
other costs of £75k payable to Sport England and agent fees of
£56k (0.6% of sale proceeds). The net capital receipt will
therefore be approximately £9,133k to contribute to the Capital
Programme. In addition, a s106 agreement which forms part of
the sale should generate £175k which can be used to fund capital
expenditure on Greenspace.

Legal Implications:
(Authorised by the Borough

Members should be satisfied that the process followed to ensure
value for money and compliance with the Council’s duty under
section 123 of the Government Act 1972 has been followed, and

Page 113

Solicitor)

that this is the best consideration it can reasonably achieve in
these particular circumstances. Section 123 says ‘a principal
council may dispose of land held by them in any manner they
wish. Except with the consent of the Secretary of State, a council
shall not dispose of land under this section, otherwise than by
way of a short tenancy, for a consideration less than the best that
can reasonably be obtained.’ The approval to dispose of this
land was agreed in 2006 as part of the BSF programme together
with s77 consent being provided by the Secretary of State for the
playing fields.
The section 123 certification in accordance with the technical note
set out in government guidance and attached herewith at
appendix 1 has been provided and is at Appendix 2.

Risk Management:

Set out in report.

Background Information:

APPENDIX 1 – TECHNICAL GUIDANCE
APPENDIX 2 – S123 CERTIFICATION
Appendix 2 is Not for Publication: as it contains exempt
information relating to paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). On
balance, under paragraph 10 of Part 2 of Schedule 12A, it
would not be in the public interest to disclose this
information to the public because disclosure would, or
would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of the
Council and/or its agents which, in turn, could impact upon
the interests of the local taxpayer.
The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by
contacting Ian Coulson, Senior Estates Manager, Estates Team
Telephone: 0161 342 3419
e-mail: ian.coulson@tameside.gov.uk

Page 114

1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

This site comprises an irregular shaped parcel of vacant land extending to 6.1 hectares
(15.07 acres).

1.2

The land was acquired in 2 conveyances, both from the Trustees of the Will of the 7th Earl
of Stamford & Warrington on 8 November 1938 for the sum of £4,800 and on 19 August
1959 for the sum of £4,596. The second of these transactions included other land. The
titles were eventually vested in TMBC having previously been in the ownership of
Lancashire County Council in 1974.

1.3

The site was most recently occupied by Hartshead School which closed in July 2011 and
was subsequently demolished later within the year. A section 77 consent permitting the
sale of the former school playing fields in accordance with paragraph 1 of the Schedule to
The School Playing Fields General Disposal and Change of Use Consent (No3) 2004, to
proceed was obtained on 10 May 2007.

1.4

The Council appointed Knight Frank to represent the Council as selling agents. The land
was offered for sale on the open market by informal tender via agents Knight Frank in 2017
with offers invited by Friday 19 January 2018. The best offer received was made by Taylor
Wimpey in the sum of £11,950,000 on the basis of two payments being made (50% on
completion and the remaining 50% 12 months later). This was subsequently reduced to
£11,600,000 after it was discovered that a sewerage pipe which ran through the site would
require diverting at a cost of £350,000.

1.5

Outline planning permission was granted in November 2018 to which several conditions
were attached including a requirement to provide affordable homes for 15% of the total
development and an obligation to enter into a section 106 agreement requiring a financial
contribution to be made towards Greenspace in a total sum of £174,997.26. At the time
that the site was initially offered for sale all bidders were advised that the Council had no
requirement for the developer to provide any affordable homes and that there would be no
requirement to enter into a section 106 agreement, as this policy was approved following
the bidding process.

1.6

Knight Frank were instructed to negotiate a revised sale price to reflect the section 106
obligation and a new sum of £9,450,000 was agreed. Knight Frank have confirmed that in
their opinion this reduced price reflects best value in accordance with section 123 of the
Local Government Act 1972 for the land having regard to the increased cost obligations
arising out of the conditions attached to the planning permission (a copy of this confirmation
is appended to this report at Appendix 2). Concerns regarding risk of delivery and a
deferred payment (50% on completion and the remaining 50% 12 months later), resulted in
further negotiations and Taylor Wimpey has agreed to pay 100% of the sale price on
completion.

1.7

Following the negotiation for 100% of the sale price to be paid upon completion, Knight
Frank have provided further confirmation that the unconditional offer represents excellent
market value and recommends to proceed without delay.

Page 115

2.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

2.1

Capital receipt of £9,450,000 to support the Council’s capital programme.

2.2

Under the proposed terms the sale includes a commitment made by the Council to Sport
England to refresh its playing pitch strategy and install all weather practice facilities at
Ladysmith Cricket Club, Ashton the cost of which to be paid for out of the proceeds of sale
estimated to cost approximately £75,000.

2.3

Agents fees 0.6% of the sale price (Approximately £56,000), to be paid out of the proceeds
of the sale.

2.4

£174,997.26 s106 receipt which can be used to fund capital expenditure on Greenspace.

3.

PROPOSAL

3.1

To proceed to complete a sale of the site unconditionally.

4.

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

4.1

Remarket the site which is not a sensible option as the Council are unlikely to receive a
higher offer.

5.

RISK

5.1

There is a risk that the purchaser does not proceed with the development of the land. This
is considered unlikely given the investment already made with regard to the payment of
fees in carrying out site investigation tests, preparation of a further fully detailed planning
application and 100% of the sale price to be paid upon completion.

6.

CONCLUSION

6.1

To proceed with an unconditional sale of the land, subject to planning permission, to the
risk of Taylor Wimpey UK Limited.

6.2

The Council had regard to both its duty to achieve best consideration reasonably obtainable
under s123 of the Local Government Act 1972, and its own Disposal Policy which takes into
account s123.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

As set out at the front of the report.

Page 116

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 117

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 135

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 215

This page is intentionally left blank

